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PART I

 
Item 1.  Business.
 
GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

 
GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc., a Maryland corporation formed on August 31, 2015 (“we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company”), is structured as an

externally managed, non-diversified closed-end management investment company. We were formed to create significant value for our stockholders, and the
entrepreneurs we support, by providing high growth-potential companies with hybrid debt and equity financing that is more flexible than traditional credit and
less dilutive than equity. Our investment objective is to maximize our total return to our stockholders primarily through current income on our loan portfolio,
and secondarily through capital appreciation on our warrants and other equity positions.

 
On December 15, 2016, we filed an election to be regulated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the Investment Company Act of

1940, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the “1940 Act”). We intend to elect to be treated and expect to qualify as a
regulated investment company (“RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), for 2016 and intend to qualify
as a RIC annually thereafter. While we intend to qualify to be treated as a RIC, no assurance can be provided that we will be able to maintain our qualification
as a RIC. For example, we anticipate that we may have difficulty satisfying the asset diversification requirements as we deploy initial capital and build our
portfolio. If we fail to qualify as a RIC for any taxable year, we will be subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on any net taxable income for such
year. See “— Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations” and “Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our financial statements in
Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K. for more information.

 
On December 16, 2016, we completed the initial closing of capital commitments (the “Initial Closing”) in our private offering of shares of common

stock to investors in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and other
applicable securities laws (the “Private Offering”). Prior to December 16, 2016, we had not commenced operations and were a development stage company as
defined by Accounting Standards Codification ASC 915-10-05, “Development Stage Entity.” During this time, we focused substantially all of our efforts on
establishing our business. We expect to operate as a “private” BDC while we invest the proceeds of the Private Offering, after which, if market conditions are
favorable, we plan to give our investors the opportunity to elect to participate in a Spin-Off transaction, as further discussed in “— Investor Optionality;
Potential Spin-Offs”. We are an “emerging growth company” under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, as amended (the “JOBS Act”). For so
long as we remain an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act, we will be subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.
 

Our investment activities are managed by our external investment adviser, GSV Growth Credit LLC (“GSVGC”). GSV Credit Service Company,
LLC (the “Administrator”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSVGC, provides all administrative services necessary for us to operate.
 
About GSVGC
 

GSVGC serves as our investment adviser and is responsible for our overall management and affairs. GSVGC is an investment adviser that has
registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, the “Advisers Act”). For
providing these services, GSVGC receives a fee from us pursuant to an investment advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) consisting of two
components: a base management fee and an incentive fee.
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Base Management Fee
 
The base management fee is payable on the first day of each calendar quarter, calculated based on the average of the amount of capital commitments

and assets purchased with borrowed funds or other forms of leverage (collectively, the “Gross Assets,” which term does not necessarily equate to the amount
of gross assets that could be derived from our financial statements) during the preceding calendar quarter. Until the earlier of (1) the consummation of an
initial public offering (“IPO”) of the Public Fund (defined below under “—Investor Optionality; Potential Spin-Offs”) in connection with a Spin-Off
transaction (defined below under “—Investor Optionality; Potential Spin-Offs”) and (2) the earliest date at which (a) all capital commitments have been
called for investments or expenses and (b) we hold no more than 10.0% of our total assets in cash, the base management fee will be the lesser of (i) an amount
equal to 0.4375% (1.75% annualized) of the average amount of our Gross Assets during the most recently completed calendar quarter and (ii) the actual
operating expenses incurred by GSVGC during such calendar quarter.

 
Following the earlier of (1) the consummation of an IPO of the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction and (2) the earliest date at

which (a) all capital commitments have been called for investments or expenses and (b) we hold no more than 10% of our total assets in cash, the base
management fee will be an amount equal to 0.4375% (1.75% annualized) of the average amount of our Gross Assets during the most recently completed
calendar quarter for so long as the aggregate amount of our Gross Assets as of the end of the most recently completed calendar quarter is less than
$500,000,000. If the aggregate amount of our Gross Assets as of the end of the most recently completed calendar quarter is equal to or greater than
$500,000,000, but less than $1,000,000,000, the base management fee will be an amount equal to 0.40% (1.60% annualized) of the average amount of our
Gross Assets for the most recently completed calendar quarter. If the aggregate amount of our Gross Assets as of the end of the most recently completed
calendar quarter is equal to or greater than $1,000,000,000, the base management fee will be an amount equal to 0.375% (1.50% annualized) of the average
amount of our Gross Assets for the most recently completed calendar quarter.

 
The base management fee will be appropriately prorated for any partial month or quarter.
 
Incentive Fee
 
The incentive fee, which provides GSVGC with a share of the income that GSVGC generates for us, will consist of an investment-income

component and a capital-gains component, which are largely independent of each other, with the result that one component may be payable even if the other
is not.

 
Under the investment-income component, we will pay GSVGC each quarter an incentive fee with respect to our pre-incentive fee net investment

income. The investment-income component will be calculated and payable quarterly in arrears based on the pre-incentive fee net investment income for the
immediately preceding fiscal quarter. Payments based on pre-incentive fee net investment income will be based on the pre-incentive fee net investment
income earned for the quarter. For this purpose, “pre-incentive fee net investment income” means interest income, dividend income and any other income
(including any other fees, such as commitment, origination, structuring, diligence, managerial and consulting fees or other fees we receive from portfolio
companies) we accrue during the fiscal quarter, minus our operating expenses for the quarter (including the base management fee, expenses payable under the
administration agreement with the Administrator (the “Administration Agreement”), and any dividends paid on any issued and outstanding preferred stock,
but excluding the incentive fee); provided however, that pre-incentive fee net investment income will be reduced by multiplying the pre-incentive fee net
investment income earned for the quarter by a fraction, the numerator of which is our total assets minus average daily borrowings for the immediately
preceding fiscal quarter, and the denominator of which is our total assets for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. Pre-incentive fee net investment income
includes, in the case of investments with a deferred interest feature (such as original issue discount, debt instruments with pay in kind interest and zero coupon
securities), accrued income that we have not yet received in cash; provided, however, that the portion of the investment-income component of the incentive
fee attributable to deferred interest features will be paid, only if and to the extent received in cash, and any accrual thereof will be reversed if and to the extent
such interest is reversed in connection with any write off or similar treatment of the investment giving rise to any deferred interest accrual, applied in each
case in the order such interest was accrued. Such subsequent payments in respect of previously accrued income will not reduce the amounts payable for any
quarter pursuant to the calculation of the investment-income component described above. Pre-incentive fee net investment income does not include any
realized capital gains, realized capital losses or unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation.
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Pre-incentive fee net investment income, expressed as a rate of return on the value of our net assets (defined as total assets less liabilities) at the end

of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, will be compared to a “hurdle rate” of 2.0% per quarter (8.0% annualized). We will pay GSVGC an investment-
income incentive fee with respect to our pre-incentive fee net investment income in each calendar quarter as follows: (1) no investment-income incentive fee
in any calendar quarter in which our pre-incentive fee net investment income does not exceed the hurdle rate of 2.0%; (2) 80% of our pre-incentive fee net
investment income with respect to that portion of such pre-incentive fee net investment income, if any, that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 2.667% in
any calendar quarter (10.668% annualized) (the portion of our pre-incentive fee net investment income that exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.667% is
referred to as the “catch-up”; the “catch-up” is meant to provide GSVGC with 20.0% of our pre-incentive fee net investment income as if a hurdle did not
apply if our pre-incentive fee net investment income exceeds 2.667% in any calendar quarter (10.668% annualized)); and (3) 20.0% of the amount of our pre-
incentive fee net investment income, if any, that exceeds 2.667% in any calendar quarter (10.668% annualized) payable to GSVGC (once the hurdle is
reached and the catch-up is achieved, 20.0% of all pre-incentive fee net investment income thereafter is allocated to GSVGC).

 
Until the consummation of an IPO of the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, in the event that the sum of our cumulative net

realized losses since the date of our election to be regulated as a BDC exceeds 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments made by us since the
date of our election to be regulated as a BDC as of the end of the quarter, the investment-income component of the incentive fee will not be payable for such
quarter until the first subsequent quarter in which the sum of our cumulative net realized losses since the date of our election to be regulated as a BDC is less
than 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments made by us since the date of our election to be regulated as a BDC as of the end of such
subsequent quarter; provided, however, that in no event will any investment-income component of the incentive fee be paid for any prior quarter after the
three-year anniversary of the end of such quarter.

 
After the consummation of an IPO of the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, in the event that the sum of our cumulative net

realized losses for the previous four fiscal quarters or, if fewer than four fiscal quarters have passed since such IPO, that number of fiscal quarters since such
IPO (the “Look-Back Period”), exceeds 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments (i) made by us during the Look-Back Period or (ii) transferred
to the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction during the Look-Back Period, the investment-income component of the incentive fee will not be
payable for such quarter until the first subsequent quarter in which the sum of our cumulative net realized losses for the Look-Back Period is less than 2.0%
of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments (i) made by us during the Look-Back Period or (ii) transferred to the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-
Off transaction during the Look-Back Period; provided, however, that in no event will any investment-income component of the incentive fee be paid for any
prior quarter after the three-year anniversary of the end of such quarter.

 
The following is a graphical representation of the calculation of the income-related portion of the incentive fee:

 
Pre-incentive fee net investment income (expressed as a rate of return on the value of our net assets)
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Under the capital-gains component of the incentive fee, we will pay GSVGC as of the end of each calendar year 20.0% of our aggregate cumulative

realized capital gains from the date of our election to be regulated as a BDC through the end of that year, computed net of our aggregate cumulative realized
capital losses and aggregate cumulative unrealized depreciation through the end of such year, less the aggregate amount of any previously paid capital-gains
incentive fee; provided, however, that we will not pay the capital-gains component of the incentive fee to GSVGC for any calendar year in which the sum of
our (i) pre-incentive fee net investment income and (ii) realized gains less realized losses and unrealized capital depreciation from the date of our election to
be regulated as a BDC through the end of such calendar year, expressed as a rate of return on the value of our net assets (defined as total assets less liabilities)
at the end of such calendar year is less than 8.0% until the first subsequent calendar quarter in which the sum of our (i) pre-incentive fee net investment
income and (ii) realized gains less realized losses and unrealized capital depreciation from the date of our election to be regulated as a BDC through, and
including, the end of such subsequent calendar quarter, expressed as a rate of return on the value of our net assets (defined as total assets less liabilities) at the
end of such calendar quarter is equal to or exceeds 8.0%; provided, further, that in no event will any capital-gains component of the incentive fee be paid for
any prior year after the three-year anniversary of the end of such year. For the foregoing purpose, our “aggregate cumulative realized capital gains” will not
include any unrealized appreciation.

 
Spin-Off Incentive Fee
 
In connection with a Spin-Off transaction as described in “— Investor Optionality; Potential Spin-Offs,” we expect that the investment-income

component of the incentive fee will be payable in respect of the exchanged shares of our common stock (the “Spin-Off Income Incentive Fee”). The Spin-Off
Income Incentive Fee will be calculated as of the date of the completion of each Spin-Off transaction and will equal the amount of the investment-income
component of the incentive fee that would be payable to GSVGC if (1) all of our investments were liquidated for their current value, and any unamortized
deferred portfolio investment-related fees would be deemed accelerated, (2) the proceeds from such liquidation were used to pay all of our outstanding
liabilities, and (3) the remainder were distributed to our stockholders and paid as an incentive fee in accordance with the investment-income component of the
incentive fee described above in (1) and (2) for determining the amount of the Spin-Off Income Incentive Fee; provided, however, that in no event will the
Spin-Off Income Incentive Fee (a) include the portion of the investment-income component of incentive fee attributable to deferred interest features of a
particular investment that is not transferred pursuant to a Spin-Off transaction until such time as the deferred interest is received in cash, or (b) exceed 20% of
our pre-incentive fee net investment income accrued for the fiscal quarter as of the date of the completion of the Spin-Off transaction. We will make the Spin-
Off Income Incentive Fee payment in cash on or immediately following the date of the completion of a Spin-Off transaction. After a Spin-Off transaction, all
calculations relating to the incentive fee payable by us will be made without taking into account the exchanged shares of our common stock (or contributions,
distributions or proceeds relating thereto).

 
In connection with a Spin-Off transaction, we expect that the capital-gains component of the incentive fee will be payable in respect of the

exchanged shares of our common stock (the “Spin-Off Capital Gains Incentive Fee,” and together with the Spin-Off Income Incentive Fee, the “Spin-Off
Incentive Fee”). We expect that the Spin-Off Capital Gains Incentive Fee would be calculated as of the date of the completion of a Spin-Off transaction as if
such date were a calendar year-end for purposes of calculating and paying the Spin-Off Capital Gains Incentive Fee.
 

No Spin-Off Incentive Fee will be payable unless, on the date of the completion of a Spin-Off transaction, the sum of our (i) pre-incentive fee net
investment income and (ii) realized capital gains less realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation from the date of our election to be regulated as
a BDC through, and including, the date of the completion of such Spin-Off transaction, is greater than 8% of the cumulative net investments made by us since
our election to be regulated as a BDC.

 
Payment of Our Expenses

 
All professionals of GSVGC, when and to the extent engaged in providing investment advisory and management services to us, and the

compensation and routine overhead expenses of personnel allocable to these services to us, will be provided and paid for by GSVGC and not by us. We will
bear all other out-of-pocket costs and expenses of our operations and transactions, including, without limitation, those relating to:

 
● organization and offering (in an amount of up to $1,000,000, provided that the amount of initial organizational and offering expenses in

excess of $1,000,000 will be paid by GSVGC);
 

● our pro-rata portion of fees and expenses related to a Spin-Off transaction;
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● calculating our net asset value (including the cost and expenses of any independent valuation firm);

 
● fees and expenses payable to third parties, including agents, consultants or other advisers, in connection with monitoring financial and legal

affairs for us and in providing administrative services, monitoring our investments and performing due diligence on our prospective
portfolio companies or otherwise relating to, or associated with, evaluating and making investments;

 
● interest payable on debt, if any, incurred to finance our investments;

 
● sales and purchases of our common stock and other securities;

 
● investment advisory and management fees;

 
● administration fees, if any, payable under the Administration Agreement;

 
● transfer agent and custodial fees;

 
● federal and state registration fees;

 
● all costs of registration and listing our securities on any securities exchange;

 
● U.S. federal, state and local taxes;

 
● independent directors’ fees and expenses;

 
● costs of preparing and filing reports or other documents required by the SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or other

regulators;
 

● costs of any reports, proxy statements or other notices to stockholders, including printing costs;
 

● our allocable portion of any fidelity bond, directors’ and officers’ errors and omissions liability insurance, and any other insurance
premiums;

 
● direct costs and expenses of administration, including printing, mailing, long distance telephone, copying, secretarial and other staff,

independent auditors and outside legal costs; or
 

● and all other expenses incurred by us, our Administrator or GSVGC in connection with administering our business, including payments
under the Administration Agreement based on our allocable portion of our Administrator’s overhead in performing its obligations under the
Administration Agreement, including rent and the allocable portion of the cost of our Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer
and their respective staffs.

 
Duration and Termination
 
Unless terminated earlier as described below, the Advisory Agreement will continue in effect for a period of two years from its effective date of

December 15, 2016. Thereafter, the Advisory Agreement will continue automatically for successive annual periods provided that such continuance is
specifically approved at least annually by (i) (A) the affirmative vote of a majority of our Board of Directors or (B) the affirmative vote of a majority of our
outstanding voting securities, and (ii) the affirmative vote of a majority of our directors who are not “interested persons,” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the
1940 Act, of us, GSVGC or our respective affiliates. The Advisory Agreement automatically terminates in the event of its assignment, as defined in the 1940
Act, and may be terminated, without penalty, upon not more than 60 days’ written notice, by (i) the affirmative vote of a majority of our outstanding voting
securities, (ii) the affirmative vote of a majority of our Board of Directors, including a majority of our directors who are not “interested persons,” as defined in
Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, of us, GSVGC or our respective affiliates, or (iii) GSVGC. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Business and
Structure — GSVGC and our Administrator have the right to resign upon not more than 60 days’ notice, and we may not be able to find a suitable
replacement for either within that time, or at all, resulting in a disruption in our operations that could adversely affect our financial condition, business and
results of operations” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
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The Advisory Agreement provides that, absent criminal conduct, willful misfeasance, bad faith or gross negligence in the performance of its duties

or by reason of the reckless disregard of its duties and obligations under the Advisory Agreement, GSVGC and its professionals and any other person or
entity affiliated with it are entitled to indemnification from us for any damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
amounts reasonably paid in settlement) arising from the rendering of GSVGC’s services under the Advisory Agreement or otherwise as our investment
adviser.

 
Investment Committee
 
GSVGC’s investment committee (the “Investment Committee”) consists of R. David Spreng, who is its chairman and our President, Chief Executive

Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors, Thomas B. Raterman, our Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary, Matthew Hanson, Head of
Origination at GSVGC, Brian Laibow, OCM Growth Holdings, LLC’s appointee, and Michael Moe, Chief Executive Officer, President and Chief Investment
Officer of GSV Asset Management, LLC (“GSV Asset Management”), a leading growth-investment manager and the investment adviser to GSV Capital
Corp. (“GSV Capital”), a publicly traded BDC, and Chief Executive Officer of GSV Capital. The Investment Committee will meet regularly to consider our
investments, review our strategic initiatives and supervise the actions taken by GSVGC on our behalf. In addition, the Investment Committee will review and
monitor the performance of our investment portfolio. Each investment must be approved by a majority of the Investment Committee. In addition, Mr. Spreng,
as chairman of the Investment Committee, has the right to veto the approval of any investment, and any investment by us that is outside of certain agreed
upon investment criteria requires the affirmative vote of OCM Growth Holdings, LLC’s appointee to the Investment Committee. See “ – Oaktree Strategic
Relationship” below for more information.

 
Board Approval of the Advisory Agreement

 
On November 29, 2016, at an in-person meeting, our Board of Directors, including a majority of the directors who were not “interested persons,” as

defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, of the Company or GSVGC, approved the Advisory Agreement for an initial term of two years. The Advisory
Agreement became effective on December 15, 2016.

 
In its consideration of the approval of the Advisory Agreement, our Board of Directors focused on information it had received relating to, among

other things:
 

· the nature, quality and extent of the advisory and other services to be provided to us by GSVGC over the term of the Advisory Agreement;
 

· comparative data with respect to advisory fees or similar expenses paid by other BDCs with similar investment objectives;
 

· our projected operating expenses and expense ratio compared to BDCs with similar investment objectives, including expenses related to
investment due diligence, travel and investigating and monitoring investments;

 
· any existing and potential sources of indirect income to GSVGC or the Administrator from their relationships with us and the profitability

of those relationships, including the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement;
 

· information about the services to be performed and the personnel performing such services under the Advisory Agreement;
 

 6  



 

 
· the organizational capability and financial condition of GSVGC and its affiliates;

 
· GSVGC’s practices regarding the selection and compensation of brokers that may execute our portfolio transactions and the brokers’

provision of brokerage and research services to GSVGC; and
 

· the possibility of obtaining similar services from other third-party service providers or through an internally managed structure.
 

Based on the information reviewed and related discussions, our Board of Directors concluded that fees payable to GSVGC pursuant to the Advisory
Agreement were reasonable in relation to the services to be provided. Our Board of Directors did not assign relative weights to the above factors or the other
factors considered by it. In addition, our Board of Directors did not reach any specific conclusion on each factor considered, but conducted an overall analysis
of these factors. Individual members of the Board of Directors may have given different weights to different factors.

 
About Our Administrator
 

We have entered into the Administration Agreement with our Administrator, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSVGC, pursuant to which our
Administrator is responsible for furnishing us with office facilities and equipment and provides us with clerical, bookkeeping, recordkeeping and other
administrative services at such facilities. Pursuant to the Administration Agreement, we pay our Administrator an amount equal to our allocable portion
(subject to the review of our Board of Directors) of our Administrator’s overhead resulting from its obligations under the Administration Agreement,
including rent and the allocable portion of the cost of our Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer and their respective staffs associated with
performing compliance functions. Pursuant to the terms of the Administration Agreement, the amounts payable to the Administrator from us in any fiscal year
will not exceed the greater of (i) 0.75% of the aggregate capital commitments as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year and (ii) $1 million. See
“Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Business and Structure — There are significant potential conflicts of interest which could impact our investment
returns” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for more information.

 
Oaktree Strategic Relationship
 

In December 2016, GSVGC entered into a strategic relationship with Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. (“Oaktree”). Oaktree is a leading global
alternative investment management firm with expertise in credit strategies. The firm was formed in 1995 by a group of individuals who had been investing
together since the mid-1980s in high yield bonds, convertible securities, distressed debt, real estate, control investments and listed equities. As of December
31, 2016, Oaktree comprises over 900 employees in Los Angeles (headquarters), New York, Stamford, Houston, London, Paris, Frankfurt, Dubai, Hong
Kong, Tokyo, Singapore, Seoul, Beijing, Shanghai and Sydney. Oaktree has 35 portfolio managers with average experience of 23 years and over 810 years of
combined investment experience.

 
In connection with the strategic relationship, OCM Growth Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“OCM”) managed by Oaktree,

made a $125 million capital commitment to us (the “OCM Commitment”). OCM has granted a proxy to us pursuant to which the shares held by OCM will be
voted in the same manner as our other stockholders vote their shares.

 
In connection with the OCM Commitment, we entered into a stockholder agreement, dated December 15, 2016 (the “Stockholder Agreement”), with

OCM pursuant to which OCM has a right to nominate a member of our Board of Directors for election. Brian Laibow was appointed to our Board of
Directors, effective January 25, 2017, as OCM’s representative. OCM also holds an interest in GSVGC and has the right to appoint a member of GSVGC’s
board of managers and a member of the Investment Committee. OCM’s initial appointee to GSVGC’s board of managers and Investment Committee is Brian
Laibow.
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We believe that our strategic relationship with Oaktree will provide us with access to additional resources and investment opportunities by expanding

our network of relationships with venture backed companies. GSVGC expects to continue to draw upon Oaktree’s over 20-year history in the investment
management business and to continue to benefit from Oaktree’s investment professionals’ significant credit expertise developed through investments
in different industries and over numerous companies in the United States. In addition, we expect to utilize Oaktree’s relationships to gain better access to
leverage facilities with better terms and provisions than we would otherwise be able to obtain. GSVGC also expects to be able to add additional origination
personnel as a result of the strategic relationship with Oaktree.

 
Investor Optionality; Potential Spin-Offs
 

At any time after the third anniversary of the Initial Closing we will offer our stockholders the option to elect to either (i) retain their ownership of
shares of our common stock; (ii) exchange their shares of our common stock for shares of common stock in a newly formed entity (the “Public Fund”) that
will elect to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act and treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code, and will use its commercially reasonable best
efforts to complete an IPO of shares of its common stock not later than three years after the final closing of the Private Offering, which closing will occur no
later than December 31, 2017; or (iii) exchange their shares of our common stock for interests of one or more newly formed entities (each, a “Liquidating
Fund”) that will each be organized as a limited liability company, and which will, among other things, seek to complete an orderly wind down and/or
liquidation of any such Liquidating Fund; provided, however, in no event will a stockholder be obligated to exchange his, her or its shares of our common
stock for shares of common stock in the Public Fund or interests in a Liquidating Fund. Thereafter, subject to the requisite corporate and regulatory approvals,
we will offer investors the option to elect to exchange their shares of our common stock for interests of a Liquidating Fund on an annual basis. In order to
effectuate these options, we expect that we would need to, among other things, transfer to the Public Fund and the Liquidating Funds, in exchange for newly
issued shares of the Public Fund and interests of the Liquidating Funds, respectively, a pro rata portion of our assets and liabilities attributable to the investors
that have elected to invest in the Public Fund or Liquidating Funds, respectively (such transfer of assets and liabilities and the mechanics relating thereto are
referred to herein as a “Spin-Off transaction”). Each Liquidating Fund and the Public Fund will have management fees and incentive fees equal to or less than
those of the Company.

 
We may exclude any stockholder from participating in a Spin-Off transaction if, in our reasonable discretion, there is a substantial likelihood that

such stockholder’s exchange of shares of our common stock at such time would cause us, the Public Fund or a Liquidating Fund to (i) be in violation of, or
noncompliance with, any law or regulation to which such entity is or would be subject or (ii) be deemed to hold “plan assets” under the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) or Section 4975 of the Code because the investments of “benefit plan investors” (within the meaning of
Section 3(42) of ERISA and certain Department of Labor (“DOL”) regulations (such investors referred to herein as “Benefit Plan Investors”)) are deemed to
be significant.

 
Because GSVGC would be managing each of us, the Public Fund and any Liquidating Fund in connection with any Spin-Off transaction, and the

1940 Act prohibits entities under common control from engaging in certain transactions, we will likely be required to obtain exemptive and/or no-action relief
from the SEC to permit us to transfer assets to a Public Fund and/or a Liquidating Fund, as well as with respect to other aspects relating to the Spin-Off
transaction, including the calculation of incentive fee to be paid by us in connection with a Spin-Off transaction. There can be no assurance that we will be
able to obtain such exemptive and/or no-action relief from the SEC. If we are unable to do so, then we will continue our operations in the manner otherwise
set forth in this annual report on Form 10-K and our public filings with the SEC.
 

 8  



 

 
Investment Strategy and Approach

 
We intend to typically invest in what we believe to be high growth-potential, private companies. We intend to primarily originate our own

investments in the debt and, to a lesser extent, equity of our portfolio companies and utilize a multi-strategy approach to providing growth capital to these
companies. The types of loans in which we intend to typically invest are senior secured and second lien secured loans, which generally fall into two strategies:
Sponsored Growth Lending and Non-Sponsored Growth Lending.
 

Sponsored Growth Lending. We anticipate that our Sponsored Growth Lending will include loans to companies that are already backed by
established venture capital and private equity firms. We also anticipate that our Sponsored Growth Lending will typically include the receipt of warrants
and/or other equity from the venture-backed companies. We refer to these target borrowers as “venture-backed companies.” We target venture-backed
companies at all stages of development, with a bias towards later-stage, including those that are pre-revenue. To a limited extent, we also intend to selectively
lend to publicly traded companies with venture capital ownership. We focus on lending to companies focused in technology, life sciences, business services
and other high growth industries. We believe that the Sponsored Growth Lending strategy we follow is particularly attractive because the loans have high
yields and additional equity upside. Investors may receive significant current income while gaining access to equity upside in companies that are often backed
by the nation’s top-tier venture capital investors. We believe our Sponsored Growth Lending strategy typically:

 
● provides us access to many high-quality companies backed by top-tier investors;
 
● delivers consistent returns through double-digit loan yields; and
 
● participates in equity upside via warrants.

 
Non-Sponsored Growth Lending. We anticipate that our Non-Sponsored Growth Lending will include loans to fast-growing private companies that

are not backed by a professional equity investor sponsor, a venture capital firm or a private equity firm. We refer to these target borrowers as “non-sponsored
growth companies.” As opposed to Sponsored Growth Lending, in the case of Non-Sponsored Growth Lending, we generally intend to target companies with
annual revenue of at least $20 million per year. To a limited extent, we also selectively provide non-sponsored growth loans to publicly traded companies.
 

We believe that our multi-strategy lending approach significantly reduces the volatility inherent in financing emerging-growth companies.
 
We believe the following attributes, which we expect to be included in most of the loans of our investment strategies, present an attractive risk

profile:
 

● meaningful amortization over the life of each loan and short to medium loan term;
 
● a low ratio of leverage to enterprise value; and
 
● a secured collateral position.

 
We believe there are significant barriers to entry in providing sponsored growth lending and non-sponsored growth lending, which results in an

environment with a limited number of competitors. In particular, we believe we will be able to capitalize on the following crucial elements for success in the
private growth company lending market:

 
● relationships with top-tier venture investors, growth company entrepreneurs, and other deal referral sources;
 
● reputation as a reliable, supportive, and value-added partner;
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● ability to accurately determine credit risk and gauge warrant potential; and
 
● experience in the unique aspects of growth company debt pricing, structure, portfolio construction and management.

 
The above attributes are not easily acquired and take years to establish. We believe GSVGC’s experienced, disciplined, and cohesive investment

team possesses these necessary capabilities.
 
In addition to our core strategy of providing sponsored growth lending and non-sponsored growth lending, we may also opportunistically participate

in the secondary markets for sponsored growth lending and non-sponsored growth lending.
 
Typical attributes of our Sponsored Growth Lending and Non-Sponsored Growth Lending are as follows:

 
● loan-size ranges from $3 million to $15 million;
 
● short total repayment periods: typically 36 to 60 months or less;
 
● may provide for interest only or moderate loan amortization in the early period of the loan;
 
● unlevered yield-to-maturity (i.e., the total return anticipated on a debt investment if it is held until maturity) generally ranging from 10% to

15%, which may include current interest payments, upfront and facility fees, an end-of-term payment and/or a payment-in-kind (“PIK”)
interest payment;

 
● warrants to acquire preferred or common stock in the prospective borrower that allow us to participate in any equity appreciation and

enhance our overall returns;
 
● senior secured lien on the borrower’s assets, including a pledge on or a promise by the borrower to not pledge the borrower’s intellectual

property to another individual or lender; and
 
● limited and/or flexible covenant structures and, with certain affirmative and negative covenants, default penalties, lien protection, investor

abandonment provisions, material adverse change provisions, change-of-control provisions, restrictions on additional use of leverage, and
reimbursement for upfront and regular internal and third-party expenses and prepayment penalties.

 
Competition

 
Our primary competitors for investments include public and private funds, other BDCs, commercial and investment banks, commercial financing

companies and, to the extent they provide an alternative form of financing, private equity and hedge funds. Many of our competitors are substantially larger
and have considerably greater financial, technical and marketing resources than we do. For example, we believe some competitors may have access to
funding sources that are not available to us. In addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could
allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and establish more relationships than us. Furthermore, many of our competitors are not subject to the
regulatory restrictions that the 1940 Act imposes on us as a BDC or to the distribution and other requirements we must satisfy to qualify and maintain our
qualification as a RIC.

 
We use the expertise of the Investment Committee, to which we have access, to assess investment risks and determine appropriate pricing for our

investments in portfolio companies. In addition, we expect that the relationships of GSVGC’s senior investment professionals will enable us to learn about,
and compete effectively for, financing opportunities with attractive companies in the industries in which we seek to invest. For additional information
concerning the competitive risks we face, see “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Structure — We may face increasing competition for
investment opportunities” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
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Managerial Assistance

 
As a BDC, we will offer, and must provide upon request, managerial assistance to our portfolio companies. This assistance could involve, among

other things, monitoring the operations of our portfolio companies, participating in board and management meetings, consulting with and advising officers of
portfolio companies and providing other organizational and financial guidance. We may also receive fees for these services. GSVGC will provide, or arrange
for the provision of, such managerial assistance on our behalf to portfolio companies that request this assistance, subject to reimbursement of any fees or
expenses incurred on our behalf by GSVGC in accordance with our Advisory Agreement.
 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan
 

We have adopted a dividend reinvestment plan that provides for reinvestment of our dividends and other distributions on behalf of our stockholders,
unless a stockholder elects to receive cash as provided below. As a result of adopting such a plan, if our Board of Directors authorizes, and we declare, a cash
dividend or distribution, our stockholders who have not opted out of our dividend reinvestment plan will have their cash dividends or distributions
automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock, rather than receiving cash.

 
No action will be required on the part of a registered stockholder to have his or her cash dividends and distributions reinvested in shares of our

common stock. A registered stockholder could instead elect to receive a dividend or distribution in cash by notifying GSVGC in writing, so that such notice is
received by GSVGC no later than ten days prior to the record date for distributions to the stockholders. GSVGC will set up an account for shares of our
common stock acquired through the plan for each stockholder who does not elect to receive dividends and distributions in cash and hold such shares in non-
certificated form. Those stockholders whose shares are held by a broker or other financial intermediary could receive dividends and distributions in cash by
notifying their broker or other financial intermediary of their election.

 
Stockholders who receive dividends and distributions in the form of stock are generally subject to the same U.S. federal, state and local tax

consequences as are stockholders who elect to receive their dividends and distributions in cash. However, since a participating stockholder’s cash dividends
and distributions will be reinvested in our common stock, such stockholder will not receive cash with which to pay applicable taxes on reinvested dividends
and distributions. A stockholder’s basis for determining gain or loss upon the sale of stock received in a dividend or distribution from us will generally be
equal to the cash that would have been received if the stockholder had received the dividend or distribution in cash, unless we were to issue new shares that
are trading at or above net asset value, in which case, the stockholder’s basis in the new shares will generally be equal to their fair market value. Any stock
received in a dividend or distribution will have a new holding period for tax purposes commencing on the day following the day on which the shares are
credited to the U.S. stockholder’s account.
 
Staffing
 

We do not currently have any employees. David Spreng, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors, is also the
founder, President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer of GSVGC. Thomas B. Raterman, our Chief Financial Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer of GSVGC, also serves on the board of directors of GSV Financial Group LLC, the parent of GSV Equity LLC, which manages the day-to-
day operations of GSV Ventures LLC, a specialized venture firm that leads or co-invests in mid- and late-stage financing for pre-IPO companies alongside
well-known venture capital groups. Our Chief Financial Officer performs his functions for us under the terms of our Administration Agreement. We have also
retained Carl Rizzo of Alaric Compliance Services LLC to serve as our Chief Compliance Officer pursuant to an agreement with Alaric Compliance Services
LLC.

 
Our day-to-day investment and administrative operations are managed by GSVGC and our Administrator. The Investment Committee is supported

by a team of additional experienced investment professionals. GSVGC and our Administrator may hire additional investment and administrative professionals
in the future to provide services to us, based upon our needs.
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In addition, we reimburse the Administrator for its costs and expenses and our allocable portion of overhead incurred by it in performing its

obligations under the Administration Agreement, including compensation paid to or compensatory distributions received by our officers (including our Chief
Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer) and any of their respective staff who provide services to us, operations staff who provide services to us, and
any internal audit staff, to the extent internal audit performs a role in our internal control assessment under Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the
“Sarbanes-Oxley Act”).

 
Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations
 

The following discussion is a general summary of the material U.S. federal income tax considerations applicable to us and to an investment in shares
of our common stock. This discussion is based on the provisions of the Code and the regulations of the U.S. Department of Treasury promulgated thereunder,
or “Treasury regulations,” each as in effect as of the date of this Form 10-K.

 
These provisions are subject to differing interpretations and change by legislative or administrative action, and any change may be retroactive. This

discussion does not constitute a detailed explanation of all U.S. federal income tax aspects affecting us and our stockholders and does not purport to deal with
the U.S. federal income tax consequences that may be important to particular stockholders in light of their individual investment circumstances or to some
types of stockholders subject to special tax rules, such as financial institutions, broker dealers, insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, partnerships
or other pass-through entities, persons holding our common stock in connection with a hedging, straddle, conversion or other integrated transaction, non-U.S.
stockholders (as defined below) engaged in a trade or business in the United States, persons who have ceased to be U.S. citizens or to be taxed as resident
aliens or individual non-U.S. stockholders present in the United States for 183 days or more during a taxable year. This discussion also does not address any
aspects of U.S. estate or gift tax or foreign, state or local tax. This discussion assumes that our stockholders hold their shares of our common stock as capital
assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes (generally, assets held for investment). No ruling has been or will be sought from the Internal Revenue Service
(the “IRS”) regarding any matter discussed herein.

 
A “U.S. stockholder” is a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:
 

● an individual who is a citizen or resident of the United States;
 
● a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States, any state therein or the District of Columbia;
 
● an estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or
 
● a trust if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary jurisdiction over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S.

persons have authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.
 
A “non-U.S. stockholder” means a beneficial owner of shares of our common stock that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes:
 

● a nonresident alien individual;
 
● a foreign corporation; or
 
● a foreign estate or trust.

 
If a partnership or other entity classified as a partnership, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, holds our shares, the U.S. tax treatment of the

partnership and each partner generally will depend on the status of the partner, the activities of the partnership and certain determinations made at the partner
level. A partnership considering an investment in our common stock should consult its own tax advisers regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences
of the acquisition, ownership and disposition of shares by the partnership.
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Taxation of the Company

 
We intend to elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code for 2016 and intend to qualify for treatment as a RIC annually thereafter.

As a RIC, we generally will not pay corporate-level federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that we timely distribute to our stockholders
as dividends.

 
To qualify as a RIC, we must, among other things:
 

● derive in each taxable year at least 90% of our gross income from dividends, interest, payments with respect to certain securities loans,
gains from the sale or other disposition of stock, securities or foreign currencies, other income derived with respect to our business of
investing in stock, securities or currencies, or net income derived from an interest in a “qualified publicly traded partnership,” or “QPTP,”
hereinafter the “90% Gross Income Test;” and

 
● diversify our holdings so that, at the end of each quarter of each taxable year:

 
○ at least 50% of the value of our total assets is represented by cash and cash items, U.S. Government securities, the securities of

other RICs and other securities, with other securities limited, in respect of any one issuer, to an amount not greater than 5% of the
value of our total assets and not more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of such issuer, and

 
○ not more than 25% of the value of our total assets is invested in the securities of any issuer (other than U.S. Government securities

and the securities of other RICs), the securities of any two or more issuers that we control and that are determined to be engaged in
the same business or similar or related trades or businesses, or the securities of one or more QPTPs, or the “Diversification Tests.”

 
In the case of a RIC that furnishes capital to development corporations, there is an exception relating to the Diversification Tests described above.

This exception is available only to RICs which the SEC determines to be principally engaged in the furnishing of capital to other corporations which are
principally engaged in the development or exploitation of inventions, technological improvements, new processes, or products not previously generally
available (“SEC Certification”). We have not sought SEC Certification, but it is possible that we will seek SEC Certification in future years. If we receive
SEC Certification, we generally will be entitled to include, in the computation of the 50% value of our assets (described above), the value of any securities of
an issuer, whether or not we own more than 10% of the outstanding voting securities of the issuer, if the basis of the securities, when added to our basis of any
other securities of the issuer that we own, does not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets.

 
As a RIC, we (but not our stockholders) are generally not subject to U.S. federal income tax on investment company taxable income and net capital

gains that we distribute to our stockholders in any taxable year with respect to which we distribute an amount equal to at least 90% of the sum of our (i)
investment company taxable income (which includes, among other items, dividends, interest and the excess of any net realized short-term capital gains over
net realized long-term capital losses and other taxable income (other than any net capital gain), reduced by deductible expenses) determined without regard to
the deduction for dividends and distributions paid and (ii) net tax-exempt interest income (which is the excess of our gross tax-exempt interest income over
certain disallowed deductions), or the “Annual Distribution Requirement.” We intend to distribute annually all or substantially all of such income. Generally,
if we fail to meet this Annual Distribution Requirement for any taxable year, we will fail to qualify as a RIC for such taxable year. To the extent we meet the
Annual Distribution Requirement for a taxable year, but retain our net capital gains for investment or any investment company taxable income, we are subject
to U.S. federal income tax on such retained capital gains and investment company taxable income. We may choose to retain our net capital gains for
investment or any investment company taxable income, and pay the associated federal corporate income tax, including the 4% U.S. federal excise tax
described below.
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We are subject to a nondeductible 4% U.S. federal excise tax on certain of our undistributed income, unless we timely distribute (or are deemed to

have timely distributed) an amount equal to the sum of:
 

● at least 98% of our ordinary income (not taking into account any capital gains or losses) for the calendar year;
 
● at least 98.2% of the amount by which our capital gains exceed our capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for a one-year period

generally ending on October 31 of the calendar year (unless an election is made by us to use our taxable year); and
 
● certain undistributed amounts from previous years on which we paid no U.S. federal income tax.

 
While we intend to distribute any income and capital gains in order to avoid imposition of this 4% U.S. federal excise tax, we may not be successful

in avoiding entirely the imposition of this tax. In that case, we will be liable for the tax only on the amount by which we do not meet the foregoing
distribution requirement.

 
We are authorized to borrow funds and to sell assets in order to satisfy distribution requirements. However, under the 1940 Act, we are not permitted

to make distributions to our stockholders while any senior securities are outstanding unless we meet the applicable asset coverage ratios. See “—Regulation
as a Business Development Company — Senior Securities.” Moreover, our ability to dispose of assets to meet our distribution requirements may be limited
by (1) the illiquid nature of our portfolio and/or (2) other requirements relating to our status as a RIC, including the Diversification Tests. If we dispose of
assets in order to meet the Annual Distribution Requirement or to avoid the 4% U.S. federal excise tax, we may make such dispositions at times that, from an
investment standpoint, are not advantageous.

 
A RIC is limited in its ability to deduct expenses in excess of its “investment company taxable income” (which is, generally, ordinary income plus

the excess of net short-term capital gains over net long-term capital losses). If our expenses in a given year exceed investment company taxable income, we
would experience a net operating loss for that year. However, a RIC is not permitted to carry forward net operating losses to subsequent years. In addition,
expenses can be used only to offset investment company taxable income, not net capital gain. Due to these limits on the deductibility of expenses, we may, for
tax purposes, have aggregate taxable income for several years that we are required to distribute and that is taxable to our stockholders even if such income is
greater than the aggregate net income we actually earned during those years. Such required distributions may be made from our cash assets or by liquidation
of investments, if necessary. We may realize gains or losses from such liquidations. In the event we realize net capital gains from such transactions,
stockholders may receive a larger capital gain distribution than they would have received in the absence of such transactions.
 
Failure to Qualify as a RIC

  
While we intend to elect, and expect to qualify, to be treated as a RIC for 2016 and intend to qualify to be treated as a RIC annually thereafter, no

assurance can be provided that we will qualify as a RIC for any taxable year. For example, we anticipate that we may have difficulty satisfying the
Diversification Tests as we deploy initial capital and build our portfolio. In addition, we may have difficulty satisfying the diversification requirements after
the consummation of the initial Spin-Off transaction if we decide to liquidate our portfolio since we will not be making additional investments. While we
generally will not lose our status as a RIC as long as we do not acquire any non-qualifying securities or other property, under certain circumstances we may
be deemed to have made an acquisition of non-qualifying securities or other property. If we have previously qualified as a RIC, but were subsequently unable
to qualify for treatment as a RIC, and certain amelioration provisions are not applicable, we would be subject to tax on all of our taxable income (including
our net capital gains) at regular corporate rates. We would not be able to deduct distributions to stockholders, nor would they be required to be made.
Distributions, including distributions of net long-term capital gain, would generally be taxable to our stockholders as ordinary dividend income to the extent
of our current and accumulated earnings and profits. Subject to certain limitations under the Code, corporate stockholders would be eligible to claim a
dividend received deduction with respect to such dividend; non-corporate stockholders would generally be able to treat such dividends as “qualified dividend
income,” which is subject to reduced rates of U.S. federal income tax. Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits would be
treated first as a return of capital to the extent of the stockholder’s tax basis, and any remaining distributions would be treated as a capital gain. In order to
requalify as a RIC, in addition to the other requirements discussed above, we would be required to distribute all of our previously undistributed earnings
attributable to the period we failed to qualify as a RIC by the end of the first year that we intend to requalify as a RIC. If we fail to requalify as a RIC for a
period greater than two taxable years, we may be subject to regular corporate tax on any net built-in gains with respect to certain of our assets (i.e., the excess
of the aggregate gains, including items of income, over aggregate losses that would have been realized with respect to such assets if we had been liquidated)
that we elect to recognize on requalification or when recognized over the next five years.
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The remainder of this discussion assumes that we qualify as a RIC for each taxable year.
 

Company Investments
 
Certain of our investment practices are subject to special and complex U.S. federal income tax provisions that may, among other things, (i) disallow,

suspend or otherwise limit the allowance of certain losses or deductions, including the dividends received deduction, (ii) convert lower taxed long-term
capital gains and qualified dividend income into higher taxed short-term capital gains or ordinary income, (iii) convert ordinary loss or a deduction into
capital loss (the deductibility of which is more limited), (iv) cause us to recognize income or gain without a corresponding receipt of cash, (v) adversely affect
the time as to when a purchase or sale of stock or securities is deemed to occur, (vi) adversely alter the characterization of certain complex financial
transactions and (vii) produce income that will not qualify as good income for purposes of the 90% Gross Income Test. We monitor our transactions and may
make certain tax elections and may be required to borrow money or dispose of securities to mitigate the effect of these rules and to prevent disqualification of
us as a RIC but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in this regard.

 
Debt Instruments. In certain circumstances, we may be required to recognize taxable income prior to the time at which we receive cash. For example,

if we hold debt instruments that are treated under applicable tax rules as having original issue discount (such as debt instruments with an end-of-term payment
and/or PIK interest payment or, in certain cases, increasing interest rates or issued with warrants), we must include in taxable income each year a portion of
the original issue discount that accrues over the life of the obligation, regardless of whether cash representing such income is received by us in the same
taxable year. Because any original issue discount accrued will be included in our investment company taxable income for the year of accrual, we may be
required to make a distribution to our stockholders in order to satisfy the Annual Distribution Requirement and to avoid the 4% U.S. federal excise tax, even
though we will not have received any corresponding cash amount.

 
Warrants. Gain or loss realized by us from the sale or exchange of warrants acquired by us as well as any loss attributable to the lapse of such

warrants generally are treated as capital gain or loss. The treatment of such gain or loss as long-term or short-term generally depends on how long we held a
particular warrant and on the nature of the disposition transaction.

 
Foreign Investments. In the event we invest in foreign securities, we may be subject to withholding and other foreign taxes with respect to those

securities. We do not expect to satisfy the requirement to pass through to our stockholders their share of the foreign taxes paid by us.
 
Passive Foreign Investment Companies. We may invest in the stock of a foreign corporation which is classified as a “passive foreign investment

company” (within the meaning of Section 1297 of the Code), or “PFIC.” In general, unless a special tax election has been made, we are required to pay tax at
ordinary income rates on any gains and “excess distributions” with respect to PFIC stock as if such items had been realized ratably over the period during
which we held the PFIC stock, plus an interest charge. Certain adverse tax consequences of a PFIC investment may be limited if we are eligible to elect
alternative tax treatment with respect to such investment. No assurances can be given that any such election will be available or that, if available, we will
make such an election.

 
Foreign Currency Transactions. Under the Code, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations in exchange rates which occur between the time we

accrue income or other receivables or accrue expenses or other liabilities denominated in a foreign currency and the time we actually collect such receivables
or pay such liabilities generally are treated as ordinary income or loss. Similarly, on disposition of debt instruments and certain other instruments denominated
in a foreign currency, gains or losses attributable to fluctuations if the value of the foreign currency between the date of acquisition of the instrument and the
date of disposition also are treated as ordinary gain or loss. These currency fluctuations related gains and losses may increase or decrease the amount of our
investment company taxable income to be distributed to our stockholders as ordinary income.
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Regulation as a Business Development Company
 
General
 

We have elected to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. A BDC must be organized in the United States for the purpose of investing in or
lending to primarily private companies and making significant managerial assistance available to them. A BDC may use capital provided by stockholders and
from other sources to make long-term, private investments in businesses. A BDC provides stockholders the ability to retain the liquidity of a publicly traded
stock while sharing in the possible benefits, if any, of investing in primarily privately owned companies.

 
We may not change the nature of our business so as to cease to be, or withdraw our election as, a BDC unless authorized by vote of a majority of the

outstanding voting securities, as required by the 1940 Act. A majority of the outstanding voting securities of a company is defined under the 1940 Act as the
lesser of: (a) 67% or more of such company’s voting securities present at a meeting if more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such company are
present or represented by proxy, or (b) more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities of such company. We do not anticipate any substantial change in
the nature of our business.

 
As with other companies regulated by the 1940 Act, a BDC must adhere to certain substantive regulatory requirements. A majority of our directors

must be persons who are not interested persons, as that term is defined in the 1940 Act. Additionally, we are required to provide and maintain a bond issued
by a reputable fidelity insurance company to protect the BDC. Furthermore, as a BDC, we are prohibited from protecting any director or officer against any
liability to us or our stockholders arising from willful misfeasance, bad faith, gross negligence or reckless disregard of the duties involved in the conduct of
such person’s office.

 
As a BDC, we are generally required to meet an asset coverage ratio, defined under the 1940 Act as the ratio of our gross assets (less all liabilities

and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) to our outstanding senior securities, of at least 200% after each issuance of senior securities. We may
also be prohibited under the 1940 Act from knowingly participating in certain transactions with our affiliates without the prior approval of our directors who
are not “interested persons,” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, of us, GSVGC or our respective affiliates and, in some cases, prior approval by
the SEC.

 
We do not intend to acquire securities issued by any investment company that exceed the limits imposed by the 1940 Act. Under these limits, except

for registered money market funds, we generally cannot acquire more than 3% of the voting stock of any investment company, invest more than 5% of the
value of our total assets in the securities of one investment company or invest more than 10% of the value of our total assets in the securities of investment
companies in the aggregate. The portion of our portfolio invested in securities issued by investment companies ordinarily will subject our stockholders to
additional indirect expenses. Our investment portfolio is also subject to diversification requirements by virtue of our intent to elect to be treated as a RIC for
U.S. tax purposes and our intention to continue to operate in a manner so as to qualify for the tax treatment applicable to RICs. See “Risk Factors — Risks
Related to Our Business and Structure” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for more information.

 
We are generally not able to issue and sell our common stock at a price below net asset value per share. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our

Business and Structure — Regulations governing our operation as a BDC affect our ability to raise additional capital and the way in which we do so. As a
BDC, the necessity of raising additional capital may expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form
10-K. We may, however, sell our common stock, or warrants, options or rights to acquire our common stock, at a price below the then-current net asset value
of our common stock if our Board of Directors determines that such sale is in our best interests and the best interests of our stockholders, and our stockholders
approve such sale. In addition, we may generally issue new shares of our common stock at a price below net asset value in rights offerings to existing
stockholders, in payment of dividends and in certain other limited circumstances.
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As a BDC, we are generally limited in our ability to invest in any portfolio company in which GSVGC or any of its affiliates currently has an

investment or to make any co-investments with our investment adviser or its affiliates without an exemptive order from the SEC, subject to certain
exceptions.

 
We are subject to periodic examination by the SEC for compliance with the 1940 Act.
 
As a BDC, we are subject to certain risks and uncertainties. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Structure” in Part I, Item 1A of

this Form 10-K.
 

Qualifying Assets
 

Under the 1940 Act, a BDC may not acquire any asset other than assets of the type listed in Section 55(a) of the 1940 Act, which are referred to as
qualifying assets, unless, at the time the acquisition is made, qualifying assets represent at least 70% of the BDC’s gross assets. The principal categories of
qualifying assets relevant to our business are the following:

 
 (1) Securities purchased in transactions not involving any public offering from the issuer of such securities, which issuer (subject to certain

limited exceptions) is an eligible portfolio company, or from any person who is, or has been during the preceding 13 months, an affiliated
person of an eligible portfolio company, or from any other person, subject to such rules as may be prescribed by the SEC. An eligible
portfolio company is defined in the 1940 Act as any issuer which:

 
 (a) is organized under the laws of, and has its principal place of business in, the United States;

 
 (b) is not an investment company (other than a small business investment company wholly owned by the BDC) or a company that

would be an investment company but for certain exclusions under the 1940 Act; and
 

 (c) satisfies any of the following:
 

 (i) does not have any class of securities that is traded on a national securities exchange;
 

 (ii) has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange, but has an aggregate market value of outstanding voting and
non-voting common equity of less than $250 million;

 
 (iii) is controlled by a BDC or a group of companies including a BDC and the BDC has an affiliated person who is a director of the

eligible portfolio company; or
 

 (iv) is a small and solvent company having gross assets of not more than $4.0 million and capital and surplus of not less than $2.0
million.

 
 (2) Securities of any eligible portfolio company which we control.
   
 (3) Securities purchased in a private transaction from a U.S. issuer that is not an investment company or from an affiliated person of the issuer,

or in transactions incident thereto, if the issuer is in bankruptcy and subject to reorganization or if the issuer, immediately prior to the
purchase of its securities, was unable to meet its obligations as they came due without material assistance other than conventional lending or
financing arrangements.

 
 (4) Securities of an eligible portfolio company purchased from any person in a private transaction if there is no ready market for such securities

and we already own 60% of the outstanding equity of the eligible portfolio company.
 

 (5) Securities received in exchange for or distributed on or with respect to securities described in (1) through (4) above, or pursuant to the
exercise of warrants or rights relating to such securities.
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 (6) Cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of investment.

 
If at any time less than 70% of our gross assets are comprised of qualifying assets, including as a result of an increase in the value of any non-

qualifying assets or decrease in the value of any qualifying assets, we would generally not be permitted to acquire any additional non-qualifying assets, other
than office furniture and equipment, interests in real estate and leasehold improvements and facilities maintained to conduct the business operations of the
BDC, deferred organization and operating expenses, and other non-investment assets necessary and appropriate to its operations as a BDC, until such time as
70% of our then current gross assets were comprised of qualifying assets. We would not be required, however, to dispose of any non-qualifying assets in such
circumstances.

 
Managerial Assistance to Portfolio Companies
 

In addition, a BDC must have been organized and have its principal place of business in the United States and must be operated for the purpose of
making investments in the types of securities described above in Qualifying Assets categories (1), (2) or (3). However, in order to count portfolio securities as
qualifying assets for the purpose of the 70% test, the BDC must either control the issuer of the securities or must offer to make available to the issuer of the
securities (other than small and solvent companies described above in Qualifying Assets category (1)(c)(iv)) significant managerial assistance; except that,
where the BDC purchases such securities in conjunction with one or more other persons acting together, one of the other persons in the group may make
available such managerial assistance. Making available managerial assistance means, among other things, any arrangement whereby the BDC, through its
directors, officers or employees, offers to provide, and, if accepted, does so provide, significant guidance and counsel concerning the management, operations
or business objectives and policies of a portfolio company.

 
Temporary Investments
 

Pending investment in other types of “qualifying assets,” as described above, our investments may consist of cash, cash equivalents, U.S.
government securities or high-quality debt securities maturing in one year or less from the time of investment, which we refer to, collectively, as temporary
investments, so that 70% of our assets are qualifying assets. Typically, we will invest in U.S. Treasury Bills or in repurchase agreements, provided that such
agreements are fully collateralized by cash or securities issued by the U.S. government or its agencies. A repurchase agreement involves the purchase by an
investor, such as us, of a specified security and the simultaneous agreement by the seller to repurchase it at an agreed-upon future date and at a price which is
greater than the purchase price by an amount that reflects an agreed-upon interest rate. There is no percentage restriction on the proportion of our assets that
may be invested in such repurchase agreements. However, if more than 25% of our gross assets constitute repurchase agreements from a single counterparty,
we would not meet the diversification tests in order to qualify as a RIC for federal income tax purposes. Thus, we do not intend to enter into repurchase
agreements with a single counterparty in excess of this limit. GSVGC monitors the creditworthiness of the counterparties with which we enter into repurchase
agreement transactions.
 
Senior Securities
 

We are permitted, under specified conditions, to issue multiple classes of indebtedness and one class of stock senior to our common stock if our asset
coverage, as defined in the 1940 Act, is at least equal to 200% immediately after each such issuance. In addition, while any senior securities remain
outstanding, we must make provisions to prohibit any distribution to our stockholders or the repurchase of such securities or shares unless we meet the
applicable asset coverage ratios at the time of the distribution or repurchase. We may also borrow amounts up to 5% of the value of our gross assets for
temporary or emergency purposes without regard to asset coverage. For a discussion of the risks associated with leverage, see “Risk Factors — Risks Related
to Our Business and Structure — We may borrow money, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and may increase the risk
of investing in us.” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
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Compliance Policies and Procedures
 

We and GSVGC have adopted and implemented written policies and procedures reasonably designed to detect and prevent violation of the federal
securities laws and are required to review these compliance policies and procedures annually for their adequacy and the effectiveness of their implementation
and designate a chief compliance officer to be responsible for administering the policies and procedures. Carl Rizzo currently serves as our Chief Compliance
Officer.

 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act imposes a wide variety of regulatory requirements on publicly held companies and their insiders. Many of these
requirements affect us. For example:

 
 ● pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (together with the rules and regulations promulgated

thereunder, the “Exchange Act”), our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer must certify the accuracy of the financial
statements contained in our periodic reports;

 
 ● pursuant to Item 307 of Regulation S-K, our periodic reports must disclose our conclusions about the effectiveness of our disclosure

controls and procedures;
 

 ● pursuant to Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, our management must prepare an annual report regarding its assessment of our internal
control over financial reporting starting with our annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 and, starting
from the date on which we cease to be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act, must obtain an audit of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting performed by our independent registered public accounting firm should we become an accelerated
filer; and

 
 ● pursuant to Item 308 of Regulation S-K and Rule 13a-15 of the Exchange Act, our periodic reports must disclose whether there were

significant changes in our internal control over financial reporting or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls
subsequent to the date of their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses.

 
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires us to review our current policies and procedures to determine whether we comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and

the regulations promulgated thereunder. We will continue to monitor our compliance with all regulations that are adopted under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
will take actions necessary to ensure that we are in compliance therewith.
 
Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures
 

We have delegated our proxy voting responsibility to GSVGC. The Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures of GSVGC are set forth below. The
guidelines will be reviewed periodically by GSVGC and our non-interested directors, and, accordingly, are subject to change. For purposes of the Proxy
Voting Policies and Procedures described below, “we,” “our” and “us” refers to GSVGC.
 

An investment adviser registered under the Advisers Act has a fiduciary duty to act solely in the best interests of its clients. As part of this duty, we
recognize that we must vote client securities in a timely manner, free of conflicts of interest and in the best interests of our clients.

 
These policies and procedures for voting proxies for our investment advisory clients are intended to comply with Section 206 of, and Rule 206(4)-6

under, the Advisers Act.
 

Proxy Policies
 

We will vote proxies relating to our portfolio securities in what we perceive to be the best interest of our clients’ stockholders. We will review on a
case-by-case basis each proposal submitted to a stockholder vote to determine its impact on the portfolio securities held by our clients. Although we will
generally vote against proposals that may have a negative impact on our clients’ portfolio securities, we may vote for such a proposal if there exist compelling
long-term reasons to do so.
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Our proxy-voting decisions will be made by the senior officers who are responsible for monitoring each of our clients’ investments. To ensure that

our vote is not the product of a conflict of interest, we will require that: (1) anyone involved in the decision-making process disclose to our management any
potential conflict that he or she is aware of and any contact that he or she has had with any interested party regarding a proxy vote; and (2) employees
involved in the decision-making process or vote administration are prohibited from revealing how we intend to vote on a proposal in order to reduce any
attempted influence from interested parties.

 
Proxy Voting Records
 

You may obtain information about how we voted proxies by making a written request for proxy voting information to: GSV Growth Credit LLC,
The Pioneer Building, 2925 Woodside Road, Woodside, CA 94062.

 
Privacy Principles

 
We are committed to maintaining the privacy of our stockholders and to safeguarding their non-public personal information. The following

information is provided to help you understand what personal information we collect, how we protect that information and why, in certain cases, we may
share information with select other parties.

 
Pursuant to our privacy policy, we do not disclose any non-public personal information about our stockholders or former stockholders to anyone,

except as permitted by law, or as is necessary in order to service stockholder accounts (for example, to a transfer agent or third-party administrator).
 
We may collect non-public information about investors from our subscription agreements or other forms, such as name, address, account number and

the types and amounts of investments, and information about transactions with us or our affiliates, such as participation in other investment programs,
ownership of certain types of accounts or other account data and activity. We may disclose the information that we collect from our stockholders or former
stockholders, as described above, only to our affiliates and service providers and only as allowed by applicable law or regulation. Any party that receives this
information uses it only for the services required by us and as allowed by applicable law or regulation, and is not permitted to share or use this information for
any other purpose. To protect the non-public personal information of individuals, we restrict access to non-public personal information about our stockholders
to employees of GSVGC and its affiliates with a legitimate business need for the information. In order to guard our stockholders’ non-public personal
information, we maintain physical, electronic and procedural safeguards that are designed to comply with applicable law. Non-public personal information
that we collect about our stockholders is generally stored on secured servers located in the United States. An individual stockholder’s right to privacy extends
to all forms of contact with us, including telephone, written correspondence and electronic media, such as the Internet.

 
Reporting Obligations
 

We furnish our stockholders with annual reports containing audited financial statements, quarterly reports, and such other periodic reports as we
determine to be appropriate or as may be required by law. We are required to comply with all periodic reporting, proxy solicitation and other applicable
requirements under the Exchange Act.

 
Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, as well as reports on Forms 3, 4 and 5 regarding

directors, officers or 10% beneficial owners of us, filed or furnished pursuant to section 13(a), 15(d) or 16(a) of the Exchange Act, are available on our
website (http://gsvgc.com/document-center/).

 
Stockholders and the public may also read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE,

Washington, DC 20549. The public may also obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The
SEC also maintains a website (http://www.sec.gov) that contains such information.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

 
An investment in our securities involves certain risks relating to our structure and investment objective. The risks set forth below are not the only

risks we face, and we may face other risks that we have not yet identified, which we do not currently deem material or which are not yet predictable. If any of
the following risks occur, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In such case, our net asset value
and the price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of your investment.

 
Risks Related to Our Business and Structure
 
We have a limited operating history as a BDC.
 

We were formed on August 31, 2015. As a result of a limited operating history, we are subject to many of the business risks and uncertainties
associated with recently formed businesses, including the risk that we will not achieve our investment objective and that the value of our common stock could
decline substantially. As a BDC, we are subject to the regulatory requirements of the SEC, in addition to the specific regulatory requirements applicable to
BDCs under the 1940 Act and RICs under the Code. From time to time, GSVGC may pursue investment opportunities in which it has more limited
experience. We may also be unable to replicate the historical performance of the members of the Investment Committee in prior investment funds. In addition,
we may be unable to generate sufficient revenue from our operations to make or sustain distributions to our stockholders.
 
GSVGC has limited prior experience managing a BDC and a RIC.
 

GSVGC has limited experience managing a BDC and a RIC. Therefore, GSVGC may not be able to successfully operate our business or achieve our
investment objective. As a result, an investment in our common stock may entail more risk than shares of common stock of a comparable company with a
substantial operating history.
 

The 1940 Act and the Code impose numerous constraints on the operations of BDCs and RICs that do not apply to the other types of investment
vehicles. For example, under the 1940 Act, BDCs are required to invest at least 70% of their total assets primarily in securities of qualifying U.S. private or
thinly traded companies. Moreover, qualification for RIC tax treatment under Subchapter M of the Code requires, among other things, satisfaction of source-
of-income, diversification and other requirements. The failure to comply with these provisions in a timely manner could prevent us from qualifying as a BDC
or RIC or could force us to pay unexpected taxes and penalties, which could be material. GSVGC’s limited experience in managing a portfolio of assets under
such constraints may hinder its ability to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities and, as a result, achieve our investment objective.
 
Our investment portfolio is recorded at fair value, with our Board of Directors having final responsibility for overseeing, reviewing and approving, in
good faith, its estimate of fair value and, as a result, there is uncertainty as to the value of our portfolio investments.
 

Under the 1940 Act, we are required to carry our portfolio investments at market value or, if there is no readily available market value, at fair value
as determined by us with our Board of Directors having final responsibility for overseeing, reviewing and approving, in good faith, our estimate of fair value.
Typically, there will not be a public market for the securities of the privately held companies in which we invest. As a result, we value these securities
quarterly at fair value based on input from management, a third-party independent valuation firm and the audit committee of our Board of Directors (the
“Audit Committee”) and with the oversight, review and approval of our Board of Directors.
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The determination of fair value and consequently, the amount of unrealized gains and losses in our portfolio, are to a certain degree, subjective and

dependent on a valuation process approved by our Board of Directors. Certain factors that may be considered in determining the fair value of our investments
include external events, such as private mergers, sales and acquisitions involving comparable companies. Because such valuations, and particularly valuations
of private securities and private companies, are inherently uncertain, they may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates. Our
determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a ready market for these securities existed. Due to this
uncertainty, our fair value determinations may cause our net asset value on a given date to materially understate or overstate the value that we may ultimately
realize on one or more of our investments. As a result, investors purchasing our common stock based on an overstated net asset value would pay a higher
price than the value of our investments might warrant. Conversely, investors selling shares of our common stock during a period in which the net asset value
understates the value of our investments will receive a lower price for their shares of our common stock than the value of our investments might warrant.
 
Our financial condition and results of operations depend on our ability to effectively manage and deploy capital.
 

Our ability to achieve our investment objective depends on our ability to effectively manage and deploy capital, which depends, in turn, on
GSVGC’s ability to identify, evaluate and monitor, and our ability to finance and invest in, companies that meet our investment criteria.

 
Accomplishing our investment objective on a cost-effective basis is largely be a function of GSVGC’s handling of the investment process, its ability

to provide competent, attentive and efficient services and our access to investments offering acceptable terms. In addition to monitoring the performance of
our existing investments and other responsibilities under the Advisory Agreement, GSVGC’s investment team may also be called upon, from time to time, to
provide managerial assistance to some of our portfolio companies. These demands on their time may distract them or slow the rate of investment.

 
Even if we are able to grow and build upon our investment portfolio, any failure to manage our growth effectively could have a material adverse

effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. Our results of our operations depend on many factors, including the
availability of opportunities for investment, readily accessible short and long-term funding alternatives in the financial markets and economic conditions.
Furthermore, if we cannot successfully operate our business or implement our investment policies and strategies as described herein, it could negatively
impact our ability to pay dividends.
 
We may face increasing competition for investment opportunities.
 

We compete for investments with providers of capital with similar investment strategies including other BDCs, private equity funds, sponsored
growth lending funds, finance companies, and banks. Many of our competitors are substantially larger and have considerably greater financial, technical and
marketing resources than us. For example, some competitors may have a lower cost of capital and access to funding sources that are not available to us. In
addition, some of our competitors may have higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments than we have. These characteristics could allow our
competitors to consider a wider variety of investments, establish more relationships and offer better pricing and more flexible structuring than we are able to
offer. We may lose investment opportunities if we do not match our competitors’ pricing, terms and structure. If we are forced to match our competitors’
pricing, terms and structure, we may not be able to achieve acceptable returns on our investments or may bear substantial risk of capital loss. A significant
part of our competitive advantage stems from the fact that the market for investments in small, fast-growing, private companies is underserved by traditional
commercial banks and other financing sources. A significant increase in the number and/or the size of our competitors in this target market could force us to
accept less attractive investment terms. Furthermore, many of our competitors have greater experience operating under, or are not subject to, the regulatory
restrictions that the 1940 Act imposes on us as a BDC.
 
Our business model depends to a significant extent upon strong referral relationships. Any inability of GSVGC to maintain or develop these relationships,
or the failure of these relationships to generate investment opportunities, could adversely affect our business.
 

We depend upon GSVGC to maintain its relationships with venture capital and private equity firms, placement agents, investment banks,
management groups and other financial institutions, and we expect to rely to a significant extent upon these relationships to provide us with potential
investment opportunities. If GSVGC fails to maintain such relationships, or to develop new relationships with other sources of investment opportunities, we
may not be able to grow our investment portfolio. In addition, individuals with whom GSVGC has relationships are not obligated to provide us with
investment opportunities, and we can offer no assurance that these relationships will generate investment opportunities for us in the future.
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We are dependent upon GSVGC’s key personnel for our future success.
 

We depend on the diligence, skill and investment acumen of David Spreng, our President, Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of our Board of
Directors, along with the other investment professionals at GSVGC. Mr. Spreng also serves as the President, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment
Officer of GSVGC, and the Chairman of its Investment Committee. Mr. Spreng and the other members of GSVGC’s senior management evaluate, negotiate,
structure, close and monitor our investments. Our future success depends on the continued service of Mr. Spreng and the other members of GSVGC’s senior
management. We cannot assure you that unforeseen business, medical, personal or other circumstances would not lead any such individual to terminate his or
her relationship with us. The loss of Mr. Spreng or any of the other members of GSVGC’s senior management could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to achieve our investment objective as well as on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we can offer no assurance that GSVGC
will continue indefinitely as GSVGC. The members of GSVGC’s senior management are and may in the future become affiliated with entities engaged in
business activities similar to those intended to be conducted by us, and may have conflicts of interest in allocating their time. We expect that Mr. Spreng will
dedicate substantially all of his time to the activities of our company, however, Mr. Spreng may be engaged in other business activities which could divert his
time and attention in the future.
 

In addition, Mr. Spreng has not managed a BDC or a fund with a strategy similar to ours and, as a result, there can be no assurance that Mr. Spreng’s
experience in venture capital and small-business lending will be indicative of future results that will be achieved by us.
 
Our success depends on the ability of GSVGC to attract and retain qualified personnel in a competitive environment.

 
Our growth requires that GSVGC retains and attracts new investment and administrative personnel in a competitive market. Its ability to attract and

retain personnel with the requisite credentials, experience and skills depends on several factors including, but not limited to, its ability to offer competitive
wages, benefits and professional growth opportunities. Many of the entities, including investment funds (such as private equity funds and mezzanine funds)
and traditional financial services companies, with which GSVGC competes for experienced personnel have greater resources than it has.
 
There are significant potential conflicts of interest which could impact our investment returns.
 

Mr. Spreng currently serves as the Managing Partner of Crescendo Ventures and a Partner of Decathlon Capital. In addition, our executive officers
and directors, as well as the current and future members of GSVGC, may serve as officers, directors or principals of other entities that operate in the same or a
related line of business as we do. For example, Mr. Raterman, our Chief Financial Officer, also serves on the board of directors of GSV Financial Group LLC,
the parent of GSV Equity LLC. Accordingly, they may have obligations to investors in those entities, the fulfillment of which obligations may not be in the
best interests of us or our stockholders. However, GSVGC’s core investment team does not have a present intent to advise or manage another BDC with an
investment strategy that is substantially similar to our investment strategy.

 
In the course of our investing activities, we pay management and incentive fees to GSVGC and reimburse our Administrator for certain expenses it

incurs. As a result, investors in our common stock invest on a “gross” basis and receive distributions on a “net” basis after expenses, resulting in a lower rate
of return than an investor might achieve through direct investments. Accordingly, there may be times when the management team of GSVGC will have
interests that differ from those of our stockholders, giving rise to a conflict.

 
We have entered into a royalty-free license agreement with GSV Asset Management, pursuant to which GSV Asset Management has granted us a

non-exclusive, royalty-free license to use the name “GSV.” Under the license agreement, we have the right to use the “GSV” name for so long as GSVGC or
one of its affiliates remains our investment adviser.
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In addition, we pay our Administrator, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSVGC, our allocable portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by our

Administrator in performing its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including rent, the fees and expenses associated with performing
compliance functions. These arrangements may create conflicts of interest that our Board of Directors must monitor.
 
Our strategic relationship with Oaktree may create conflicts of interest.
 

OCM has made a $125,000,000 capital commitment to us. As of December 31, 2016, we had received capital commitments of $209,901,500 in the
Private Offering, and OCM owned approximately 60% of our outstanding common stock. In addition, OCM holds an interest in GSVGC. In connection with
our strategic relationship with Oaktree, OCM has a right to nominate an individual for election to our board of directors. If at any time, OCM has not
nominated for election a member of our Board of Directors and/or a nominated director has not yet been elected, OCM will maintain board observation rights.
OCM’s initial appointee to our Board of Directors is Brian Laibow. Mr. Laibow has also been appointed to the board of managers and Investment Committee
of GSVGC. Mr. Laibow is an employee of Oaktree and we expect that he will continue to engage in investment advisory activities for Oaktree, which could
result in a conflict of interest and may distract him from his responsibilities to us and GSVGC.

 
As a result of the relationship with Oaktree and OCM, we are presumed to be an affiliate of OCM under the 1940 Act. As a result, we are not able to

invest in the same portfolio companies in which any funds managed by OCM invest without seeking exemptive relief from the SEC.
 
The compensation we pay to GSVGC and our Administrator was not determined on an arm’s-length basis. Thus, the terms of such compensation may be
less advantageous to us than if such terms had been the subject of arm’s-length negotiations.
 

The compensation we pay to GSVGC and our Administrator was not determined on an arm’s-length basis with an unaffiliated third party. As a
result, the form and amount of such compensation may be less favorable to us than they might have been had the respective agreements been entered into
through arm’s-length transactions with an unaffiliated third party. In addition, we may choose not to enforce, or to enforce less vigorously, our respective
rights and remedies under the Advisory Agreement and the Administration Agreement because of our desire to maintain our ongoing relationship with
GSVGC, our Administrator and their respective affiliates. Any such decision, however, could cause us to breach our fiduciary obligations to our stockholders.
 
Our management fee may induce GSVGC to purchase assets with borrowed funds and our incentive fee may induce GSVGC to pursue speculative
investments and to use leverage when it may be unwise to do so.
 

The management fee and the incentive fee payable by us to GSVGC may create an incentive for GSVGC to purchase assets with borrowed funds
when it is unwise to do so or to pursue investments on our behalf that are riskier or more speculative than would be the case in the absence of such
compensation arrangement. The management fee payable to GSVGC is calculated based on the amount of our capital commitments and assets purchased with
borrowed funds or other forms of leverage. The incentive fee payable to GSVGC is calculated based on a percentage of our return on invested capital. The
incentive fee arrangement may encourage GSVGC to use leverage to increase the return on our investments. Under certain circumstances, the use of leverage
may increase the likelihood of default, which would impair the value of our common stock. In addition, GSVGC receives the incentive fee based, in part,
upon net capital gains realized on our investments. As a result, in certain situations GSVGC may have a tendency to invest more capital in investments that
are likely to result in capital gains as compared to income producing securities. Such a practice could result in our investing in more speculative securities
than would otherwise be the case, which could result in higher investment losses, particularly during economic downturns.
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A general increase in interest rates will likely have the effect of making it easier for GSVGC to receive incentive fees, without necessarily resulting in an
increase in our net earnings.
 

Given the structure of the Advisory Agreement, any general increase in interest rates can be expected to lead to higher interest rates applicable to our
debt investments and will likely have the effect of making it easier for GSVGC to meet the quarterly hurdle rate for payment of income incentive fees under
the Advisory Agreement without any additional increase in relative performance on the part of GSVGC. This may occur without a corresponding increase in
distributions to our stockholders. In addition, in view of the catch-up provision applicable to income incentive fees under the Advisory Agreement, GSVGC
could potentially receive a significant portion of the increase in our investment income attributable to such a general increase in interest rates. If that were to
occur, our increase in net earnings, if any, would likely be significantly smaller than the relative increase in GSVGC’s income incentive fee resulting from
such a general increase in interest rates.
 
GSVGC and our Administrator have the right to resign upon not more than 60 days’ notice, and we may not be able to find a suitable replacement for
either within that time, or at all, resulting in a disruption in our operations that could adversely affect our financial condition, business and results of
operations.
 

GSVGC has the right, under the Advisory Agreement, to resign at any time upon not more than 60 days’ written notice, regardless of whether we
have found a replacement. Similarly, our Administrator has the right under the Administration Agreement to resign at any time upon not more than 60 days’
written notice, regardless of whether we have found a replacement. If GSVGC or our Administrator were to resign, we may not be able to find a new
investment adviser or administrator or hire internal management with similar expertise and ability to provide the same or equivalent services on acceptable
terms prior to the resignation of GSVGC or our Administrator, or at all. If we are unable to do so quickly, our operations are likely to experience a disruption,
our financial condition, business and results of operations, as well as our ability to pay distributions, are likely to be materially and adversely affected. In
addition, the coordination of our internal management and investment or administrative activities, as applicable, are likely to suffer if we are unable to
identify and reach an agreement with a single institution or group of executives having the expertise possessed by GSVGC, our Administrator and their
respective affiliates. Even if we are able to retain comparable management, whether internal or external, the integration of such management and their lack of
familiarity with our investment objective may result in additional costs and time delays that may adversely affect our financial condition, business, results of
operations and cash flows.
 
GSVGC’s liability is limited under the Advisory Agreement and we have agreed to indemnify GSVGC against certain liabilities, which may lead GSVGC
to act in a riskier manner on our behalf than it would when acting for its own account.
 

Under the Advisory Agreement, GSVGC has not assumed any responsibility to us other than to render the services called for under that agreement. It
is not responsible for any action of our Board of Directors in following or declining to follow GSVGC’s advice or recommendations. Under the Advisory
Agreement, GSVGC and its professionals and any person controlling or controlled by GSVGC are not liable to us, any subsidiary of ours, our directors, our
stockholders or any subsidiary’s stockholders or partners for acts or omissions performed in accordance with and pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, except
those resulting from acts constituting gross negligence, willful misfeasance, bad faith or reckless disregard of the duties that GSVGC owes to us under the
Advisory Agreement. In addition, as part of the Advisory Agreement, we will indemnify GSVGC and its professionals from and against any claims or
liabilities, including reasonable legal fees and other expenses reasonably incurred, arising out of or in connection with our business and operations or any
action taken or omitted on our behalf pursuant to authority granted by the Advisory Agreement, except where attributable to gross negligence, willful
misfeasance, bad faith or reckless disregard of such person’s duties under the Advisory Agreement.
 
GSVGC may not be able to achieve the same or similar returns as those achieved by Mr. Spreng and the other members of GSVGC’s core investment team
while they were employed at prior positions.
 

Although in the past Mr. Spreng and the other members of GSVGC’s core investment team have held senior positions at a number of investment
firms, their achievements are not necessarily indicative of future results that will be achieved by GSVGC. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
achieve the results realized by prior vehicles managed by Mr. Spreng and the other members of GSVGC’s core investment team.
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Investors may default on capital drawdowns.
 

In connection with the Private Offering, we will issue drawdowns on capital commitments from time to time at the discretion of GSVGC based upon
GSVGC’s assessment of our needs and opportunities. To satisfy such capital drawdowns, investors may need to maintain a substantial portion of their capital
commitments in assets that can be readily converted to cash. If an investor fails to pay when due installments of its capital commitment to us, and the capital
commitments made by non-defaulting investors and our borrowings are inadequate to cover the defaulted capital commitment, we may be unable to pay our
obligations when due. As a result, we may be subjected to significant penalties that could materially adversely affect the returns of the investors (including
non-defaulting investors), and non-defaulting investors may be subject to increased expenses and/or funding requirements. Moreover, the subscription
agreements signed by investors in the Private Offering provide for significant adverse consequences in the event an investor defaults on its capital
commitment or other payment obligations.

 
We may need to raise additional capital to grow because we must distribute most of our income.

 
We may need additional capital to fund growth in our investments. We have issued and expect to issue additional equity securities in connection with

the Private Offering and expect to borrow from financial institutions. A reduction in the availability of new capital could limit our ability to grow. We must
distribute at least 90% of our investment company taxable income to our stockholders to maintain our RIC status. As a result, any such cash earnings may not
be available to fund investment originations. We may, in the future, borrow under debt facilities from financial institutions and issue additional debt and
equity securities. If we fail to obtain funds from such sources or from other sources to fund our investments, it could limit our ability to grow, which may have
an adverse effect on the value of our securities. In addition, as a BDC, our ability to borrow or issue preferred stock may be restricted if our total assets are
less than 200% of our total borrowings and preferred stock.
 
Any failure on our part to maintain our status as a BDC or fail to qualify as a RIC would reduce our operating flexibility.
 

The 1940 Act imposes numerous constraints on the operations of BDCs. For example, BDCs are required to invest at least 70% of their gross assets
in specified types of “qualifying assets,” primarily in private U.S. companies or thinly-traded U.S. public companies, cash, cash equivalents, U.S. government
securities and other high quality debt investments that mature in one year or less. In addition, subject to certain limited exceptions, an investment in an issuer
that has outstanding securities listed on a national exchange may be treated as a qualifying asset only if such issuer has a market capitalization that is less than
$250 million at the time of such investment. In addition, as a RIC, which we intend to elect to be treated as under Subchapter M of the Code and intend to
qualify as annually going forward, we are required to satisfy certain source-of-income, diversification and distribution requirements. These constraints,
among others, may hinder our ability to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities and to achieve our investment objective.

 
Any failure to comply with the requirements imposed on BDCs by the 1940 Act could cause the SEC to bring an enforcement action against us

and/or expose us to claims of private litigants. In addition, upon approval of a majority of our stockholders, we may elect to withdraw our status as a BDC. If
we decide to withdraw our election, or if we otherwise fail to qualify, or maintain our qualification, as a BDC, we will be subject to the substantially greater
regulation under the 1940 Act as a closed-end investment company. Compliance with such regulations would significantly decrease our operating flexibility,
and could significantly increase our costs of doing business.
 
Regulations governing our operation as a BDC affect our ability to raise additional capital and the way in which we do so. As a BDC, the necessity of
raising additional capital may expose us to risks, including the typical risks associated with leverage.
 

We may issue debt securities or preferred stock and/or borrow money from banks or other financial institutions, which we refer to collectively as
“senior securities,” up to the maximum amount permitted by the 1940 Act. Under the provisions of the 1940 Act, we are permitted, as a BDC, to issue senior
securities in amounts such that our asset coverage ratio, as defined in the 1940 Act, equals at least 200% of gross assets less all liabilities and indebtedness not
represented by senior securities, after each issuance of senior securities. If the value of our assets declines, we may be unable to satisfy this test. If that
happens, we may be required to sell a portion of our investments and, depending on the nature of our leverage, repay a portion of our indebtedness at a time
when such sales may be disadvantageous. Also, any amounts that we use to service our indebtedness would not be available for distributions to our common
stockholders. Furthermore, as a result of issuing senior securities, we would also be exposed to typical risks associated with leverage, including an increased
risk of loss.
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If we issue preferred stock, the preferred stock would rank “senior” to common stock in our capital structure, preferred stockholders would have

separate voting rights on certain matters and might have other rights, preferences, or privileges more favorable than those of our common stockholders, and
the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a transaction or a change of control that might involve a premium
price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in your best interest.

 
We are generally not able to issue and sell our common stock at a price below net asset value per share. We may, however, sell our common stock, or

warrants, options or rights to acquire our common stock, at a price below the then-current net asset value per share of our common stock if our Board of
Directors determines that such sale is in the best interests of our stockholders, and our stockholders approve such sale. In any such case, the price at which our
securities are to be issued and sold may not be less than a price that, in the determination of our Board of Directors, closely approximates the market value of
such securities (less any distributing commission or discount). If we raise additional funds by issuing more common stock or senior securities convertible
into, or exchangeable for, our common stock, then the percentage ownership of our stockholders at that time will decrease, and you may experience dilution.
 
We may borrow money, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and may increase the risk of investing in us.
 

The use of leverage magnifies the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and, therefore, increases the risks associated with investing in our
securities. We may borrow from and issue senior debt securities to banks, insurance companies and other lenders in the future. Holders of these senior
securities will have fixed dollar claims on our assets that are superior to the claims of our common stockholders, and we would expect such lenders to seek
recovery against our assets in the event of a default. If the value of our assets decreases, leveraging would cause net asset value to decline more sharply than it
otherwise would have had we not leveraged. Similarly, any decrease in our income would cause net income to decline more sharply than it would have had
we not borrowed. Such a decline could also negatively affect our ability to make dividend payments on our common stock. Leverage is generally considered a
speculative investment technique. Our ability to service any debt that we incur will depend largely on our financial performance and will be subject to
prevailing economic conditions and competitive pressures. In addition, our common stockholders will bear the burden of any increase in our expenses as a
result of leverage.

 
As a BDC, we are generally required to meet an asset coverage ratio, defined under the 1940 Act as the ratio of our gross assets (less all liabilities

and indebtedness not represented by senior securities) to our outstanding senior securities, of at least 200% after each issuance of senior securities. If this ratio
declines below 200%, we may not be able to incur additional debt and could be required by law to sell a portion of our investments to repay some debt when
it is disadvantageous to do so, which could have a material adverse effect on our operations, and we may not be able to make distributions. The amount of
leverage that we employ will depend on GSVGC’s and our Board of Directors’ assessment of market and other factors at the time of any proposed borrowing.
We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain credit at all or on terms acceptable to us.

 
In addition, any debt facility into which we may enter would likely impose financial and operating covenants that restrict our business activities,

including limitations that could hinder our ability to finance additional loans and investments or to make the distributions required to qualify as a RIC.
 
Changes in interest rates may increase our cost of capital, reduce the ability of our portfolio companies to service their debt obligations and decrease our
net investment income.
 

General interest rate fluctuations and changes in credit spreads on floating rate loans may have a substantial negative impact on our investments and
investment opportunities and, accordingly, may have a material adverse effect on our rate of return on invested capital, our net investment income and our net
asset value. Substantially all of our debt investments will have variable interest rates that reset periodically based on benchmarks such as LIBOR and the
prime rate, so an increase in interest rates from their historically low present levels may make it more difficult for our portfolio companies to service their
obligations under the debt investments that we will hold. In addition, to the extent we borrow money to make investments, our net investment income
depends, in part, upon the difference between the rate at which we borrow funds and the rate at which we invest those funds. As a result, we can offer no
assurance that a significant change in market interest rates will not have a material adverse effect on our net investment income to the extent we use debt to
finance our investments. In periods of rising interest rates, our cost of funds would increase, which could reduce our net investment income.
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In addition, a rise in the general level of interest rates can be expected to lead to higher interest rates applicable to our debt investments. Accordingly,

an increase in interest rates would make it easier for us to meet or exceed the incentive fee hurdle rate and may result in a substantial increase of the amount
of incentive fees payable to GSVGC with respect to our pre-incentive fee net investment income.
 
Our portfolio companies may prepay loans, which may have the effect of reducing our investment income if the returned capital cannot be invested in
transactions with equal or greater yields.
 

Loans are generally callable at any time, most of them at no premium to par. We are generally unable to predict the rate and frequency of such
repayments. Whether a loan is called will depend both on the continued positive performance of the portfolio company and the existence of favorable
financing market conditions that allow such portfolio company the ability to replace existing financing with less expensive capital. As market conditions
change frequently, we will often be unable to predict when, and if, this may be possible for each of our portfolio companies. In the case of some of these
loans, having the loan called early may have the effect of reducing our actual investment income below our expected investment income if the capital returned
cannot be invested in transactions with equal or greater yields.
 
The financial projections of our portfolio companies could prove inaccurate.
 

We generally evaluate the capital structure of portfolio companies on the basis of financial projections prepared by the management of such portfolio
companies. These projected operating results are normally based primarily on judgments of the management of the portfolio companies. In all cases,
projections are only estimates of future results that are based upon assumptions made at the time that the projections are developed. General economic
conditions, which are not predictable with accuracy, along with other factors may cause actual performance to fall short of the financial projections that were
used to establish a given portfolio company’s capital structure. Because of the leverage that is typically employed by our portfolio companies, this could cause
a substantial decrease in the value of our investment in the portfolio company. The inaccuracy of financial projections could thus cause our performance to
fall short of our expectations.

 
Our portfolio securities may not have a readily available market price and, in such a case, we will value these securities at fair value as determined in
good faith under procedures adopted by our Board of Directors, which valuation is inherently subjective and may not reflect what we may actually realize
for the sale of the investment.

 
A large percentage of our portfolio investments are in the form of debt investments that are not publicly traded. The fair value of these securities is

not readily determinable. We value these investments on at least a quarterly basis in accordance with our valuation policy, which is at all times consistent with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”). Our Board of Directors utilizes the services of a third-party valuation firm to aid it in
determining the fair value of these investments. The Board of Directors discusses valuations and determines the fair value in good faith based on the input of
GSVGC and the third-party valuation firm. The participation of GSVGC in our valuation process could result in a conflict of interest, since the management
fees are based in part on our gross assets and also because GSVGC is receiving performance-based incentive fees. The factors that are considered in the fair
value pricing of our investments include the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio company’s ability to make payments and its earnings,
the markets in which the portfolio company does business, comparisons to publicly-traded companies, discounted cash flow, relevant credit market indices,
and other relevant factors. Because such valuations, and particularly valuations of private investments and private companies, are inherently uncertain, may
fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates, our determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have
been used if a ready market for these securities existed. In addition, the valuation of these types of securities may result in substantial write-downs and
earnings volatility.
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Our net asset value as of a particular date may be materially greater than or less than the value that would be realized if our assets were to be

liquidated as of such date. For example, if we were required to sell a certain asset or all or a substantial portion of its assets on a particular date, the actual
price that we would realize upon the disposition of such asset or assets could be materially less than the value of such asset or assets as reflected in our net
asset value. Volatile market conditions could also cause reduced liquidity in the market for certain assets, which could result in liquidation values that are
materially less than the values of such assets as reflected in our net asset value.
 
We may experience fluctuations in our quarterly and annual results.
 

We may experience fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability or
inability to make investments in companies that meet our investment criteria, the interest rate payable on the debt securities we acquire, the level of portfolio
dividend and fee income, the level of our expenses, variations in and the timing of the recognition of realized and unrealized gains or losses, the degree to
which we encounter competition in our markets and general economic conditions. As a result of these factors, results for any period should not be relied upon
as being indicative of performance in future periods.
 
Our Board of Directors is authorized to reclassify any unissued shares of common stock into one or more classes of preferred stock, which could convey
special rights and privileges to its owners.
 

Under Maryland General Corporation Law (the “MGCL”) and our charter, our Board of Directors is authorized to classify and reclassify any
authorized but unissued shares of stock into one or more classes of stock, including preferred stock. Prior to the issuance of shares of each class or series, the
Board of Directors is required by Maryland law and our charter to set the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers, restrictions,
limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms or conditions of redemption for each class or series. Thus, the Board of Directors
could authorize the issuance of shares of preferred stock with terms and conditions which could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a
transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or otherwise be in their best interest. The cost of any
such reclassification would be borne by our existing common stockholders. Certain matters under the 1940 Act require the separate vote of the holders of any
issued and outstanding preferred stock. For example, holders of preferred stock would vote separately from the holders of common stock on a proposal to
cease operations as a BDC. In addition, the 1940 Act provides that holders of preferred stock are entitled to vote separately from holders of common stock to
elect two preferred stock directors. We currently have no plans to issue preferred stock, but may determine to do so in the future. The issuance of preferred
stock convertible into shares of common stock might also reduce the net income per share and net asset value per share of our common stock upon
conversion, provided, that we will only be permitted to issue such convertible preferred stock to the extent we comply with the requirements of Section 61 of
the 1940 Act, including obtaining common stockholder approval. These effects, among others, could have an adverse effect on an investment in our common
stock.
 
Our Board of Directors may change our investment objective, operating policies and strategies without prior notice or stockholder approval, the effects of
which may be adverse.
 

Our Board of Directors has the authority to modify or waive our investment objective, current operating policies, investment criteria and strategies
without prior notice (except as required by the 1940 Act) and without stockholder approval. However, absent stockholder approval, we may not change the
nature of our business so as to cease to be, or withdraw our election as, a BDC. We cannot predict the effect any changes to our current operating policies,
investment criteria and strategies would have on our business, net asset value, operating results and value of our stock. However, the effects might be adverse,
which could negatively impact our ability to pay you dividends and cause you to lose all or part of your investment.
 
We will be subject to corporate-level income tax if we are unable to qualify as a RIC.
 

Although we intend to elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code for 2016, no assurance can be given that we will be able to
qualify as and maintain our qualification as a RIC. To obtain and maintain our qualification as a RIC, we must meet the following source-of-income, asset
diversification, and distribution requirements.
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The income source requirement will be satisfied if we obtain at least 90% of our gross income for each year from dividends, interest, foreign

currency, payments with respect to loans of certain securities, gains from the sale of stock or other securities, net income from certain “qualified publicly
traded partnerships,” or similar sources.

 
The asset diversification requirement will be satisfied if we meet certain asset diversification requirements at the end of each quarter of our taxable

year. Failure to meet those requirements may result in our having to dispose of certain investments quickly in order to prevent the loss of our qualification as a
RIC. Because most of our investments will be in private companies, and therefore will be relatively illiquid, any such dispositions could be made at
disadvantageous prices and could result in substantial losses. We may have difficulty satisfying the diversification requirement during our ramp-up phase until
we have a portfolio of investments.

 
The annual distribution requirement will be satisfied if we distribute to our stockholders on an annual basis at least 90% of our net ordinary income

and realized net short-term capital gains in excess of realized net long-term capital losses, if any. Because we may use debt financing, we are subject to certain
asset coverage ratio requirements under the 1940 Act and financial covenants under loan and credit agreements that could, under certain circumstances,
restrict us from making distributions necessary to satisfy the distribution requirement. If we are unable to obtain cash from other sources, we could fail to
qualify as a RIC.

 
If we fail to qualify as a RIC for any reason and therefore become subject to corporate income tax, the resulting corporate taxes could substantially

reduce our net assets, the amount of income available for distribution and the amount of our distributions.
 
There are risks related to investment by ERISA Plans.
 

We will use reasonable efforts to conduct our affairs so that our assets are not be deemed to be “plan assets” under the plan asset regulations
promulgated by DOL, as amended by ERISA. The fiduciary of each prospective plan investor must independently determine that the Company is an
appropriate investment for such plan, taking into account the fiduciary’s obligations under ERISA and the facts and circumstances of each investing plan.
 
We may have difficulty paying our required distributions if we recognize income before or without receiving cash representing such income.
 

For U.S. federal income tax purposes, we will include in our taxable income certain amounts that we have not yet received in cash, such as original
issue discount, which may arise if we receive warrants in connection with the origination of a loan or possibly in other circumstances, or contractual PIK
interest, which represents contractual interest added to the loan balance and due at the end of the loan term. Such original issue discount or increases in loan
balances as a result of contractual PIK arrangements will be included in our taxable income before we receive any corresponding cash payments. We also may
be required to include in our taxable income certain other amounts that we will not receive in cash.

 
Since, in certain cases, we may recognize taxable income before or without receiving corresponding cash payments, we may have difficulty meeting

the annual distribution requirement necessary to maintain our qualification as a RIC. Accordingly, to satisfy our RIC distribution requirements, we may have
to sell some of our investments at times and/or at prices we would not consider advantageous, raise additional debt or equity capital or forgo new investment
opportunities. If we are not able to obtain cash from other sources, we may fail to qualify as a RIC and thus become subject to corporate-level income tax. For
additional discussion regarding the tax implications of our election to be taxed as a RIC, please see “Business — Material U.S. Federal Income Tax
Considerations — Taxation of the Company” in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K.
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To the extent original issue discount and PIK-interest constitute a portion of our income, we are exposed to typical risks associated with such income
being required to be included in taxable and accounting income prior to receipt of cash representing such income.
 

Our investments may include original-issue-discount instruments and contractual PIK-interest arrangements. To the extent original issue discount
or PIK-interest constitutes a portion of our income, we are exposed to typical risks associated with such income being required to be included in taxable and
accounting income prior to receipt of cash, including the following:

 
· The higher interest rates of original issue discount and PIK instruments reflect the payment deferral, which results in a higher principal amount at the

maturity of the instrument as compared to the original principal amount of the instrument, and increased credit risk associated with these
instruments, and original issue discount and PIK instruments generally represent a significantly higher credit risk than coupon loans.

 
· Even if the accounting conditions for income accrual are met, the borrower could still default when our actual collection is supposed to occur at the

maturity of the obligation.
 

· Original issue discount and PIK instruments may have unreliable valuations because their continuing accruals require continuing judgments about
the collectability of the deferred payments and the value of any associated collateral. Original issue discount and PIK-income may also create
uncertainty about the source of our cash distributions.
 

· To the extent we provide loans with interest-only payments or moderate loan amortization, the majority of the principal payment or amortization of
principal may be deferred until loan maturity. Because this debt generally allows the borrower to make a large lump-sum payment of principal at the
end of the loan term, there is a risk of loss if the borrower is unable to pay the lump sum or refinance the amount owed at maturity.
 

· For accounting purposes, any cash distributions to stockholders representing original issue discount and PIK-income are not treated as coming from
paid-in capital, even though the cash to pay them comes from the offering proceeds. As a result, despite the fact that a distribution representing
original issue discount and PIK-income could be paid out of amounts invested by our stockholders, the 1940 Act does not require that stockholders
be given notice of this fact by reporting it as a return of capital.
 

· In certain cases, we may recognize taxable income before or without receiving corresponding cash payments and, as a result, we may have difficulty
meeting the annual distribution requirement necessary to maintain our qualification as a RIC.
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We may in the future choose to pay dividends in our own stock, in which case you may be required to pay tax in excess of the cash you receive.
 

We may distribute dividends that are payable predominantly in shares of our common stock. Based on certain private rulings issued by the IRS,
distributions payable in stock or cash at the election of stockholders will be treated as taxable dividends that may satisfy our minimum distribution
requirements even if the total amount of cash to be distributed is limited, provided that at least 20% of such dividend is payable in cash. If too many
stockholders elect to receive their distribution in cash, all stockholders electing to receive cash would receive a ratable share of the cash to be distributed and
would receive the remainder of their distribution in shares of our common stock. Taxable stockholders receiving such dividends will be required to include
the full amount of the dividend as ordinary income (or as long-term capital gain to the extent such distribution is properly reported as a capital gain dividend)
to the extent of our current and accumulated earnings and profits for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a result, a U.S. stockholder may be required to pay
tax with respect to such dividends in excess of any cash received. If a U.S. stockholder sells the stock it receives as a dividend in order to pay this tax, the
sales proceeds may be less than the amount included in income with respect to the dividend, depending on the market price of our stock at the time of the sale.
Furthermore, with respect to non-U.S. stockholders, we may be required to withhold U.S. federal tax with respect to such dividends, including in respect of all
or a portion of such dividend that is payable in stock. In addition, if a significant number of our stockholders sell shares of our common stock in order to pay
taxes owed on dividends, it may put downward pressure on the trading price of our common stock.
 
There is a risk that our stockholders may not receive any distributions or that our distributions may not grow over time.
 

We intend to make distributions on a quarterly basis to our stockholders out of assets legally available for distribution. We cannot assure you that we
will achieve investment results that will allow us to make a specified level of cash distributions or year-to-year increases in cash distributions. In addition, due
to the asset coverage test applicable to us as a BDC, we may be limited in our ability to make distributions. See “Business — Regulation as a Business
Development Company” in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K.
 
A disruption in the capital markets and the credit markets could impair our ability to raise capital and negatively affect our business.
 

As a BDC, we have to maintain our ability to raise additional capital for investment purposes. Without sufficient access to the capital markets or
credit markets, we may be forced to curtail our business operations or we may not be able to pursue new business opportunities. Capital markets and credit
markets sometimes experience extreme volatility and disruption and, accordingly, there has been and may continue to be uncertainty in the financial markets
in general. For example, between 2008 and 2009, the global capital markets were unstable as evidenced by periodic disruptions in liquidity in the debt capital
markets, significant write-offs in the financial services sector, the re-pricing of credit risk in the broadly syndicated credit market and the failure of major
financial institutions. Despite actions of the U.S. federal government and foreign governments, these events contributed to worsening general economic
conditions that materially and adversely impacted the broader financial and credit markets and reduced the availability of debt and equity capital for the
market as a whole and financial services firms in particular. While market conditions have largely recovered from the events of 2008 and 2009, there have
been continuing periods of volatility, some lasting longer than others. For example, the referendum by British voters to exit the European Union (“E.U.”)
(“Brexit”) in June 2016 has led to further disruption and instability in the global markets. There can be no assurance these market conditions will not repeat
themselves or worsen in the future. Any further disruptive conditions in the financial industry and the impact of new legislation in response to those
conditions could restrict our business operations and could adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.

 
Equity capital may be difficult to raise during periods of adverse or volatile market conditions because, subject to some limited exceptions, as a

BDC, we are generally not able to issue additional shares of our common stock at a price less than net asset value without first obtaining approval for such
issuance from our stockholders and our directors who are not “interested persons,” as defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, of us, GSVGC or our
respective affiliates.
 

 32  



 

 
If the fair value of our assets declines substantially, we may fail to maintain the asset coverage ratios imposed upon us by the 1940 Act. Any such

failure would affect our ability to issue senior securities, including borrowings, and pay dividends, which could materially impair our business operations. Our
liquidity could be impaired further by an inability to access the capital markets or to consummate new borrowing facilities to provide capital for normal
operations, including new originations. In recent years, reflecting concern about the stability of the financial markets, many lenders and institutional investors
have reduced or ceased providing funding to borrowers.

 
If we are unable to secure debt financing on commercially reasonable terms, our liquidity will be reduced significantly. If we are unable to repay

amounts outstanding under any debt facilities we may obtain and are declared in default or are unable to renew or refinance these facilities, we would not be
able to initiate significant originations or to operate our business in the normal course. These situations may arise due to circumstances that we may be unable
to control, such as inaccessibility to the credit markets, a severe decline in the value of the U.S. dollar, another economic downturn or an operational problem
that affects third parties or us, and could materially damage our business.

 
Uncertainty about the financial stability of the United States, several countries in Europe and China, and uncertainties about the new U.S. presidential
administration could have a significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 

Due to federal budget deficit concerns, S&P downgraded the federal government’s credit rating from AAA to AA+ for the first time in history in
August 2011. Further, Moody’s and Fitch had warned that they may downgrade the federal government’s credit rating. Further downgrades or warnings by
S&P or other rating agencies, and the United States government’s credit and deficit concerns in general, could cause interest rates and borrowing costs to rise,
which may negatively impact both the perception of credit risk associated with our debt portfolio and our ability to access the debt markets on favorable
terms. In addition, a decreased U.S. government credit rating could create broader financial turmoil and uncertainty, which may weigh heavily on our
financial performance and the value of our common stock.

 
In 2010, a financial crisis emerged in Europe, triggered by high budget deficits and rising direct and contingent sovereign debt in Greece, Ireland,

Italy, Portugal and Spain, which created concerns about the ability of these nations to continue to service their sovereign debt obligations. While the financial
stability of many of such countries has improved significantly, risks resulting from any future debt crisis in Europe or any similar crisis could have a
detrimental impact on the global economic recovery, sovereign and non-sovereign debt in these countries and the financial condition of European financial
institutions. Market and economic disruptions have affected, and may in the future affect, consumer confidence levels and spending, personal bankruptcy
rates, levels of incurrence and default on consumer debt and home prices, among other factors. We cannot assure you that market disruptions in Europe,
including the increased cost of funding for certain governments and financial institutions, will not impact the global economy, and we cannot assure you that
assistance packages will be available, or if available, be sufficient to stabilize countries and markets in Europe or elsewhere affected by a financial crisis. To
the extent uncertainty regarding any economic recovery in Europe negatively impacts consumer confidence and consumer credit factors, our business,
financial condition and results of operations could be significantly and adversely affected.

 
In the second quarter of 2015, stock prices in China experienced a significant drop, resulting primarily from continued sell-off of shares trading in

Chinese markets. In addition, in August 2015, Chinese authorities sharply devalued China’s currency. Since then, the Chinese capital markets have continued
to experience periods of instability. These market and economic disruptions have affected, and may in the future affect, the U.S. capital markets, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations.

 
The Federal Reserve raised the Federal Funds Rate in December 2015, in December 2016 and again in March 2017, and has announced its intention

to continue to raise the federal funds rate over time. These developments, along with the United States government’s credit and deficit concerns, the European
sovereign debt crisis and the economic slowdown in China, could cause interest rates to be volatile, which may negatively impact our ability to access the
debt markets on favorable terms.
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In November 2016, the United States held its Federal election and elected Donald Trump, the Republican Party nominee, as President. Following

President Trump’s inauguration in January 2017, the Republican Party controls both the executive and legislative branches of government, which increases
the likelihood that legislation will be adopted implementing the policies of the Trump administration. While campaigning, President Trump made statements
suggesting he may seek to have Congress adopt legislation that could significantly affect the regulation of United States financial markets. Areas subject to
potential change, amendment or repeal include the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”), including the
Volcker Rule and various swaps and derivatives regulations, the authority of the Federal Reserve and the Financial Stability Oversight Council, and renewed
proposals to separate banks’ commercial and investment banking activities. President Trump also stated he would cause the United States to withdraw from or
renegotiate various trade agreements and take other actions that would change current trade policies of the United States. We cannot predict which, if any, of
these actions will be taken or, if taken, their effect on the financial stability of the United States. Such actions could have a significant adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We cannot predict the effects of these or similar events in the future on the U.S. economy and
securities markets or on our investments. We monitor developments and seek to manage our investments in a manner consistent with achieving our
investment objective, but there can be no assurance that we will be successful in doing so.

 
Any further disruptive conditions in the financial industry and the impact of new legislation in response to those conditions could restrict our

business operations and could adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition. In addition, the BDC market may be more sensitive to
changes in interest rates or other factors and to the extent the BDC market trades down, our shares might likewise be affected. If the fair value of our assets
declines substantially, we may fail to maintain the asset coverage ratios imposed upon us by the 1940 Act. Any such failure would affect our ability to issue
securities, including borrowings, and pay dividends, which could materially impair our business operations. Our liquidity could be impaired further by an
inability to access the capital markets or to consummate new borrowing facilities to provide capital for normal operations, including new originations. In
recent years, reflecting concern about the stability of the financial markets, many lenders and institutional investors have reduced or ceased providing funding
to borrowers.

 
There may be no future Spin-Off transactions.
 

No assurances can be made that any Spin-Off transaction will occur, and investors should not rely on a future Spin-Off transaction as a liquidity
option. Because GSVGC would be managing each of us, the Public Fund and any Liquidating Fund, and the 1940 Act prohibits entities under common
control from engaging in certain transactions, we will likely be required to obtain exemptive and/or no-action relief from the SEC to permit us to transfer
assets to the Public Fund and/or any Liquidating Fund, as well as with respect to other aspects relating to a Spin-Off transaction. There can be no assurance
that we will be able to obtain such exemptive and/or no-action relief from the SEC. If we are unable to do so, then we will continue our operations in the
manner otherwise set forth in this annual report on Form 10-K and in the offering documents related to the Private Offering. Alternatively, if we do obtain
such exemptive and/or no-action relief, our Board of Directors would determine whether (and when) to effectuate any Spin-Off transaction, subject to the
receipt of any required stockholder approvals. The Company may exclude any investor from participating in a Spin-Off transaction if, in the reasonable
discretion of the Company, there is a substantial likelihood that such investor’s exchange of shares of our common stock at such time would cause us, the
Public Fund or a Liquidating Fund to (i) be in violation of, or noncompliance with, any law or regulation to which such entity is or would be subject or (ii) be
deemed to hold “plan assets” under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code because the investments of Benefit Plan Investors are deemed to be significant. If a
Spin-Off transaction does occur, although it is expected that any incentive fee payable in connection with the Spin-Off transaction will be calculated using the
methodology set forth in “Business — About GSVGC” in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K (taking into account the pro rata portion of our assets and liabilities
relating to shares of our common stock being exchanged on an as-liquidated basis), the final terms of a Spin-Off transaction will be determined at the time of
any such Spin-Off transaction, and there is no guarantee that such terms will be favorable to investors. See “Business — Investor Optionality; Potential Spin-
Offs” in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K for more information. While we expect that a Spin-Off transaction would likely be taxable to a stockholder that
chooses to participate in the Spin-Off transaction, we cannot at this time predict the specific tax consequences of any future Spin-Off transaction that may
occur.
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Terrorist attacks, acts of war or natural disasters may affect any market for our common stock, impact the businesses in which we invest and harm our
business, operating results and financial condition.
 

Terrorist acts, acts of war or natural disasters may disrupt our operations, as well as the operations of the businesses in which we invest. Such acts
have created, and continue to create, economic and political uncertainties and have contributed to global economic instability. Future terrorist activities,
military or security operations, or natural disasters could further weaken the domestic/global economies and create additional uncertainties, which may
negatively impact the businesses in which we invest directly or indirectly and, in turn, could have a material adverse impact on our business, operating results
and financial condition. Losses from terrorist attacks and natural disasters are generally uninsurable.

 
For any period that we do not qualify as a “publicly offered regulated investment company,” as defined in the Code, stockholders will be taxed as though
they received a distribution of some of our expenses.

 
A “publicly offered regulated investment company” is a RIC whose shares are either (i) continuously offered pursuant to a public offering,

(ii) regularly traded on an established securities market or (iii) held by at least 500 persons at all times during the taxable year. We currently do not qualify as
a publicly offered RIC; we may qualify as a publicly offered RIC for future taxable years. For any period that we are not a publicly offered RIC, a non-
corporate stockholder’s allocable portion of our affected expenses, including our management fees, is treated as an additional distribution to the stockholder
and is deductible by such stockholder only to the extent permitted under the limitations described below. For non-corporate stockholders, including
individuals, trusts, and estates, significant limitations generally apply to the deductibility of certain expenses of a non-publicly offered RIC, including
advisory fees. In particular, these expenses, referred to as miscellaneous itemized deductions, are deductible to an individual only to the extent they exceed
2% of such a stockholder’s adjusted gross income, and are not deductible for alternative minimum tax purposes.
 
We are subject to risks in using custodians, administrators and other agents.
 

We depend on the services of custodians, administrators and other agents to carry out certain securities transactions and administrative services for
us. In the event of the insolvency of a custodian, we may not be able to recover equivalent assets in full as we will rank among the custodian’s unsecured
creditors in relation to assets which the custodian borrows, lends or otherwise uses. In addition, our cash held with a custodian may not be segregated from the
custodian’s own cash, and we therefore may rank as unsecured creditors in relation thereto. The inability to recover assets from the custodian could have a
material impact on our performance.
 
We will expend significant financial and other resources to comply with the requirements of being a public reporting entity.
 

As a public reporting entity, we are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and certain requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
These requirements may place a strain on our systems and resources. The Exchange Act requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with
respect to our business and financial condition. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting, which are discussed below. See “Business — Regulation as a Business Development Company” in Part I, Item 1 of this Form
10-K. In order to maintain and improve the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls, significant resources and
management oversight is required. We will continue to implement procedures, processes, policies and practices for the purpose of addressing the standards
and requirements applicable to public companies. These activities may divert management’s attention from other business concerns, which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. We expect to incur significant additional annual expenses
related to these steps and, among other things, directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, director fees, reporting requirements of the SEC, transfer agent fees,
additional administrative expenses payable to our Administrator to compensate them for hiring additional accounting, legal and administrative personnel,
increased auditing and legal fees and similar expenses.
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The systems and resources necessary to comply with public company reporting requirements will increase further once we cease to be an “emerging

growth company” under the JOBS Act. As long as we remain an emerging growth company, we intend to take advantage of certain exemptions from various
reporting requirements that are applicable to other public companies, including, but not limited to, not being required to comply with the auditor attestation
requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We will remain an emerging growth company for up to five years following an IPO, if any, although
if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30th before that time, we would cease to be an
emerging growth company as of the following December 31st.
 
We do not currently have comprehensive documentation of our internal controls and have not yet tested our internal controls in accordance with Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and failure to achieve and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could have a material adverse effect on our business and the value of our common stock.
 

We have not previously been required to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including the internal control evaluation and
certification requirements of Section 404 of that statute (“Section 404”), and we will not be required to comply with all of those requirements until we have
been subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act for a specified period of time. Accordingly, our internal control over financial reporting do not
currently meet all of the standards contemplated by Section 404 that we will eventually be required to meet. We are in the process of addressing our internal
control over financial reporting and are establishing formal procedures, policies, processes and practices related to financial reporting and to the identification
of key financial reporting risks, assessment of their potential impact and linkage of those risks to specific areas and activities within our organization.

 
Additionally, we have begun the process of documenting our internal control procedures to satisfy the requirements of Section 404, which requires

annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Our independent registered public accounting firm will
not be required to formally attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting until the later of the year following our first annual report
required to be filed with the SEC, or the date we are no longer an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act. Because we do not currently have
comprehensive documentation of our internal controls and have not yet tested our internal controls in accordance with Section 404, we cannot conclude in
accordance with Section 404 that we do not have a material weakness in our internal controls or a combination of significant deficiencies that could result in
the conclusion that we have a material weakness in our internal controls. As a public entity, we will be required to complete our initial assessment in a timely
manner. If we are not able to implement the requirements of Section 404 in a timely manner or with adequate compliance, our operations, financial reporting
or financial results could be adversely affected. Matters impacting our internal controls may cause us to be unable to report our financial information on a
timely basis and thereby subject us to adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions by the SEC or violations of applicable stock exchange listing
rules, and result in a breach of the covenants under the agreements governing any of our financing arrangements. There could also be a negative reaction in
the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our financial
statements could also suffer if we or our independent registered public accounting firm were to report a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting. This could materially adversely affect us and lead to a decline in the value of our common stock.
 
Stockholders may be subject to filing requirements under the Exchange Act as a result of an investment in us.

 
Because our common stock is registered under the Exchange Act, ownership information for any person who beneficially owns 5% or more of our

common stock must be disclosed in a Schedule 13D or other filings with the SEC. Beneficial ownership for these purposes is determined in accordance with
the rules of the SEC, and includes having voting or investment power over the securities. In some circumstances, investors who choose to reinvest their
dividends may see their percentage stake in us increased to more than 5%, thus triggering this filing requirement. Although we provide in our quarterly
financial statements the amount of outstanding stock and the amount of the investor’s stock, the responsibility for determining the filing obligation and
preparing the filing remains with the investor. In addition, owners of 10% or more of our common stock are subject to reporting obligations under
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act.
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Stockholders may be subject to the short-swing profits rules under the Exchange Act as a result of an investment in us.
 

Persons with the right to appoint a director or who hold more than 10% of a class of our shares may be subject to Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act,
which recaptures for the benefit of the issuer profits from the purchase and sale of registered stock within a six-month period.
 
Investors in the Private Offering are subject to transfer restrictions.
 

Other than in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, investors who participate in the Private Offering may not sell, assign, transfer or otherwise
dispose of (in each case, a “Transfer”) any common stock unless (i) we give consent and (ii) the Transfer is made in accordance with applicable securities
laws. No Transfer will be effectuated except by registration of the Transfer on our books. Each transferee must agree to be bound by these restrictions and all
other obligations as an investor in us.
 
Provisions of the MGCL and of our charter and bylaws could deter takeover attempts and have an adverse impact on the price of our common stock.
 

The MGCL and our charter and bylaws contain provisions that may discourage, delay or make more difficult a change in control of us or the removal
of our directors. We are subject to the Maryland Business Combination Act, subject to any applicable requirements of the 1940 Act. Our Board of Directors
has adopted a resolution exempting from the Business Combination Act any business combination between us and any other person, subject to prior approval
of such business combination by our Board of Directors, including approval by a majority of our disinterested directors. If the resolution exempting business
combinations is repealed or our Board of Directors does not approve a business combination, the Business Combination Act may discourage third parties
from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating such an offer. Our bylaws exempt from the Maryland Control Share
Acquisition Act (the “Control Share Act”) acquisitions of our stock by any person. If we amend our bylaws to repeal the exemption from the Control Share
Act, the Control Share Act also may make it more difficult for a third party to obtain control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating such a
transaction. However, we will amend our bylaws to be subject to the Control Share Act only if our Board of Directors determines that it would be in our best
interests and if the SEC staff does not object to our determination that our being subject to the Control Share Act does not conflict with the 1940 Act. The
SEC staff has issued informal guidance setting forth its position that certain provisions of the Control Share Act would, if implemented, violate Section 18(i)
of the 1940 Act.

 
We have also adopted measures that may make it difficult for a third party to obtain control of us, including provisions of our charter classifying our

Board of Directors in three classes serving staggered three-year terms, and authorizing our Board of Directors to classify or reclassify shares of our stock in
one or more classes or series, to cause the issuance of additional shares of our stock, to amend our charter without stockholder approval and to increase or
decrease the number of shares of stock that we have authority to issue. These provisions, as well as other provisions of our charter and bylaws, may delay,
defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might otherwise be in the best interests of our stockholders.
 
Changes in laws or regulations governing our operations may adversely affect our business.
 

Legal, tax and regulatory changes could occur that may adversely affect us. For example, from time to time the market for private equity transactions
has been (and is currently being) adversely affected by a decrease in the availability of senior and subordinated financings for transactions, in part in response
to credit market disruptions and/or regulatory pressures on providers of financing to reduce or eliminate their exposure to the risks involved in such
transactions.

 
In addition, as private equity firms become more influential participants in the U.S. and global financial markets and economy generally, there

recently has been pressure for greater governmental scrutiny and/or regulation of the private equity industry, in part. It is uncertain as to what form and in
what jurisdictions such enhanced scrutiny and/or regulation, if any, on the private equity industry may ultimately take. Therefore, there can be no assurance as
to whether any such scrutiny or initiatives will have an adverse impact on the private equity industry, including our ability to effect operating improvements
or restructurings of its portfolio companies or otherwise achieve its objectives.
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Many of the provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act have extended implementation periods and delayed effective dates and will require extensive

rulemaking by regulatory authorities. While the full impact of the Dodd-Frank Act on us and our portfolio companies may not be known for an extended
period of time, the Dodd-Frank Act, including future rules that may be adopted implementing its provisions and the interpretation of those rules, along with
other legislative and regulatory proposals directed at the financial services industry and the financial markets (including derivative markets) or affecting
taxation that are proposed or pending in the U.S. Congress, may negatively impact the operations, cash flows or financial condition of us or our portfolio
companies, impose additional costs on us or our portfolio companies, restrict or further regulate certain of our activities, including derivative trading and
hedging activities, intensify the regulatory supervision of us or our portfolio companies or otherwise adversely affect our business or the business of our
portfolio companies.

 
In addition, we and our portfolio companies are subject to applicable local, state and U.S. federal laws and regulations, including, without limitation,

U.S. federal immigration laws and regulations. New legislation may be enacted or new interpretations, rulings or regulations could be adopted, including
those governing the types of investments we are permitted to make, any of which could harm us and our stockholders, potentially with retroactive effect.
Additionally, any changes to the laws and regulations governing our operations relating to permitted investments may cause us to alter our investment strategy
in order to avail ourselves of new or different opportunities. Such changes could result in material differences to the strategies and plans set forth herein and
may result in our investment focus shifting from the areas of expertise of GSVGC’s investment team to other types of investments in which the investment
team may have less expertise or little or no experience. Thus, any such changes, if they occur, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations
and the value of your investment.

 
Risks Related to Our Investments
 
Our investments are very risky and highly speculative.
 

We intend to invest primarily in secured loans and select equity investments issued by fast-growing companies. We intend to invest primarily in
secured loans made to companies whose debt has generally not been rated by any rating agency, although we would expect such debt, if rated, to fall below
investment grade. Securities rated below investment grade are often referred to as “high yield” securities and “junk bonds,” and are considered “high risk”
and speculative in nature compared to debt instruments that are rated above investment grade.

 
Senior Secured Loans. There is a risk that the collateral securing our loans may decrease in value over time, may be difficult to sell in a timely

manner, may be difficult to appraise and may fluctuate in value based upon the success of the business and market conditions, including as a result of the
inability of the portfolio company to raise additional capital. In some circumstances, our liens on the collateral securing our loans could be subordinated to
claims of other creditors. In addition, deterioration in a portfolio company’s financial condition and prospects, including its inability to raise additional capital,
may be accompanied by deterioration in the value of the collateral for the loan. Consequently, the fact that a loan is secured does not guarantee that we will
receive principal and interest payments according to the loan’s terms, or at all, or that we will be able to collect on the loan should we be compelled to enforce
our remedies.

 
Second Lien Secured Loans. In structuring our loans, we may subordinate our security interest in certain assets of a borrower to another lender,

usually a bank. In these situations, all of the risks identified above in Senior Secured Loans would be true and additional risks inherent in holding a junior
security position would also be present, including, but not limited to those outlined below in “Second priority liens on collateral securing loans that we make
to our portfolio companies may be subject to control by senior creditors with first priority liens. If there is a default, the value of the collateral may not be
sufficient to repay in full both the first priority creditors and us.”
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Equity Investments. When we invest in secured loans, we may acquire equity securities as well. In addition, we may invest directly in the equity

securities of portfolio companies. The equity interests we receive may not appreciate in value and may in fact decline in value. Accordingly, we may not be
able to realize gains from our equity interests, and any gains that we do realize on the disposition of any equity interests may not be sufficient to offset any
other losses we experience.

 
In addition, investing in small, fast-growing, private companies involves a number of significant risks, including the following:
 
· these companies may have limited financial resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under their debt securities that we hold. This

failure to meet obligations may be accompanied by a deterioration in the value of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of us realizing
any guarantees we may have obtained in connection with our investment;
 

· they typically have shorter operating histories, narrower product lines and smaller market shares than larger businesses, which tend to render
them more vulnerable to competitors’ actions, market conditions, and general economic downturns;
 

· they are more likely to depend on the management talents and efforts of a small group of persons; therefore, the death, disability, resignation or
termination of one or more of these persons could have a material adverse impact on our portfolio company and, in turn, on us;
 

· they generally have less predictable operating results, may from time to time be parties to litigation, may be engaged in rapidly changing
businesses with products subject to a substantial risk of obsolescence, and may require substantial additional capital to support their operations,
finance expansion, or maintain their competitive position. In addition, our executive officers, directors and GSVGC may, in the ordinary course
of business, be named as defendants in litigation arising from our investments in the portfolio companies; and
 

· they may have difficulty accessing the capital markets to meet future capital needs, which may limit their ability to grow or to repay their
outstanding debt upon maturity.

 
Investing in small, fast-growing companies involves a high degree of risk, and our financial results may be affected adversely if one or more of our
significant portfolio investments defaults on its loans or fails to perform as we expect.
 

We expect that our portfolio will consist primarily of debt and equity investments in small privately owned companies. Investing in these companies
involves a number of significant risks. Typically, the debt in which we intend to invest will not be initially rated by any rating agency; however, we believe
that if such investments were rated, they would be below investment grade. Securities rated below investment grade are often referred to as “high yield”
securities and “junk bonds,” and are considered “high risk” and speculative in nature compared to debt instruments that are rated above investment grade.
Compared to larger publicly owned companies, these companies may be in a weaker financial position and may experience wider variations in their operating
results, which may make them more vulnerable to economic downturns. Typically, these companies need more capital to compete; however, their access to
capital is limited and their cost of capital is often higher than that of their competitors. Our portfolio companies face intense competition from larger
companies with greater financial, technical, and marketing resources and their success typically depends on the managerial talents and efforts of an individual
or a small group of persons. Therefore, the loss of any of its key employees could affect a portfolio company’s ability to compete effectively and harm its
financial condition. Further, some of these companies conduct business in regulated industries that are susceptible to regulatory changes. These factors could
impair the cash flow of our portfolio companies and result in other events, such as bankruptcy. These events could limit a portfolio company’s ability to repay
its obligations to us, which may have an adverse effect on the return on, or the recovery of, our investment in these businesses. Deterioration in a borrower’s
financial condition and prospects may be accompanied by deterioration in the value of the loan’s collateral.

 
Some of these companies cannot obtain financing from public capital markets or from traditional credit sources, such as commercial banks.

Accordingly, loans made to these types of companies pose a higher default risk than loans made to companies that have access to traditional credit sources.
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An investment strategy focused primarily on privately held companies presents certain challenges, including the lack of available information about these
companies and a greater vulnerability to economic downturns.
 

We intend to invest primarily in privately held companies. Generally, little public information exists about these companies, and we are required to
rely on the ability of GSVGC’s investment team to obtain adequate information to evaluate the potential returns from investing in these companies. If we are
unable to uncover all material information about these companies, we may not make a fully informed investment decision, and we may lose money on our
investments. Also, privately held companies frequently have less diverse product lines and smaller market presence than larger competitors. These factors
could adversely affect our investment returns as compared to companies investing primarily in the securities of public companies.
 
Our portfolio companies may incur debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, our investments in such companies.
 

We intend to invest primarily in senior secured loans issued by private companies. Our portfolio companies may have, or may be permitted to incur,
other debt that ranks equally with, or in some cases senior to, the debt in which we invest. By their terms, such debt instruments may entitle the holders to
receive payment of interest or principal on or before the dates on which we are entitled to receive payments with respect to the debt instruments in which we
invest. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization, or bankruptcy of a portfolio company, holders of debt instruments ranking
senior to our investment in that portfolio company would typically be entitled to receive payment in full before we receive any distribution. After repaying
such senior creditors, such portfolio company may not have any remaining assets to use for repaying its obligation to us. In the case of debt ranking equally
with debt instruments in which we invest, we would have to share on an equal basis any distributions with other creditors holding such debt in the event of an
insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization, or bankruptcy of the relevant portfolio company.
 
There may be circumstances in which our debt investments could be subordinated to claims of other creditors or we could be subject to lender liability
claims.
 

Even though we intend to typically structure most of our investments as secured loans, if one of our portfolio companies were to go bankrupt,
depending on the facts and circumstances, and based upon principles of equitable subordination as defined by existing case law, a bankruptcy court could
subordinate all or a portion of our claim to that of other creditors and transfer any lien securing such subordinated claim to the bankruptcy estate. The
principles of equitable subordination defined by case law have generally indicated that a claim may be subordinated only if its holder is guilty of misconduct
or where the senior loan is re-characterized as an equity investment and the senior lender has actually provided significant managerial assistance to the
bankrupt debtor. We may also be subject to lender liability claims for actions taken by us with respect to a borrower’s business or instances where we exercise
control over the borrower. It is possible that we could become subject to a lender’s liability claim, including as a result of actions taken in rendering
significant managerial assistance or actions to compel and collect payments from the borrower outside the ordinary course of business.
 
Second priority liens on collateral securing loans that we make to our portfolio companies may be subject to control by senior creditors with first priority
liens. If there is a default, the value of the collateral may not be sufficient to repay in full both the first priority creditors and us.
 

Certain loans that we make will be secured by a second priority security interest in the same collateral pledged by a portfolio company to secure
senior debt owed by the portfolio company to commercial banks or other traditional lenders. Often the senior lender has procured covenants from the
portfolio company prohibiting the incurrence of additional secured debt without the senior lender’s consent. Prior to and as a condition of permitting the
portfolio company to borrow money from us secured by the same collateral pledged to the senior lender, the senior lender may require assurances that it will
control the disposition of any collateral in the event of bankruptcy or other default. In many such cases, the senior lender will require us to enter into an
intercreditor agreement prior to permitting the portfolio company to borrow from us. Typically the intercreditor agreements we will be requested to execute
will expressly subordinate our debt instruments to those held by the senior lender and further provide that the senior lender will control: (1) the
commencement of foreclosure or other proceedings to liquidate and collect on the collateral; (2) the nature, timing, and conduct of foreclosure or other
collection proceedings; (3) the amendment of any collateral document; (4) the release of the security interests in respect of any collateral; and (5) the waiver
of defaults under any security agreement. Because of the control we may cede to senior lenders under intercreditor agreements we may enter, we may be
unable to realize the proceeds of any collateral securing some of our loans.
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An economic recession could impair our portfolio companies and harm our operating results.
 

Certain of our portfolio companies may be susceptible to an economic recession and may be unable to repay our loans during such a period of
economic instability. Therefore, assets may become non-performing and the value of our portfolio may decrease during such a period. Adverse economic
conditions also may decrease the value of collateral securing some of our loans and the value of our equity investments. An economic recession could lead to
financial losses in our portfolio and a decrease in revenue, net income and the value of our assets.

 
A portfolio company’s failure to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by us or other lenders could lead to defaults and, potentially, to

termination of its loans and foreclosure on its secured assets, which could trigger cross-defaults under other agreements and jeopardize our portfolio
company’s ability to meet its obligations under the debt securities that we hold. We may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon default
or to negotiate new terms with a defaulting portfolio company. Any extension or restructuring of our loans could adversely affect our cash flow. In addition, if
one of our portfolio companies were to go bankrupt, even though we may have structured our interest as senior debt, depending on the facts and
circumstances, including the extent to which we actually provided managerial assistance to that portfolio company, a bankruptcy court might re-characterize
our debt holding and subordinate all or a portion of our claim to those of other creditors.
 
The lack of liquidity in our investments may adversely affect our business.
 

We intend to typically invest in companies whose securities are not publicly traded, and whose securities will be subject to legal and other
restrictions on resale or will otherwise be less liquid than publicly traded securities. There is no established trading market for the securities in which we
intend to invest. The illiquidity of these investments may make it difficult for us to sell these investments when desired. In addition, if we are required to
liquidate all or a portion of our portfolio quickly, we may realize significantly less than the value at which we had previously recorded these investments. As a
result, we do not expect to achieve liquidity in our investments in the near-term. Our investments are typically subject to contractual or legal restrictions on
resale or are otherwise illiquid because there is no established trading market for such investments. The illiquidity of our investments may make it difficult for
us to dispose of them at a favorable price, and we may suffer losses as a result.
 
We have not yet identified all of the portfolio companies we will invest in.

 
We have not yet identified all of the potential investments for our portfolio that we will acquire with the proceeds of the Private Offering. Our

stockholders will have no input with respect to investment decisions. These factors increase the uncertainty, and thus the risk, of investing in our common
stock.
 
Our failure to make follow-on investments in our portfolio companies could impair the value of our portfolio.
 

Following an initial investment in a portfolio company, we may make additional investments in that portfolio company as “follow-on” investments,
in order to: (1) increase or maintain in whole or in part our equity ownership percentage; (2) exercise warrants, options, or convertible securities that were
acquired in the original or a subsequent financing; or (3) attempt to preserve or enhance the value of our investment. However, we may elect not to make
follow-on investments or lack sufficient funds to make those investments. We will have the discretion to make any follow-on investments, subject to the
availability of capital resources. The failure to make follow-on investments may, in some circumstances, jeopardize the continued viability of a portfolio
company and our initial investment or may result in a missed opportunity for us to increase our participation in a successful operation. Even if we have
sufficient capital to make a desired follow-on investment, we may elect not to make a follow-on investment because we do not want to increase our
concentration of risk, we prefer other opportunities, we are subject to BDC requirements that would prevent such follow-on investments, or the follow-on
investment would affect our qualification as a RIC.
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Our portfolio may lack diversification among portfolio companies, which subjects us to a risk of significant loss if one or more of these companies default
on their obligations under any of their debt instruments.
 

Our portfolio may hold a limited number of portfolio companies. Beyond the asset diversification requirements associated with our qualification as a
RIC, we do not have fixed guidelines for diversification, and our investments may be concentrated in relatively few companies. As our portfolio is less
diversified than the portfolios of some larger funds, we are more susceptible to failure if a single loan fails. Similarly, the aggregate returns we realize may be
significantly adversely affected if a small number of investments perform poorly or if we need to write down the value of any one investment.
 
Our portfolio may be concentrated in a limited number of industries, which will subject us to a risk of significant loss if there is a downturn in a
particular industry in which a number of our investments are concentrated.
 

Our portfolio may be concentrated in a limited number of industries. We invest primarily in companies focused in technology, life sciences, business
services, industrial companies and other high growth industries. A downturn in any particular industry in which we are invested could significantly impact the
aggregate returns we realize.
 
We invest in sectors including life sciences, technology and other high-growth industries, which are subject to specific risks related to each.
 

We intend to invest the largest portions of our portfolio in life sciences, technology and other high-growth industries. We anticipate that our life
sciences portfolio will consist primarily of companies that commercialize and integrate products in life sciences-related industries, including biotechnology,
pharmaceuticals, diagnostics and medical devices. There are risks in investing in companies that target life sciences-related industries, including, but not
limited to, the uncertainty of timing and results of clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of products; failure to obtain any required regulatory
approval of products; failure to develop manufacturing processes that meet regulatory standards; competition, in particular from companies that develop rival
products; and the ability to protect proprietary technology. Adverse developments in any of these areas may adversely affect the value of our life sciences
portfolio.

 
This life sciences industry is dominated by large multinational corporations with substantial greater financial and technical resources than generally

will be available to our portfolio companies. Such large corporations may be better able to adapt to the challenges presented by continuing rapid and major
scientific, regulatory and technological changes as well as related changes in governmental and third-party reimbursement policies.

 
Within the life sciences industry, the development of products generally is a costly and time-consuming process. Many highly promising products

ultimately fail to prove to be safe and effective. There can be no assurance that the research or product development efforts of our portfolio companies or
those of their collaborative partners will be successfully completed, that specific products can be manufactured in adequate quantities at an acceptable cost
and with appropriate quality, or that such products can be successfully marketed or achieve customer acceptance. There can be no assurance that a product
will be relevant and/or be competitive with products from other companies following the costly, time-consuming process of its development.

 
The research, development, manufacturing, and marketing of products developed by some life sciences companies are subject to extensive regulation

by numerous government authorities in the United States and other countries. There can be no assurance that products developed by the portfolio companies
will ever be approved by such governmental authorities.

 
Many life sciences portfolio companies will depend heavily upon intellectual property for their competitive position. There can be no assurance that

the portfolio companies will be able to obtain patents for key inventions. Moreover, within the life sciences industry, patent challenges are frequent. Even if
patents held by the portfolio companies are upheld, any challenges thereto may be costly and distracting to the portfolio companies’ management.
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Some of the life sciences portfolio companies will be at least partially dependent for their success upon governmental and third-party reimbursement

policies that are under constant review and are subject to change at any time. Any such change could adversely affect the viability of one or more portfolio
companies.

 
We also intend to invest in technology-related companies. Our portfolio companies may address needs in technology-related industries and markets.

We expect that our technology portfolio will consist of companies that commercialize and integrate products targeted at technology-related markets. There are
risks in investing in companies that target technology-related markets, including rapid and sometimes dramatic price erosion of products, the reliance on
capital and debt markets to finance large capital outlays, including fabrication facilities, the reliance on partners outside of the United States, particularly in
Asia, and inherent cyclicality of the technology market in general. Additionally, technology-related companies are currently out of favor with many venture
capital firms. Therefore, access to capital may be difficult or impossible for companies in our portfolio that are pursuing these markets.
 
Technology-related sectors in which we invest are subject to many risks, including volatility, intense competition, decreasing life cycles, product
obsolescence, changing consumer preferences and periodic downturns.
 

Given the experience of GSVGC’s senior investment professionals within the technology space, a number of the companies in which we intend to
invest operate in technology-related sectors. The revenue, income (or losses) and valuations of technology-related companies can and often do fluctuate
suddenly and dramatically. In addition, because of rapid technological change, the average selling prices of products and some services provided by
technology-related sectors have historically decreased over their productive lives. As a result, the average selling prices of products and services offered by
our portfolio companies that operated in technology-related sectors may decrease over time, which could adversely affect their operating results and,
correspondingly, the value of any securities that we may hold. This could, in turn, materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.
 
The main industry sectors around which we intend to develop our investments are all capital intensive.
 

The industry sectors in which we intend to make investments, life science, technology, business services and industrial, are each capital intensive.
Currently, financing for capital-intensive companies remains difficult. In some successful companies, we believe we may need to invest more than we
currently have planned to invest in these companies. There can be no assurance that we will have the capital necessary to make such investments. In addition,
investing greater than planned amounts in our portfolio companies could limit our ability to pursue new investments and fund follow-on investments. Both of
these situations could cause us to miss investment opportunities or limit our ability to protect existing investments from dilution or other actions or events that
would decrease the value and potential return from these investments.
 
Because we generally do not hold controlling equity interests in our portfolio companies, we may not be in a position to exercise control over our portfolio
companies or to prevent decisions by management of our portfolio companies that could decrease the value of our investments.
 

Although we may do so in the future, we typically do not hold controlling equity positions in our portfolio companies. As a result, we are subject to
the risk that a portfolio company may make business decisions with which we disagree, and that the management and/or stockholders of a portfolio company
may take risks or otherwise act in ways that are adverse to our interests. Due to the lack of liquidity of the debt and equity investments that we typically hold
in our portfolio companies, we may not be able to dispose of our investments in the event we disagree with the actions of a portfolio company and may
therefore suffer a decrease in the value of our investments.
 
Defaults by our portfolio companies will harm our operating results.
 

A portfolio company’s failure to satisfy financial or operating covenants imposed by us or other lenders could lead to defaults and, potentially,
termination of its loans and foreclosure on its secured assets, which could trigger cross-defaults under other agreements and jeopardize a portfolio company’s
ability to meet its obligations under the debt or equity securities that we hold. We may incur expenses to the extent necessary to seek recovery upon default or
to negotiate new terms—which may include the waiver of certain financial covenants—with a defaulting portfolio company. These expenses could materially
and adversely affect our operating results and cash flow.
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If our portfolio companies are unable to commercialize their technologies, products, business concepts or services, the returns on our investments could
be adversely affected.
 

The value of our investments in our portfolio companies may decline if they are not able to commercialize their technology, products, business
concepts or services. Additionally, although some of our portfolio companies may already have a commercially successful product or product line at the time
of our investment, information technology, e-commerce, life science, and energy technology-related products and services often have a more limited market
or life span than products in other industries. Thus, the ultimate success of these companies often depends on their ability to continually innovate in
increasingly competitive markets. If they are unable to do so, our investment returns could be adversely affected and their ability to service their debt
obligations to us over the term of the loan could be impaired. Our portfolio companies may be unable to successfully acquire or develop any new products,
and the intellectual property they currently hold may not remain viable. Even if our portfolio companies are able to develop commercially viable products, the
market for new products and services is highly competitive and rapidly changing. Neither our portfolio companies nor we will have any control over the pace
of technology development. Commercial success is difficult to predict, and the marketing efforts of our portfolio companies may not be successful.

 
If our portfolio companies are unable to protect their intellectual property rights, our business and prospects could be harmed, and if portfolio companies
are required to devote significant resources to protecting their intellectual property rights, the value of our investment could be reduced.
 

Our future success and competitive position will depend in part upon the ability of our portfolio companies to obtain, maintain and protect
proprietary technology used in their products and services. The intellectual property held by our portfolio companies often represents a substantial portion of
the collateral securing our investments and/or constitutes a significant portion of the portfolio companies’ value and may be available in a downside scenario
to repay our loans. Our portfolio companies rely, in part, on patent, trade secret, and trademark law to protect that technology, but competitors may
misappropriate their intellectual property, and disputes as to ownership of intellectual property may arise. Portfolio companies may, from time to time, be
required to institute litigation to enforce their patents, copyrights, or other intellectual property rights; protect their trade secrets; determine the validity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others; or defend against claims of infringement. Such litigation could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources.
Similarly, if a portfolio company is found to infringe or misappropriate a third party’s patent or other proprietary rights, it could be required to pay damages to
the third party, alter its products or processes, obtain a license from the third party, and/or cease activities utilizing the proprietary rights, including making or
selling products utilizing the proprietary rights. Any of the foregoing events could negatively affect both the portfolio company’s ability to service our debt
investment and the value of any related debt and equity securities that we own, as well as any collateral securing our investment.
 
Any unrealized losses we experience on our loan portfolio may be an indication of future realized losses, which could reduce our income available for
distribution.
 

As a BDC, we are required to carry our investments at market value or, if no market value is ascertainable, at the fair value as determined in good
faith by our Board of Directors. Decreases in the market values or fair values of our investments will be recorded as unrealized depreciation. Any unrealized
losses in our loan portfolio could be an indication of a portfolio company’s inability to meet its repayment obligations to us with respect to the affected loans.
This could result in realized losses in the future and ultimately in reductions of our income available for distribution in future periods.
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Prepayments of our debt investments by our portfolio companies could adversely impact our results of operations and reduce our return on equity.
 

We are subject to the risk that the investments we make in our portfolio companies may be repaid prior to maturity. When this occurs, we will
generally reinvest these proceeds in temporary investments, pending future investment in new portfolio companies. These temporary investments will
typically have substantially lower yields than the debt being prepaid and we could experience significant delays in reinvesting these amounts. Any future
investment in a new portfolio company may also be at lower yields than the debt that was repaid. As a result, our results of operations could be materially
adversely affected if one or more of our portfolio companies elect to prepay amounts owed to us. Additionally, prepayments could negatively impact our
return on equity.
 
Our investments in leveraged portfolio companies may be risky, and you could lose all or part of your investment.
 

Investment in leveraged companies involves a number of significant risks. Leveraged companies in which we invest may have limited financial
resources and may be unable to meet their obligations under their loans and debt securities that we hold. Such developments may be accompanied by
deterioration in the value of any collateral and a reduction in the likelihood of our realizing any guarantees that we may have obtained in connection with our
investment. Smaller leveraged companies also may have less predictable operating results and may require substantial additional capital to support their
operations, finance their expansion or maintain their competitive position.
 
We may not realize gains from our equity investments.
 

Investments in equity securities involve a number of significant risks, including the risk of further dilution as a result of additional issuances,
inability to access additional capital and failure to pay current distributions. Investments in preferred securities involve special risks, such as the risk of
deferred distributions, credit risk, illiquidity and limited voting rights. In addition, we may from time to time make non-control, equity investments in
portfolio companies. Our goal is ultimately to realize gains upon our disposition of such equity interests. However, the equity interests we receive may not
appreciate in value and, in fact, may decline in value. Accordingly, we may not be able to realize gains from our equity interests, and any gains that we do
realize on the disposition of any equity interests may not be sufficient to offset any other losses we experience. We also may be unable to realize any value if a
portfolio company does not have a liquidity event, such as a sale of the business, recapitalization or public offering, which would allow us to sell the
underlying equity interests. We will sometimes seek puts or similar rights to give us the right to sell our equity securities back to the portfolio company issuer.
We may be unable to exercise these put rights for the consideration provided in our investment documents if the issuer is in financial distress.
 
We may expose ourselves to risks if we engage in hedging transactions.
 

If we engage in hedging transactions, we may expose ourselves to risks associated with such transactions. We may utilize instruments such as
forward contracts, currency options and interest rate swaps, caps, collars and floors to seek to hedge against fluctuations in the relative values of our portfolio
positions from changes in currency exchange rates and market interest rates. Hedging against a decline in the values of our portfolio positions does not
eliminate the possibility of fluctuations in the values of such positions or prevent losses if the values of such positions decline. However, such hedging can
establish other positions designed to gain from those same developments, thereby offsetting the decline in the value of such portfolio positions. Such hedging
transactions may also limit the opportunity for gain if the values of the underlying portfolio positions increase. It may not be possible to hedge against an
exchange rate or interest rate fluctuation that is so generally anticipated that we are not able to enter into a hedging transaction at an acceptable price.
Moreover, for a variety of reasons, we may not seek to establish a perfect correlation between such hedging instruments and the portfolio holdings being
hedged. Any such imperfect correlation may prevent us from achieving the intended hedge and expose us to risk of loss. In addition, it may not be possible to
hedge fully or perfectly against currency fluctuations affecting the value of securities denominated in non-U.S. currencies because the value of those
securities is likely to fluctuate as a result of factors not related to currency fluctuations.
 
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

 
None.
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Item 2. Properties.

 
Our corporate headquarters are located at The Pioneer Building, 2925 Woodside Road, Woodside, CA 94062 and are provided by the Administrator

in accordance with the terms of the Administration Agreement. We do not own any real estate. We believe that our office facilities are suitable and adequate
for our business as it is contemplated to be conducted.
 
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
 

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings, nor, to our knowledge, is any material legal proceeding threatened against us. From
time to time, we may be a party to certain legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings relating to the enforcement of our rights
under contracts with our portfolio companies. Our business is also subject to extensive regulation, which may result in regulatory proceedings against us.
While the outcome of these legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not expect that these proceedings will have a material effect upon our
financial condition or results of operations.
 
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

 
Not applicable.
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PART II

 
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.
 
Market Information
 

Until an IPO of shares of our common stock, our outstanding common stock will be offered and sold in transactions exempt from registration under
the Securities Act under Section 4(2) and Regulation D, as well as under Regulation S under the Securities Act. There is currently no established public
trading market for our common stock currently, nor can we give any assurance that one will develop.

 
Because shares of our common stock are being acquired by investors in one or more transactions “not involving a public offering,” they are

“restricted securities” and may be required to be held indefinitely. Our common shares may not be sold, transferred, assigned, pledged or otherwise disposed
of unless (i) our consent is granted, and (ii) the common shares are registered under applicable securities laws or specifically exempted from registration (in
which case the stockholder may, at our option, be required to provide us with a legal opinion, in form and substance satisfactory to us, that registration is not
required). Accordingly, an investor must be willing to bear the economic risk of investment in our common shares until we are liquidated. No sale, transfer,
assignment, pledge or other disposition, whether voluntary or involuntary, of the common shares may be made except by registration of the transfer on our
books. Each transferee will be required to execute an instrument agreeing to be bound by these restrictions and the other restrictions imposed on our common
shares and to execute such other instruments or certifications as are reasonably required by us.

 
Holders

 
As of March 29, 2017, there were 43 holders of record of our common stock.

 
Distributions
 

To the extent that we have funds available, we intend to make quarterly distributions to our stockholders. Our stockholder distributions, if any, will
be determined by our Board of Directors. Any distribution to our stockholders will be declared out of assets legally available for distribution. We anticipate
that distributions will be paid from income primarily generated by interest and dividend income earned on investments made subsequent to the Initial Closing.
We will not be able to determine whether any specific distribution will be treated as made out of our taxable earnings or as a return of capital until after the
end of our taxable year. The amount treated as a tax-free return of capital will reduce a stockholder’s adjusted basis in his or her common stock, thereby
increasing his or her potential gain or reducing his or her potential loss on the subsequent sale or other disposition of his or her common stock.

 
We intend to elect to be treated, and intend to qualify annually thereafter, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. While we intend to elect to be

treated as a RIC, we anticipate that we may have difficulty satisfying the asset diversification requirements as we deploy initial capital and build our portfolio.
If we fail to qualify as a RIC for any taxable year, we will be subject to corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on any net taxable income for such year. See
“Business— Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations” in Part I, Item 1 of this Form 10-K and “Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies” to our financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K for more information. To obtain and maintain RIC tax treatment, we must distribute
at least 90% of our net ordinary income and net realized short-term capital gains in excess of our net realized long-term capital losses, if any, to our
stockholders. In order to avoid certain excise taxes imposed on RICs, we currently intend to distribute during each calendar year an amount at least equal to
the sum of: (a) 98% of our ordinary income (not taking into account any capital gains or losses) for such calendar year; (b) 98.2% of the amount by which our
capital gains exceed our capital losses (adjusted for certain ordinary losses) for a one-year period ending on October 31 of the calendar year; and (c) certain
undistributed amounts from previous years on which we paid no U.S. federal income tax.
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We currently intend to distribute net long-term capital gains if any, at least annually out of the assets legally available for such distributions.

However, we may in the future decide to retain some or all of our long-term capital gains but designate the retained amount as a “deemed distribution.” In that
case, among other consequences, we will pay tax on the retained amount, each U.S. stockholder will be required to include their share of the deemed
distribution in income as if it had been distributed to the U.S. stockholder, and the U.S. stockholder will be entitled to claim a credit equal to their allocable
share of the tax paid on the deemed distribution by us. The amount of the deemed distribution net of such tax will be added to such stockholder’s tax basis in
such stockholder’s common stock. Since we expect to pay tax on any retained capital gains at our regular corporate tax rate, and since that rate is in excess of
the maximum rate currently payable by individuals on long-term capital gains, the amount of tax that individual stockholders will be treated as having paid
and for which they will receive a credit will exceed the tax they owe on the retained net capital gain. Such excess generally may be claimed as a credit against
such individual stockholder’s other U.S. federal income tax obligations or may be refunded to the extent it exceeds such individual stockholder’s liability for
U.S. federal income tax. We cannot assure any stockholder that we will achieve results that will permit us to pay any cash distributions, and if we issue senior
securities, we may be prohibited from making distributions if doing so would cause us to fail to maintain the asset coverage ratios stipulated by the 1940 Act
or if such distributions are limited by the terms of any of our borrowings.

 
Unless a stockholder elects to receive distributions in cash, we intend to make such distributions in additional shares of our common stock under our

dividend reinvestment plan. Although distributions paid in the form of additional shares of our common stock will generally be subject to U.S. federal, state
and local taxes in the same manner as cash distributions, stockholders participating in our dividend reinvestment plan will not receive any corresponding cash
distributions with which to pay any such applicable taxes. If a stockholder holds shares of our common stock in the name of a broker or financial
intermediary, such stockholder should contact such broker or financial intermediary regarding the election to receive distributions in cash in lieu of shares of
our common stock. Any distributions reinvested through the issuance of shares of our common stock through our dividend reinvestment plan will increase our
assets on which the incentive fee is determined and paid to GSVGC. See “ —Dividend Reinvestment Plan” below.
 
Dividend Reinvestment Plan

 
We have adopted a dividend reinvestment plan that provides for reinvestment of our dividends and other distributions on behalf of our stockholders,

unless a stockholder elects to receive cash as provided below. As a result of adopting such a plan, if our Board of Directors authorizes, and we declare, a cash
dividend or distribution, our stockholders who have not opted out of our dividend reinvestment plan will have their cash dividends or distributions
automatically reinvested in additional shares of our common stock, rather than receiving cash.

 
No action will be required on the part of a registered stockholder to have his or her cash dividends and distributions reinvested in shares of our

common stock. A registered stockholder could instead elect to receive a dividend or distribution in cash by notifying GSVGC in writing, so that such notice is
received by GSVGC no later than 10 days prior to the record date for distributions to the stockholders. GSVGC will set up an account for shares of our
common stock acquired through the plan for each stockholder who does not elect to receive dividends and distributions in cash and hold such shares in non-
certificated form. Those stockholders whose shares are held by a broker or other financial intermediary could receive dividends and distributions in cash by
notifying their broker or other financial intermediary of their election.

 
Stockholders who receive dividends and distributions in the form of stock are generally subject to the same U.S. federal, state and local tax

consequences as are stockholders who elect to receive their dividends and distributions in cash. However, since a participating stockholder’s cash dividends
and distributions will be reinvested in our common stock, such stockholder will not receive cash with which to pay applicable taxes on reinvested dividends
and distributions. A stockholder’s basis for determining gain or loss upon the sale of stock received in a dividend or distribution from us will generally be
equal to the cash that would have been received if the stockholder had received the dividend or distribution in cash, unless we were to issue new shares that
are trading at or above net asset value, in which case, the stockholder’s basis in the new shares will generally be equal to their fair market value. Any stock
received in a dividend or distribution will have a new holding period for tax purposes commencing on the day following the day on which the shares are
credited to the U.S. stockholder’s account.
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The plan will be terminable by us upon notice in writing mailed to each stockholder of record at least 30 days prior to any record date for the

payment of any distribution by us. All correspondence concerning the plan should be directed to GSVGC by mail at GSV Growth Credit LLC, 2925
Woodside Road, Woodside, CA 94062.
 
Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities and Use of Proceeds

 
Except as previously reported by us on our current reports on Form 8-K, we did not sell any securities during the period covered by this Form 10-K

that were not registered under the Securities Act.
 
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

 
The following selected financial and other data for the year ended December 31, 2016 and for the period from August 31, 2015 (date of inception) to

December 31, 2015, is derived from our audited financial statements. The selected financial information and other data presented below should be read in
conjunction with the information contained in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of
this Form 10-K and with the audited financial statements and the notes thereto included in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

 

  

Year ended
December 31,

2016   

Inception
through

December 31,
2015  

Income Statement Data:         
Total Operating Expenses  $ 902,980  $ - 
Total Net Expenses   902,980   - 
Net Investment Loss   (902,980)   - 
Net Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations   (903,041)   - 
Per Share Data:         

Net Investment Loss (1)   (83.81)   - 
Net Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations (1)   (83.82)   - 

Balance Sheet Data:         
Total Assets  $ 4,185,660  $ 25,000 
Total Net Assets  $ 3,476,672  $ 25,000 
Other Data:         
Total Return based on Net Asset Value(2)   (30.80)%   %
Weighted average shares outstanding for period, basic   10,774   1,667 
 
(1) Per share data is based on average weighted shares outstanding, except where such amounts need to be adjusted to be consistent with what is disclosed in

the financial highlights of our audited financial statements.
(2) Total return based on net asset value is based upon the change in net asset value per share between the opening and ending net asset values per share in

the period and assumes that dividends are reinvested in accordance with our dividend reinvestment plan. The total returns are not annualized.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
 
Forward-Looking Statements
 

This annual report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Such statements involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, and undue reliance should not be placed thereon. These forward-looking statements are not
historical facts, but rather are based on current expectations, estimates and projections about us, our current and prospective portfolio investments, our
industry, our beliefs and opinions, and our assumptions. Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “will,” “may,” “continue,” “believes,”
“seeks,” “estimates,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “targets,” “projects,” “outlook,” “potential,” “predicts” and variations of these words and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control and difficult to predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements, including without limitation:

 
· an economic downturn could impair our portfolio companies’ ability to continue to operate, which could lead to the loss of some or all of our

investments in such portfolio companies;
 
· such an economic downturn could disproportionately impact the companies that we intend to target for investment, potentially causing us to

experience a decrease in investment opportunities and diminished demand for capital from these companies;
 
· a contraction of available credit and/or an inability to access the equity markets could impair our lending and investment activities;
 
· interest rate volatility could adversely affect our results, particularly to the extent that we use leverage as part of our investment strategy;
 
· currency fluctuations could adversely affect the results of our investments in foreign companies, particularly to the extent that we receive

payments denominated in foreign currency rather than U.S. dollars;
 
· our future operating results;
 
· our business prospects and the prospects of our portfolio companies;
 
· our contractual arrangements and relationships with third parties;
 
· the ability of our portfolio companies to achieve their objectives;
 
· competition with other entities and our affiliates for investment opportunities;
 
· the speculative and illiquid nature of our investments;
 
· the use of borrowed money to finance a portion of our investments;
 
· the adequacy of our financing sources and working capital;
 
· the loss of key personnel;
 
· the timing of cash flows, if any, from the operations of our portfolio companies;
 
· the ability of our external investment adviser, GSVGC, to locate suitable investments for us and to monitor and administer our investments;
 
· the ability of GSVGC to attract and retain highly talented professionals;
 
· our ability to qualify and maintain our qualification as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code, and as a BDC;
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· the effect of legal, tax and regulatory changes; and
 
· the other risks, uncertainties and other factors we identify under “Risk Factors” in in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.
 
Although we believe the assumptions on which these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of those assumptions could prove to

be inaccurate, and as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also could be inaccurate. In light of these and other uncertainties,
the inclusion of a projection or forward-looking statement in this annual report on Form 10-K should not be regarded as a representation by us that our plans
and objectives will be achieved. These risks and uncertainties include those described or identified in “Risk Factors” in in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

 
We have based the forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-K on information available to us on the date of this Form 10-K, and we

assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements. Although we undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, you are advised to consult any additional disclosures that we may make
directly to you or through reports that we have filed or in the future may file with the SEC, including our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on
Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K.

 
The following analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our financial statements and the related

notes thereto contained elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.
 
Overview

 
We are an externally managed, non-diversified closed-end investment management company that was formed on August 31, 2015 as a corporation

under the laws of the State of Maryland. We have elected to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act. In addition, we intend to elect to be treated, and
intend to qualify annually thereafter, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. If we fail to qualify as a RIC for any taxable year, we will be subject to
corporate-level U.S. federal income tax on any net taxable income for such year. As a BDC and a RIC, we will be required to comply with various regulatory
requirements, such as the requirement to invest at least 70% of our assets in “qualifying assets,” source of income limitations, asset diversification
requirements, and the requirement to distribute annually at least 90% of our taxable income and tax-exempt interest.

 
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the JOBS Act. We will remain an emerging growth company for up to five years following an

initial public offering, if any, although if the market value of our common stock that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of any June 30 before
that time, we would cease to be an emerging growth company as of the following December 31. For so long as we remain an emerging growth company
under the JOBS Act, we will be subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.

 
We are externally managed by GSVGC, an investment adviser that has registered under the Advisers Act. The Administrator, a wholly-owned

subsidiary of GSVGC, provides all the administrative services necessary for us to operate.
 
We have not commenced investment activities in portfolio securities. Since inception, we have purchased one U.S. Treasury Bill and there has been

no investment activity in portfolio securities. In October 2015, in connection with our formation, we issued and sold 1,667 shares of our common stock to
David Spreng, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of Directors, for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000. In December
2016, we completed the Initial Closing and issued and sold 333,333 shares of our common stock to investors for an aggregate purchase price of $5,000,000.
 
Portfolio and Investment Activity

 
The value of our investment portfolio will change over time due to changes in the fair value of our underlying investments, as well as changes in the

composition of our portfolio resulting from purchases of new and follow-on investments as well as sales of existing investments. As of each of December 31,
2016 and 2015, we had not commenced investment activities in portfolio securities. Since inception, we have purchased one U.S. Treasury Bill.
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Results of Operations

 
As of each of December 31, 2016 and 2015, we had not commenced any investment activities in portfolio securities. Since inception, we have

purchased one U.S. Treasury Bill.
 
Revenue

 
Our investment objective is to maximize our total return to our stockholders primarily through current income on our loan portfolio, and secondarily

through capital appreciation on our warrants and other equity positions. We intend to achieve our investment objective by investing in high growth-potential,
private companies. We will typically invest in senior secured and second lien secured loans that generally fall into two strategies: Sponsored Growth Lending
and Non-Sponsored Growth Lending. Through our Sponsored Growth Lending and Non-Sponsored Growth Lending strategies, we will invest in senior
secured loans and second lien loans. Our Sponsored Growth Lending will also typically include the receipt of warrants and/or other equity from venture-
backed companies. We expect our investments in loans will generally range from between $3 million to $15 million and the upper end of this range may
increase as we raise additional capital.

 
We plan to generate revenue in the form of interest on the debt securities that we hold and distributions and capital gains on other interests that we

acquire in our portfolio companies. We expect that the debt we invest in will generally have stated terms of 36 to 60 months. Interest on debt securities is
generally payable quarterly or semiannually. In some cases, some of our investments may provide for deferred interest payments or PIK interest. The
principal amount of the debt securities and any accrued but unpaid interest generally will become due at the maturity date. In addition, we may generate
revenue in the form of commitment and other fees in connection with transactions. Original issue discounts and market discounts or premiums will be
capitalized, and we will accrete or amortize such amounts as interest income. We will record prepayment premiums on loans and debt securities as interest
income. Dividend income, if any, will be recognized on an accrual basis to the extent that we expect to collect such amounts.
 
Operating Expenses

 
Our primary operating expenses include the payment of fees to GSVGC under the Advisory Agreement, our allocable portion of overhead expenses

under the Administration Agreement and other operating costs described below. We will bear all other out-of-pocket costs and expenses of our operations and
transactions, including those relating to:

 
· organization and offering (in an amount up to $1,000,000, provided that the amount of initial organizational and offering expenses in excess of

$1,000,000 will be paid by GSVGC);
 
· our pro-rata portion of fees and expenses related to any future Spin-Off transaction;
 
· calculating our net asset value (including the cost and expenses of any independent valuation firm);
 
· fees and expenses payable to third parties, including agents, consultants or other advisers, in connection with monitoring financial and legal

affairs for us and in providing administrative services, monitoring our investments and performing due diligence on our prospective portfolio
companies or otherwise relating to, or associated with, evaluating and making investments;

 
· interest payable on debt, if any, incurred to finance our investments;
 
· sales and purchases of our common stock and other securities;
 
· investment advisory and management fees;
 
· administration fees, if any, payable under the Administration Agreement;
 
· transfer agent and custodial fees;
 
· federal and state registration fees;
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· all costs of registration and listing our securities on any securities exchange;
 
· U.S. federal, state and local taxes;
 
· independent directors’ fees and expenses;
 
· costs of preparing and filing reports or other documents required by the SEC, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority or other regulators;
 
· costs of any reports, proxy statements or other notices to stockholders, including printing costs;
 
· our allocable portion of any fidelity bond, directors’ and officers’ errors and omissions liability insurance, and any other insurance premiums;
 
· direct costs and expenses of administration, including printing, mailing, long distance telephone, copying, secretarial and other staff,

independent auditors and outside legal costs; and
 
· all other expenses incurred by us, our Administrator or GSVGC in connection with administering our business, including payments under the

Administration Agreement based on our allocable portion of our Administrator’s overhead in performing its obligations under the
Administration Agreement, including rent and the allocable portion of the cost of our Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer and
their respective staffs.

 
Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

 
We expect to generate cash primarily from (i) the net proceeds of the offering of our securities, (ii) cash flows from our operations, (iii) any financing

arrangements we may enter into in the future and (iv) any future offerings of our equity or debt securities. We may fund a portion of our investments through
borrowings from banks and issuances of senior securities. Our primary use of funds will be to make investments in eligible portfolio companies, pay our
operating expenses and make distributions to holders of our common stock.

 
During the year ended December 31, 2016, cash increased to $1,039,931 at the end of the year. This increase was the result of the drawdown of

$5,000,000 on capital commitments in the Initial Closing, which was partially offset by the payment of certain organizational and offering expenses. Net cash
used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2016 was $3,278,999, which was primarily the result of our payment of organizational and
offering expenses and the purchase of a U.S. Treasury Bill. There were no purchases or sales of investments during the year ended December 31, 2016.

 
Equity Activity
 
We have the authority to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock at a $0.01 per share par value.
 
On October 8, 2015, we issued 1,667 shares of our common stock to David Spreng, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our

Board of Directors, for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000. On December 22, 2016, we issued 333,333 shares of common stock to investors, for an
aggregate purchase price of $5,000,000. We had no other equity transactions as of December 31, 2016 and 2015.

 
Contractual Obligations
 
As of December 31, 2016, we had not commenced any investment activities in portfolio securities.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
We currently have no off-balance sheet arrangements, including any risk management of commodity pricing or other hedging practices.
 
Distributions
 
To the extent that we have funds available, we intend to make quarterly distributions to our stockholders. Our stockholder distributions, if any, will

be determined by our Board of Directors. Any distribution to our stockholders will be declared out of assets legally available for distribution. We anticipate
that distributions will be paid from income primarily generated by interest and dividend income earned on investments made subsequent to the Initial Closing.
During the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, we did not declare or pay any dividends or distributions.
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Related-Party Transactions

 
Certain members of GSVGC’s senior investment team and Investment Committee serve, or may serve, as officers, directors, members or principals

of entities that operate in the same or a related line of business as we do, or of investment vehicles managed by GSVGC with similar investment objectives.
Similarly, GSVGC may have other clients with similar, different or competing investment objectives. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and
Structure — There are significant potential conflicts of interest which could impact our investment returns” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for more
information.

 
Our investment strategy includes investments in secured loans, together with, in many cases, attached equity “kickers” in the form of warrants, and

direct equity investments. As a result, members of GSVGC’s senior investment team and Investment Committee, in their roles at GSVGC, may face conflicts
in the allocation of investment opportunities among us and other investment vehicles managed by GSVGC with similar or overlapping investment objectives
in a manner that is fair and equitable over time and consistent with GSVGC’s allocation policy. Generally, when a particular investment would be appropriate
for us as well as one or more other investment funds, accounts or vehicles managed by GSVGC’s senior investment team, such investment will be
apportioned by GSVGC’s senior investment team in accordance with (1) GSVGC’s internal conflict of interest and allocation policies, (2) the requirements of
the Advisers Act and (3) certain restrictions under the 1940 Act regarding co-investments with affiliates. Such apportionment may not be strictly pro rata,
depending on the good-faith determination of all relevant factors, including differing investment objectives, diversification considerations and the terms of
our or the respective governing documents of such investment funds, accounts or investment vehicles. These procedures could, in certain circumstances, limit
whether or not a co-investment opportunity is available to us, the timing of acquisitions and dispositions of investments, the price paid or received by us for
investments or the size of the investment purchased or sold by us. GSVGC believes this allocation system is fair and equitable, and consistent with its
fiduciary duty to us. In particular, we have disclosed to investors how allocation determinations are made among any investment vehicles managed by
GSVGC.

 
In the ordinary course of business, we may enter into transactions with affiliates and portfolio companies that may be considered related party

transactions. In order to ensure that we do not engage in any prohibited transactions with any persons affiliated with us, we have implemented certain policies
and procedures whereby certain of our executive officers screen each of our transactions for any possible affiliations between the proposed portfolio
investment, us, companies controlled by us, stockholders that own more than 5% of us and our employees and directors. We will not enter into any
agreements unless and until we are satisfied that doing so will not raise concerns under the 1940 Act or, if such concerns exist, we have taken appropriate
actions to seek review and approval by the Board or exemptive relief for such transaction. Our Board of Directors will review these procedures on an annual
basis.

 
In the future, we may co-invest with investment funds, accounts and vehicles managed by GSVGC, where doing so is consistent with our investment

strategy as well as applicable law and SEC staff interpretations. We generally will only be permitted to co-invest with such investment funds, accounts and
vehicles where the only term that is negotiated is price. However, we and GSVGC intend to file an exemptive application with the SEC to permit greater
flexibility to negotiate the terms of co-investments with investment funds, accounts and investment vehicles managed by GSVGC in a manner consistent with
our investment objective, positions, policies, strategies and restrictions as well as regulatory requirements and other pertinent factors. Even when we file this
exemptive application, there can be no assurance that we will receive exemptive relief from the SEC to permit us to co-invest with investment funds, accounts
and investment vehicles managed by GSVGC where terms other than price are negotiated.

 
Advisory Agreement
 
We have entered into the Advisory Agreement with GSVGC. Mr. Spreng, our President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of our Board of

Directors, and a member of the Investment Committee, has a direct pecuniary interest in GSVGC and an indirect pecuniary interest in GSVGC through his
ownership interest in GSVGC Management Holdings LLC (“GSVGC Management Holdings”), which has an ownership interest in GSVGC. Mr. Raterman,
our Chief Financial Officer and a member of the Investment Committee, has a direct pecuniary interest in GSVGC and an indirect pecuniary interest in
GSVGC through his ownership interest in GSV Financial Group LLC, which has an ownership interest in GSVGC, and through his ownership interest in
GSVGC Management Holdings. Mr. Moe, a member of the Investment Committee, has an indirect pecuniary interest in GSVGC through his ownership
interest in GSV Asset Management, which has an ownership interest in GSVGC. Mr. Hanson, a member of the Investment Committee, also has a direct
pecuniary interest in GSVGC and an indirect pecuniary interest in GSVGC through his ownership interest in GSVGC Management Holdings. Pursuant to the
Advisory Agreement, we pay GSVGC a base management fee and an incentive fee for its services. See “Business — About GSVGC” in Part I, Item 1 of this
Form 10-K for more information about the compensation paid by us to GSVGC.
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GSVGC is responsible for sourcing, reviewing and structuring investment opportunities for us, underwriting and conducting diligence on our

investments and monitoring our investment portfolio on an ongoing basis. GSVGC’s incentive fee is based on the value of our investments and, therefore,
there may be a conflict of interest when personnel of GSVGC are involved in the valuation process for our portfolio investments. See “Risk Factors — Risks
Related to our Business and Structure — There are significant potential conflicts of interest which could impact our investment returns; — Our management
fee may induce GSVGC to purchase assets with borrowed funds and our incentive fee may induce GSVGC to pursue speculative investments and to use
leverage when it may be unwise to do so; — The compensation we pay to GSVGC and our Administrator was not determined on an arm’s-length basis. Thus,
the terms of such compensation may be less advantageous to us than if such terms had been the subject of arm’s-length negotiations; — We may borrow
money, which would magnify the potential for gain or loss on amounts invested and may increase the risk of investing in us” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form
10-K for more information.
 

Administration Agreement
 

We have entered into the Administration Agreement with our Administrator, a wholly-owned subsidiary of GSVGC, pursuant to which our
Administrator is responsible for furnishing us with office facilities and equipment and will provide us with clerical, bookkeeping, recordkeeping and other
administrative services at such facilities. Pursuant to the Administration Agreement, we pay our Administrator an amount equal to our allocable portion
(subject to the review of our Board of Directors) of our Administrator’s overhead resulting from its obligations under the Administration Agreement,
including rent and the allocable portion of the cost of our Chief Compliance Officer and Chief Financial Officer and their respective staffs associated with
performing compliance functions. Pursuant to the terms of the Administration Agreement, the amounts payable to the Administrator from us in any fiscal year
will not exceed the greater of (i) 0.75% of the aggregate capital commitments as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year and (ii) $1 million. See
“Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Business and Structure — There are significant potential conflicts of interest which could impact our investment
returns” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for more information.

 
License Agreement

 
We have entered into a license agreement with GSV Asset Management pursuant to which GSV Asset Management has agreed to grant us a non-

exclusive, royalty-free license to use the name “GSV.” Under this agreement, we have the right to use the “GSV” name for so long as GSVGC or one of its
affiliates remains our investment adviser. Other than with respect to this limited license, we will have no legal right to the “GSV” name.

 
If any of the contractual obligations discussed above are terminated in the future, our costs under any new agreements that we enter into may

increase. In addition, we would likely incur significant time and expense in locating alternative parties to provide the services we receive under the Advisory
Agreement and the Administration Agreement. Any new investment advisory agreement would also be subject to approval by our stockholders.

 
Oaktree Strategic Relationship
 
In December 2016, GSVGC entered into a strategic relationship with Oaktree. In connection with the strategic relationship, OCM, which is managed

by Oaktree, made the $125,000,000 OCM Commitment. OCM has granted a proxy to us pursuant to which the shares held by OCM will be voted in the same
manner as our other stockholders vote their shares.
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In connection with the OCM Commitment, we entered into the Stockholder Agreement with OCM, pursuant to which OCM has a right to nominate a

member of our Board of Directors for election. Brian Laibow was appointed to our Board of Directors, effective January 25, 2017, as OCM’s representative.
OCM also holds an interest in GSVGC and has the right to appoint a member of GSVGC’s board of managers and a member of the Investment Committee.
OCM’s initial appointee to GSVGC’s board of managers and Investment Committee is Brian Laibow. See “Risk Factors — Risks Related to our Business and
Structure — Our strategic relationship with Oaktree may create conflicts of interest” in Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for more information.

 
Mr. Laibow is an employee of Oaktree, and we expect that he will continue to engage in investment advisory activities for Oaktree, which could

result in a conflict of interest and may distract him from his responsibilities to us and GSVGC. Messrs. Spreng and Raterman will monitor the relationship
with Mr. Laibow for any conflicts of interest and will seek to resolve them on our behalf, subject to the oversight of our Board of Directors. Mr. Laibow will
recuse himself from consideration of any potential conflicts related to Oaktree, should any such conflicts arise.

 
Board of Directors
 
As of March 29, 2017, certain of our directors and executive officers, and their immediate family members, have committed, directly and indirectly,

an aggregate of $1,050,000 in capital commitments to us.
 
Five Percent or More Holders
 
As of March 29, 2017, Carilion Clinic and Retirement Plan of Carilion Clinic have each committed $25,000,000 in capital commitments to us.

OCM’s capital commitment is described above.
 
Critical Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation

 
The preparation of the financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with GAAP requires our management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and
revenues and expenses during the period reports. Actual results could materially differ from those estimates. We believe that our most critical accounting
policies, which are those that are most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require management’s most difficult,
subjective and complex judgments, include the valuation of investments and our intent to elect to be treated, and qualify annually thereafter, as a RIC. See
“Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” to our financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016, which describes our critical
accounting policies and recently adopted accounting pronouncements not yet required to be adopted by us.
 
Valuation of Investments

 
We measure the value of our investments at fair value in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements

and Disclosure, or “ASC Topic 820,” issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or “FASB.” Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

 
The Audit Committee is also responsible for assisting our Board of Directors in valuing investments that are not publicly traded or for which current

market values are not readily available. Investments for which market quotations are readily available are valued using market quotations, which are generally
obtained from independent pricing services, broker-dealers or market makers. With respect to portfolio investments for which market quotations are not
readily available, our Board of Directors, with the assistance of GSVGC and its senior investment team and independent valuation agents, is responsible for
determining in good faith the fair value in accordance with the valuation policy approved by our Board of Directors. If more than one valuation method is
used to measure fair value, the results are evaluated and weighted, as appropriate, considering the reasonableness of the range indicated by those results. We
consider a range of fair values based upon the valuation techniques utilized and select the value within that range that was most representative of fair value
based on current market conditions as well as other factors GSVGC’s senior investment team considers relevant.
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Our Board of Directors will make this fair value determination on a quarterly basis and any other time when a decision regarding the fair value of the

portfolio investments is required. A determination of fair value involves subjective judgments and estimates and depends on the facts and circumstances. Due
to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of portfolio investments that do not have a readily available market value, the fair value of the
investments may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market value existed for such investments, and the
differences could be material.

 
ASC Topic 820 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or

unobservable. ASC Topic 820 also provides guidance regarding a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes information used to measure fair value and the effect
of fair value measurements on earnings and provides for enhanced disclosures determined by the level within the hierarchy of information used in the
valuation. In accordance with ASC Topic 820, these inputs are summarized in the three levels listed below:

 
· Level 1—Valuations are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date.

 
· Level 2—Valuations are based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or

indirectly and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable.
 

· Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. Level 3 assets and liabilities
include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models incorporating significant unobservable inputs, such as discounted
cash flow models and other similar valuations techniques. The valuation of Level 3 assets and liabilities generally requires significant
management judgment due to the inability to observe inputs to valuation.

 
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment’s level

within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of observable input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the investment.

 
Under ASC Topic 820, the fair value measurement also assumes that the transaction to sell an asset occurs in the principal market for the asset or, in

the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset, which may be a hypothetical market, and excludes transaction costs. The
principal market for any asset is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for such asset in which the reporting entity would or could sell or
transfer the asset. In determining the principal market for an asset or liability under ASC Topic 820, it is assumed that the reporting entity has access to such
market as of the measurement date. Market participants are defined as buyers and sellers in the principal or most advantageous market that are independent,
knowledgeable and willing and able to transact.

 
With respect to investments for which market quotations are not readily available, our Board of Directors will undertake a multi-step valuation

process each quarter, as described below:
 

· Our quarterly valuation process will begin with each portfolio company or investment being initially valued by GSVGC’s professionals that are
responsible for the portfolio investment;

 
· Preliminary valuation conclusions will then be documented and discussed with GSVGC’s senior investment team;

 
· The Audit Committee will then review these preliminary valuations;

 
· At least once annually, the valuation for each portfolio investment will be reviewed by an independent valuation firm. Certain investments,

however, will not be evaluated by an independent valuation firm unless the net asset value and other aspects of such investments in the
aggregate exceed certain thresholds; and

 
· Our Board of Directors will then discuss valuations and determine the fair value of each investment in our portfolio in good faith, based on the

input of GSVGC, the respective independent valuation firms and the Audit Committee.
 
Our investments will be primarily loans made to small, fast-growing companies focused in technology, life sciences, business services, industrial

companies and other high-growth industries. These investments are considered Level 3 assets under ASC Topic 820 because there is no known or accessible
market or market indices for these types of debt instruments and, thus, GSVGC’s senior investment team must estimate the fair value of these investment
securities based on models utilizing unobservable inputs.
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Investment Valuation Techniques

 
Debt Investments. To estimate the fair value of our debt investments, we compare the cost basis of the debt investment, which includes original issue

discount, to the resulting fair value determined using a discounted cash flow model, unless another model is more appropriate based on the circumstances at
the measurement date. The discounted cash flow approach entails analyzing the interest rate spreads for recently completed financing transactions which are
similar in nature to our investments, in order to determine a comparable range of effective market interest rates for our investments. The range of interest rate
spreads utilized is based on borrowers with similar credit profiles. All remaining expected cash flows of the investment are discounted using this range of
interest rates to determine a range of fair values for the debt investment.

 
This valuation process includes, among other things, evaluating the underlying investment performance, the portfolio company’s current financial

condition and ability to raise additional capital, as well as macro-economic events that may impact valuations. These events include, but are not limited to,
current market yields and interest rate spreads of similar securities as of the measurement date. Significant increases (decreases) in these unobservable inputs
would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.

 
Under certain circumstances, we may use an alternative technique to value the debt investments to be acquired by us that better reflects the fair value

of the investment, such as the price paid or realized in a recently completed transaction or a binding offer received in an arms-length transaction, the use of
multiple probability-weighted cash flow models when the expected future cash flows contain elements of variability or estimates of proceeds that would be
received in a liquidation scenario.

 
Warrants. Fair value of the warrants will be primarily estimated using a Black Scholes option-pricing model. Privately held warrant and equity-

related securities are valued based on an analysis of various factors including, but not limited to, the following:
 

· Underlying enterprise value of the issuer is estimated based on information available, including any information regarding the most recent
rounds of issuer funding. Valuation techniques to determine enterprise value include market multiple approaches, income approaches or
approaches that utilize recent rounds of financing and the portfolio company’s capital structure to determine enterprise value. Valuation
techniques are also utilized to allocate the enterprise fair value of a portfolio company to the specific class of common or preferred stock
exercisable in the warrant. Such techniques take into account the rights and preferences of the portfolio company’s securities, expected exit
scenarios, and volatility associated with such outcomes to allocate the fair value to the specific class of stock held in the portfolio. Such
techniques include Option Pricing Models, or “OPM,” including back-solve techniques, Probability Weighted Expected Return Models, or
“PWERM,” and other techniques as determined to be appropriate.

 
· Volatility, or the amount of uncertainty or risk about the size of the changes in the warrant price, is based on comparable publicly traded

companies within indices similar in nature to the underlying company issuing the warrant. Significant increases (decreases) in this unobservable
input will result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value.

 
· The risk-free interest rates are derived from the U.S. Treasury yield curve. The risk-free interest rates are calculated based on a weighted average

of the risk-free interest rates that correspond closest to the expected remaining life of the warrant. Significant increases (decreases) in this
unobservable input will result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value.

 
· Other adjustments, including a marketability discount on private company warrants, are estimated based on our judgment about the general

industry environment. Significant increases (decreases) in this unobservable input will result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value.
 

· Historical portfolio experience on cancellations and exercises of warrants are utilized as the basis for determining the estimated life of the
warrants in each financial reporting period. Warrants may be exercised in the event of acquisitions, mergers or initial public offerings, and
cancelled due to events such as bankruptcies, restructuring activities or additional financings. These events cause the expected remaining life
assumption to be shorter than the contractual term of the warrants. Significant increases (decreases) in this unobservable input will result in a
significantly higher (lower) fair value.
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Under certain circumstances we may use an alternative technique to value warrants that better reflects the warrants’ fair values, such as an expected

settlement of a warrant in the near term, a model that incorporates a put feature associated with the warrant, or the price paid or realized in a recently
completed transaction or binding offer received in an arms-length transaction. The fair value may be determined based on the expected proceeds to be
received from such settlement or based on the net present value of the expected proceeds from the put option.

 
These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of judgment. There is no single standard for determining the estimated fair value of

investments which do not have an active public market. Valuations of privately held investments are inherently uncertain, as they are based on estimates, and
their values may fluctuate over time. The determination of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if an active market for
these investments existed. In some cases, the fair value of such investments is best expressed as a range of values derived utilizing different methodologies
from which a single estimate may then be determined.

 
Equity Investments. The fair value of an equity investment in a privately held company is initially the face value of the amount invested. We adjust

the fair value of equity investments in private companies upon the completion of a new third-party round of equity financing subsequent to our investment.
We may make adjustments to fair value, absent a new equity financing event, based upon positive or negative changes in a portfolio company’s financial or
operational performance. We may also reference comparable transactions and/or secondary market transactions to estimate fair value. The fair value of an
equity investment in a publicly traded company is based upon the closing public share price on the date of measurement. These assets are recorded at fair
value on a recurring basis. These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of judgment. There is no single standard for determining the estimated
fair value of investments which do not have an active public market. Valuations of privately held investments are inherently uncertain, as they are based on
estimates, and their values may fluctuate over time. The determination of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if an
active market for these investments existed. In some cases, the fair value of such investments is best expressed as a range of values derived utilizing different
methodologies from which a single estimate may then be determined.

 
Security Transactions, Realized/Unrealized Gains or Losses, and Income Recognition
 
Security transactions, if any, are recorded on a trade-date basis. We measure realized gains or losses from the repayment or sale of investments using

the specific identification method. The amortized cost basis of investments represents the original cost adjusted for the accretion/amortization of discounts
and premiums and upfront loan origination fees. We report changes in fair value of investments that are measured at fair value as a component of net change
in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the consolidated statement of operations.

 
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income, if any, adjusted for amortization of market premium and accretion of market

discount, is recorded on an accrual basis to the extent that we expect to collect such amounts. Original issue discount, principally representing the estimated
fair value of detachable equity or warrants obtained in conjunction with our debt investments, and market discount or premium are capitalized and accreted or
amortized into interest income over the life of the respective security using the effective interest method. Loan origination fees received in connection with
the closing of investments are reported as unearned income which is included as amortized cost of the investment; the unearned income from such fees is
accreted over the contractual life of the loan based on the effective interest method. Upon prepayment of a loan or debt security, any prepayment penalties,
unamortized loan origination fees, and unamortized market discounts are recorded as interest income.
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Management and Incentive Fees
 
We will accrue for the base management fee and incentive fee. The accrual for the incentive fee includes the recognition of incentive fee on

unrealized capital gains, even though such incentive fee is neither earned nor payable to GSVGC until the gains are both realized and in excess of unrealized
depreciation on investments.

 
Income Taxes
 
We intend to elect to be treated, and qualify annually thereafter, as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code. Generally, a RIC is not subject to federal

income taxes on distributed income and gains if it distributes at least 90% of its net ordinary income and net short-term capital gains in excess of its net long-
term capital losses, if any, to its stockholders. So long as we obtain and maintain our status as a RIC, we generally will not pay corporate-level U.S. federal
income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that we distribute at least annually to our stockholders as dividends. Rather, any tax liability related to
income earned by us represents obligations of our investors and will not be reflected in the financial statements of the Company. We intend to distribute
sufficient dividends to maintain our RIC status each year and we do not anticipate paying any material federal income taxes in the future.

 
Recent Developments
 

Robert Greifeld resigned as a member of our Board of Directors effective January 20, 2017. Mr. Greifeld did not resign because of any disagreement
with us on any matter relating to our operations, policies or practices. Subsequently, Mr. Greifeld has been appointed to GSVGC’s Board of Managers.

 
On January 25, 2017, the Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the nominating and corporate governance committee of the Board of

Directors, increased the number of directors that constitutes the full Board of Directors to five directors from three directors and appointed the following
individuals to serve as members of the Board of Directors: (1) Lewis W. Solimene, Jr., to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of Robert Greifeld, and to
serve until our 2018 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is duly elected and qualifies; (2) Julie Persily, to serve until our 2018 annual
meeting of stockholders and until her successor is duly elected and qualifies; and (3) Brian Laibow, to serve until our 2019 annual meeting of stockholders
and until his successor is duly elected and qualifies. The Board of Directors has determined that Mr. Solimene and Ms. Persily are not “interested persons,” as
such term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, of the Company.

 
From January 1, 2017 through March 29, 2017, we closed on additional capital commitments of $8,400,000, bringing the total committed capital to

$218,301,500 as of March 29, 2017. There have been no additional subsequent events that require recognition or disclosure through March 29, 2017.
 
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

 
We are subject to financial market risks, including changes in the valuations of our investment portfolio and interest rates.

 
Valuation Risk

 
Our investments may not have a readily available market price, and we value these investments at fair value as determined in good faith by our Board

of Directors in accordance with our valuation policy. There is no single standard for determining fair value in good faith. As a result, determining fair value
requires that judgment be applied to the specific facts and circumstances of each portfolio investment while employing a consistently applied valuation
process for the types of investments we make. Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of investments that do not have a readily available
market value, the fair value of the Company’s investments may fluctuate from period to period. Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuation, these
estimated values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a ready market for the investments existed, and it is possible that the
difference could be material.
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Interest Rate Risk
 

We expect that a majority of the investments held in the Company’s portfolio will have floating interest rates. We typically expect that interest rates
on the investments held within the Company’s portfolio of investments will be based on floating LIBOR, with many of these investments also having a
LIBOR floor.

 
Interest rate sensitivity refers to the change in earnings that may result from changes in the level of interest rates. There can be no assurance that a

significant change in market interest rates will not have a material adverse effect on our income in the future.
 
We may in the future finance a portion of our investments with borrowings, and the interest rates paid on any future borrowings may impact

significantly our net interest income.
 
In addition, any investments we make that are denominated in a foreign currency will be subject to risks associated with changes in currency

exchange rates. These risks include the possibility of significant fluctuations in the foreign currency markets, the imposition or modification of foreign
exchange controls and potential illiquidity in the secondary market. These risks will vary depending upon the currency or currencies involved.

 
The Company regularly measures exposure to interest rate risk. The Company assesses interest rate risk and manages interest rate exposure on an

ongoing basis by comparing our interest rate sensitive assets to our interest rate sensitive liabilities. We may hedge against interest rate and currency exchange
rate fluctuations by using standard hedging instruments such as futures, options and forward contracts subject to the requirements of the 1940 Act. While
hedging activities may insulate us against adverse changes in interest rates, they may also limit our ability to participate in benefits of lower interest rates with
respect to our portfolio of investments with fixed interest rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.
 
 
We have audited the accompanying statements of assets and liabilities of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2016 and 2015,
including the schedule of investments as of December 31, 2016, and the related statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 2016 and the period from August 31, 2015 (inception) through December 31, 2015. These financial statements are the responsibility of
the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of internal
control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our procedures included confirmation of
investments owned as of December 31, 2016, by correspondence with the custodian. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. as of
December 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period August 31, 2015
(inception) through December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
 
 
/s/ RSM US LLP
 
Chicago, Illinois
March 29, 2017
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GSV GROWTH CREDIT FUND INC.

 
Statements of Assets and Liabilities

 
  December 31, 2016   December 31, 2015 

Assets         
Cash  $ 1,039,931  $ 25,000 
Investment in U.S. Treasury Bill, at fair value (cost of $2,999,910)   2,999,849   - 
Capital contributions receivable   60,783   - 
Prepaid expenses   85,097   - 

Total assets   4,185,660   25,000 
         
Liabilities         

Due to affiliate   648,805   - 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   60,183   - 

Total liabilities   708,988   - 
         

Commitments and contingencies (Note 3)         
         
Net assets         

Common shares, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 335,000 and 1,667 shares issued and
outstanding, respectively   3,350   17 
Additional paid-in capital   3,804,448   24,983 
Accumulated undistributed net investment loss   (331,065)   - 
Accumulated net unrealized loss   (61)   - 

Total net assets  $ 3,476,672  $ 25,000 
         
Net asset value per share  $ 10.38  $ 15.00 
 
See notes to financial statements.
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GSV GROWTH CREDIT FUND INC.

 
Statements of Operations

 

  Year Ended   

For the Period from
Inception

(August 31, 2015)
Through  

  December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015  
       
Operating expenses         

Management fees  $ 169,684  $ - 
Administration fee   5,774   - 
Professional fees   216,214   - 
Organizational expenses   354,713   - 
Directors’ fees   129,000   - 
Insurance expense   3,699   - 
Other expenses   23,896   - 

Total operating expenses   902,980   - 
Net investment loss   (902,980)   - 

         
Change in unrealized depreciation on investments   (61)   - 
         
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations  $ (903,041)  $ - 
         
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations per common share  $ (83.82)  $ - 
Net investment loss per common share  $ (83.81)  $ - 

Weighted average shares outstanding(1)   10,774   1,667 
 
(1) For the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period from October 8, 2015 to December 31, 2015, respectively.
 
See notes to financial statements.
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GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

 
Statements of Changes in Net Assets

 

  Year Ended   

For the
Period from

Inception
(August 31,

2015) Through  
  December 31, 2016   December 31, 2015 
Net decrease in net assets from operations         
         

Net investment loss  $ (902,980)  $ - 
Change in unrealized depreciation on investments   (61)   - 

         
Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations   (903,041)   - 

         
Capital share transactions:         

Offering costs   (645,287)   - 
Issuance of common stock   5,000,000   25,000 
         
Net increase in net assets resulting from capital share transactions   4,354,713   - 

         
Total increase in net assets   3,451,672   - 
        
Net assets at beginning of period   25,000   - 
         
Net assets at end of period  $ 3,476,672  $ 25,000 
         
Capital Share Activity:         
Shares issued   333,333   1,667 
Shares outstanding at beginning of period   1,667   - 

Shares outstanding at end of period   335,000   1,667 
 
See notes to financial statements.
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GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

 
Statements of Cash Flows

 

  Year Ended   

For the Period
from Inception

(August 31,
2015) Through  

  December 31, 2016   December 31, 2015 
       
Cash flows from operating activities         
         

Net decrease in net assets resulting from operations  $ (903,041)  $ - 
         

Adjustments to reconcile net decrease in net assets resulting from operations to net cash used in operating
activities:         

Purchase of U.S. Treasury Bill   (2,999,910)   - 
Net change in unrealized depreciation on investments   61   - 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         
Prepaid expenses   (85,097)   - 
Due to affiliates   648,805   - 
Accrued expenses   60,183   - 

         
Net cash used in operating activities   (3,278,999)   - 

         
Cash flows from financing activities         
         

Offering costs   (645,287)   - 
Proceeds from capital shares sold   4,939,217   25,000 

         
Net cash provided by financing activities   4,293,930   - 

         
Net increase in cash   1,014,931   - 
         

Cash at beginning of period   25,000   - 
         

Cash at end of period  $ 1,039,931  $ 25,000 
  
See notes to financial statements.
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GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

 
Schedule of Investments

 
as of December 31, 2016

 

Portfolio Investments     Principal   Cost   Fair Value   

% of
Net

Assets  
                
U.S. Treasury                     
U.S. Treasury Bill, 0%, due 01/05/2017      $ 3,000,000  $ 2,999,910  $ 2,999,849   86.29%
                     
TOTAL INVESTMENTS          $ 2,999,910  $ 2,999,849   86.29%
 
See notes to financial statements.
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GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

Notes to Financial Statements as of December 31, 2016
 
Note 1 – Organization
 

GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. (the “Company”) is a Maryland corporation that was formed on August 31, 2015. The Company is an externally
managed, non-diversified, closed-end investment company that has elected to be regulated as a business development company (“BDC”) under the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”). In addition, the Company intends to elect to be treated, and intends to qualify annually
thereafter, as a regulated investment company (“RIC”) under Subchapter M of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). While the
Company intends to elect and qualify to be treated as a RIC going forward, the Company anticipates that it may have difficulty satisfying the asset
diversification requirements as it deploys initial capital and builds its investment portfolio.

 
The Company was formed primarily to lend to, and selectively invest in, middle-market companies in the United States. The Company’s investment

objective is to maximize its total return to its stockholders primarily through current income on its loan portfolio, and secondarily through capital appreciation
on its warrants and other equity positions. The Company’s investment activities are managed by its external investment adviser, GSV Growth Credit LLC
(“GSVGC”). GSV Credit Service Company, LLC (the “Administrator”), a wholly owned subsidiary of GSVGC, provides all administrative services
necessary for the Company to operate.

 
As of December 31, 2016, the Company had not commenced significant operational or investment activities. In October 2015, in connection with the

Company’s formation, the Company issued and sold 1,667 shares of common stock to David R. Spreng, the President and Chief Executive Officer of the
Company and Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, for an aggregate purchase price of $25,000. The sale of shares of common stock was approved
by the unanimous consent of the Company’s sole director at the time. In December 2016, the Company completed the initial closing of capital commitments
and issued and sold 333,333 shares of common stock to investors, for an aggregate purchase price of $5,000,000.
 
Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 
Basis of Presentation
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”). The Company is
an investment company following the specialized accounting and reporting guidance in ASC Topic 946, Financial Services – Investment Companies.
 
Use of Estimates

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
of income and expense during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Cash
 

Cash represents cash deposits held at financial institutions. Cash is held at major financial institutions and, at times, cash held in such accounts may
exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured limit.
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Capital Contributions Receivable
 

Capital contributions receivable represents amounts received from investors through March 29, 2017, for contributions with an effective date before
December 31, 2016.
 
Investment Transactions and Related Investment Income

 
Security transactions, if any, are recorded on a trade-date basis. Realized gains or losses from the repayment or sale of investments are measured

using the specific identification method. The amortized cost basis of investments represents the original cost adjusted for the accretion/amortization of
discounts and premiums and upfront loan origination fees. The Company reports changes from the prior period in fair value of investments that are measured
at fair value as a component of net change in unrealized appreciation (depreciation) on investments in the statement of operations.

 
Dividends are recorded on the ex-dividend date. Interest income, if any, adjusted for amortization of market premium and accretion of market

discount, is recorded on an accrual basis to the extent that the Company expects to collect such amounts. Original issue discount, principally representing the
estimated fair value of detachable equity or warrants obtained in conjunction with the Company’s debt investments, and market discount or premium are
capitalized and accreted or amortized into interest income over the life of the respective security using the effective interest method. Loan origination fees
received in connection with the closing of investments are reported as unearned income which is included as amortized cost of the investment; the unearned
income from such fees is accreted over the contractual life of the loan based on the effective interest method. Upon prepayment of a loan or debt security, any
prepayment penalties, unamortized loan origination fees, and unamortized market discounts are recorded as interest income.
 
Valuation of Investments

 
Once the Company makes investment transactions, the Company will measure the value of its investments at fair value in accordance with

Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosure, or “ASC Topic 820,” issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board, or “FASB.” Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date.

 
The audit committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Audit Committee”) is also responsible for assisting its Board of Directors in valuing

investments that are not publicly traded or for which current market values are not readily available. Investments for which market quotations are readily
available are valued using market quotations, which are generally obtained from independent pricing services, broker-dealers or market makers. With respect
to portfolio investments for which market quotations are not readily available, the Board of Directors, with the assistance of GSVGC and its senior investment
team and independent valuation agents, is responsible for determining in good faith the fair value in accordance with the valuation policy approved by the
Board of Directors. If more than one valuation method is used to measure fair value, the results are evaluated and weighted, as appropriate, considering the
reasonableness of the range indicated by those results. The Company considers a range of fair values based upon the valuation techniques utilized and selects
the value within that range that was most representative of fair value based on current market conditions as well as other factors GSVGC’s senior investment
team considers relevant.

 
The Company’s Board of Directors will make this fair value determination on a quarterly basis and any other time when a decision regarding the fair

value of the portfolio investments is required. A determination of fair value involves subjective judgments and estimates and depends on the facts and
circumstances. Due to the inherent uncertainty of determining the fair value of portfolio investments that do not have a readily available market value, the fair
value of the investments may differ significantly from the values that would have been used had a readily available market value existed for such investments,
and the differences could be material.
 

 70  



 

 
ASC Topic 820 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or

unobservable. ASC Topic 820 also provides guidance regarding a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes information used to measure fair value and the effect
of fair value measurements on earnings and provides for enhanced disclosures determined by the level within the hierarchy of information used in the
valuation. In accordance with ASC Topic 820, these inputs are summarized in the three levels listed below:

 
· Level 1—Valuations are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that are accessible at the measurement date.

 
· Level 2—Valuations are based on quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or

indirectly and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable.
 

· Level 3—Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement. Level 3 assets and liabilities
include financial instruments whose value is determined using pricing models incorporating significant unobservable inputs, such as discounted
cash flow models and other similar valuations techniques. The valuation of Level 3 assets and liabilities generally requires significant
management judgment due to the inability to observe inputs to valuation.

 
In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, an investment’s level

within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of observable input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The assessment of the
significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the investment.

 
Under ASC Topic 820, the fair value measurement also assumes that the transaction to sell an asset occurs in the principal market for the asset or, in

the absence of a principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset, which may be a hypothetical market, and excludes transaction costs. The
principal market for any asset is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for such asset in which the reporting entity would or could sell or
transfer the asset. In determining the principal market for an asset or liability under ASC Topic 820, it is assumed that the reporting entity has access to such
market as of the measurement date. Market participants are defined as buyers and sellers in the principal or most advantageous market that are independent,
knowledgeable and willing and able to transact.

 
With respect to investments for which market quotations are not readily available, the Company’s Board of Directors will undertake a multi-step

valuation process each quarter, as described below:
 

· The quarterly valuation process will begin with each portfolio company or investment being initially valued by GSVGC’s professionals that are
responsible for the portfolio investment;

 
· Preliminary valuation conclusions will then be documented and discussed with GSVGC’s senior investment team;

 
· The Audit Committee will then review these preliminary valuations;

 
· At least once annually, the valuation for each portfolio investment will be reviewed by an independent valuation firm. Certain investments,

however, will not be evaluated by an independent valuation firm unless the net asset value and other aspects of such investments in the
aggregate exceed certain thresholds; and

 
· The Company’s Board of Directors will then discuss valuations and determine the fair value of each investment in the portfolio in good faith,

based on the input of GSVGC, the respective independent valuation firms and the Audit Committee.
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The Company’s investments will be primarily loans made to small, fast-growing companies focused in technology, life sciences, business services,

industrial companies and other high-growth industries. These investments are considered Level 3 assets under ASC Topic 820 because there is no known or
accessible market or market indices for these types of debt instruments and, thus, GSVGC’s senior investment team must estimate the fair value of these
investment securities based on models utilizing unobservable inputs.

 
Investment Valuation Techniques

 
Debt Investments: To estimate the fair value of the Company’s debt investments, the Company compares the cost basis of the debt investment, which

includes original issue discount, to the resulting fair value determined using a discounted cash flow model, unless another model is more appropriate based on
the circumstances at the measurement date. The discounted cash flow approach entails analyzing the interest rate spreads for recently completed financing
transactions which are similar in nature to the Company’s investments, in order to determine a comparable range of effective market interest rates for its
investments. The range of interest rate spreads utilized is based on borrowers with similar credit profiles. All remaining expected cash flows of the investment
are discounted using this range of interest rates to determine a range of fair values for the debt investment.

 
This valuation process includes, among other things, evaluating the underlying investment performance, the portfolio company’s current financial

condition and ability to raise additional capital, as well as macro-economic events that may impact valuations. These events include, but are not limited to,
current market yields and interest rate spreads of similar securities as of the measurement date. Significant increases (decreases) in these unobservable inputs
would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value measurement.

 
Under certain circumstances, the Company may use an alternative technique to value the debt investments to be acquired by the Company that better

reflects the fair value of the investment, such as the price paid or realized in a recently completed transaction or a binding offer received in an arms-length
transaction, the use of multiple probability-weighted cash flow models when the expected future cash flows contain elements of variability or estimates of
proceeds that would be received in a liquidation scenario.

 
Warrants: Fair value of the warrants will be primarily estimated using a Black Scholes option-pricing model. Privately held warrant and equity-

related securities are valued based on an analysis of various factors including, but not limited to, the following:
 

· Underlying enterprise value of the issuer is estimated based on information available, including any information regarding the most recent
rounds of issuer funding. Valuation techniques to determine enterprise value include market multiple approaches, income approaches or
approaches that utilize recent rounds of financing and the portfolio company’s capital structure to determine enterprise value. Valuation
techniques are also utilized to allocate the enterprise fair value of a portfolio company to the specific class of common or preferred stock
exercisable in the warrant. Such techniques take into account the rights and preferences of the portfolio company’s securities, expected exit
scenarios, and volatility associated with such outcomes to allocate the fair value to the specific class of stock held in the portfolio. Such
techniques include Option Pricing Models, or “OPM,” including back-solve techniques, Probability Weighted Expected Return Models, or
“PWERM,” and other techniques as determined to be appropriate.

 
· Volatility, or the amount of uncertainty or risk about the size of the changes in the warrant price, is based on comparable publicly traded

companies within indices similar in nature to the underlying company issuing the warrant. Significant increases (decreases) in this unobservable
input will result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value.

 
· The risk-free interest rates are derived from the U.S. Treasury yield curve. The risk-free interest rates are calculated based on a weighted average

of the risk-free interest rates that correspond closest to the expected remaining life of the warrant. Significant increases (decreases) in this
unobservable input will result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value.

 

 72  



 

 
· Other adjustments, including a marketability discount on private company warrants, are estimated based on judgment about the general industry

environment. Significant increases (decreases) in this unobservable input will result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value.
 

· Historical portfolio experience on cancellations and exercises of warrants are utilized as the basis for determining the estimated life of the
warrants in each financial reporting period. Warrants may be exercised in the event of acquisitions, mergers or initial public offerings, and
cancelled due to events such as bankruptcies, restructuring activities or additional financings. These events cause the expected remaining life
assumption to be shorter than the contractual term of the warrants. Significant increases (decreases) in this unobservable input will result in a
significantly higher (lower) fair value.

 
Under certain circumstances the Company may use an alternative technique to value warrants that better reflects the warrants’ fair values, such as an

expected settlement of a warrant in the near term, a model that incorporates a put feature associated with the warrant, or the price paid or realized in a recently
completed transaction or binding offer received in an arms-length transaction. The fair value may be determined based on the expected proceeds to be
received from such settlement or based on the net present value of the expected proceeds from the put option.

 
These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of judgment. There is no single standard for determining the estimated fair value of

investments which do not have an active public market. Valuations of privately held investments are inherently uncertain, as they are based on estimates, and
their values may fluctuate over time. The determination of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if an active market for
these investments existed. In some cases, the fair value of such investments is best expressed as a range of values derived utilizing different methodologies
from which a single estimate may then be determined.

 
Equity Investments. The fair value of an equity investment in a privately held company is initially the face value of the amount invested. The

Company adjusts the fair value of equity investments in private companies upon the completion of a new third-party round of equity financing subsequent to
the Company’s investment. The Company may make adjustments to fair value, absent a new equity financing event, based upon positive or negative changes
in a portfolio company’s financial or operational performance. The Company may also reference comparable transactions and/or secondary market
transactions to estimate fair value. The fair value of an equity investment in a publicly traded company is based upon the closing public share price on the
date of measurement. These assets are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis. These valuation methodologies involve a significant degree of judgment.
There is no single standard for determining the estimated fair value of investments which do not have an active public market. Valuations of privately held
investments are inherently uncertain, as they are based on estimates, and their values may fluctuate over time. The determination of fair value may differ
materially from the values that would have been used if an active market for these investments existed. In some cases, the fair value of such investments is
best expressed as a range of values derived utilizing different methodologies from which a single estimate may then be determined.
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to their short-term

nature.
 

Investment Classification
 
The Company is a non-diversified company within the meaning of the 1940 Act. Once the Company acquires investments, it will classify its

investments by level of control. As defined in the 1940 Act, control investments are those where there is the ability or power to exercise a controlling
influence over the management or policies of a company. Control is generally deemed to exist when a company or individual possesses or has the right to
acquire within 60 days or less, a beneficial ownership of more than 25% of the voting securities of an investee company. Affiliated investments and affiliated
companies are defined by a lesser degree of influence and are deemed to exist through the possession outright, or via the right to acquire within 60 days or
less, beneficial ownership of 5% or more of the outstanding voting securities owned by another company or person.
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Investments are recognized when the Company assumes an obligation to acquire a financial instrument and assume the risks for gains or losses

related to that instrument. Investments are derecognized when the Company assumes an obligation to sell a financial instrument and foregoes the risks for
gains or losses related to that instrument. Specifically, the Company records all security transactions on a trade date basis. Investments in other, non-security
financial instruments, such as limited partnerships or private companies, are recorded on the basis of subscription date or redemption date, as applicable.
Amounts for investments recognized or derecognized but not yet settled will be reported as receivables for investments sold and payables for investments
acquired, respectively, in the Statements of Assets and Liabilities.
 
Income Taxes

 
The Company intends to elect to be treated as a RIC under Subchapter M of the Code for 2016 and intends to qualify annually thereafter for the tax

treatment applicable to RICs. Generally, a RIC is not subject to federal income taxes on distributed income and gains so long as it meets certain source-of-
income and asset diversification requirements and it distributes at least 90% of its net ordinary income and net short-term capital gains in excess of its net
long-term capital losses, if any, to its stockholders. So long as the Company obtains and maintains its status as a RIC, it generally will not pay corporate-level
U.S. federal income taxes on any ordinary income or capital gains that it distributes at least annually to its stockholders as dividends. Rather, any tax liability
related to income earned by the Company represents obligations of the Company’s investors and will not be reflected in the financial statements of the
Company. The Company intends to distribute sufficient dividends to maintain its RIC status each year and it does not anticipate paying any material federal
income taxes in the future.

 
Differences between taxable income and net increase in net assets resulting from operations either can be temporary, meaning they will reverse in the

future, or permanent. In accordance with Section 946-205-45-3 of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification, as amended (“ASC”), permanent tax
differences are reclassified from distributions in excess of net investment income and net realized loss on investments to paid-in-capital at the end of each
year. These permanent book-to-tax differences are reclassified on the statements of changes in net assets to reflect their tax character but have no impact on
total net assets. For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company reclassified for book purposes amounts arising from permanent book/tax differences
related as follows:

 
Additional paid-in capital  $ (571,915)
Accumulated undistributed net investment income/(loss)   571,915 
 
For federal income tax purposes, the tax cost of investments owned at December 31, 2016 was $2,999,910. The net unrealized depreciation on

investments owned at December 31, 2016 was $61.
 
At December 31, the components of distributable earnings on a tax basis detailed below differ from the amounts reflected in the Company’s

Statements of Assets and Liabilities by temporary and other book/tax differences, primarily relating to the tax treatment of organizational expenses, as
follows:

 
Unrealized appreciation/(depreciation) on investments  $ (61)
Other book to tax differences   (331,065)
Components of distributable earnings at year end  $ (331,126)
 
For the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015, there are no net capital loss carryforwards.
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The Company accounts for income taxes in conformity with ASC Topic 740 — Income Taxes (“ASC 740”). ASC 740 provides guidelines for how

uncertain tax positions should be recognized, measured, presented and disclosed in Consolidated Financial Statements. ASC 740 requires the evaluation of tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in the course of preparing the Company’s tax returns to determine whether the tax positions are “more-likely-than-not”
of being sustained by the applicable tax authority. Tax positions deemed to meet a “more-likely-than-not” threshold would be recorded as a tax benefit or
expense in the current period. The Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense in the
Statements of Operations. There were no material uncertain income tax positions at December 31, 2016. Although we file federal and state tax returns, our
major tax jurisdiction is federal. The Company remains subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service for the first full tax year ending December 31,
2015 and all future years.

 
If we do not distribute (or are not deemed to have distributed) each calendar year sum of (1) 98% of our net ordinary income for each calendar year,

(2) 98.2% of our capital gain net income for the one-year period ending October 31 in that calendar year and (3) any income recognized, but not distributed,
in preceding years (the “Minimum Distribution Amount”), we will generally be required to pay an excise tax equal to 4% of the amount by the which
Minimum Distribution Amount exceeds the distributions for the year. To the extent that we determine that our estimated current year annual taxable income
will be in excess of estimated current year dividend distributions from such taxable income, we accrue excise taxes, if any, on estimated excess taxable
income as taxable income is earned using an annual effective excise tax rate. The annual effective excise tax rate is determined by dividing the estimated
annual excise tax by the estimated annual taxable income.
 
Per Share Information

 
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per common share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period

presented. For the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period ended December 31, 2015, basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share were the same because
there were no potentially dilutive securities outstanding. Per share data is based on the weighted average shares outstanding.
 
Distributions

 
The Company generally intends to distribute, out of assets legally available for distribution, substantially all of its available earnings, on a quarterly

basis, subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors. For the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period ended December 31, 2015, the Company did
not declare or pay any dividends or distributions.
 
Organization and Offering Costs

 
Organization costs include, among other things, the cost of organizing as a Maryland corporation, including the cost of legal services and other fees

pertaining to our organization, all of which are expensed as incurred. Offering costs include, among other things, legal fees and other costs pertaining to the
preparation of the Company’s private placement memorandum and other offering documents, including travel-related expenses. As of December 31, 2016,
total organization expenses incurred amounted to $354,713. Offering expenses charged to paid-in capital totaled $645,287.

 
Pursuant to the investment advisory agreement (the “Advisory Agreement”) between the Company and GSVGC, the Company and GSVGC agreed

that initial organization and operating costs will be borne by the Company up to a maximum amount of $1,000,000, provided that the amount of initial
organizational and offering costs in excess of $1,000,000 would be paid by GSVGC. Total offering expenses amounted to $647,458, which when combined
with organizational expenses would equal $1,002,171. Organizational and offering expenses exceeded the agreed-upon cap by $2,171. Accordingly, offering
expenses recognized were limited to $645,287.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

 
In January 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-01, Financial

Instruments — Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“ASU 2016-01”). ASU 2016-01
affects accounting for equity investments and financial liabilities where the fair value option has been elected. ASU 2016-01 requires an entity to measure
equity investments at fair value through net income. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. The Company is
evaluating the impact this accounting pronouncement would have on the accompanying financial statements.

 
Note 3 – Commitments and Contingencies

 
In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into investment agreements under which it commits to make an investment in a portfolio

company at some future date or over a specified period of time. At December 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not have any unfunded loan commitments
to provide debt financing to certain of its portfolio companies.

 
The Company is currently not subject to any material legal proceedings, nor, to its knowledge, is any material proceeding threatened against the

Company. From time to time, the Company may be a party to certain legal proceeds in the ordinary course of business, including proceedings relating to the
enforcement of its rights under contracts with its portfolio companies. While the outcome of these legal proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, the
Company does not expect that these proceedings will have a material effect upon its business, financial condition or results of operations.
 
Note 4 – Concentration of Credit Risk

 
The Company is subject to credit risk to the extent that any financial institution with which it conducts business is unable to fulfill contractual

obligations on its behalf. Management monitors the financial condition of those financial institutions and does not currently anticipate any losses from these
counterparties.
 
Note 5 – Net Losses per Common Share

 
The following information sets forth the computation of basic and diluted losses per common share for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the

period ended December 31, 2015. Per share data is based on the weighted average shares outstanding.
 

  Year Ended   Period Ended  
  December 31, 2016  December 31, 2015 
Net Decrease in Net Assets Resulting from Operations  $ (903,041)  $ - 
Per Share Data (1):         
Weighted average shares outstanding for year         

Basic   10,774   1,667 
Diluted   10,774   1,667 

Basic and diluted loss per common share         
Basic  $ (83.82)  $ - 
Diluted  $ (83.82)  $ - 

 
(1) Per share data is based on average weighted shares outstanding

 
Note 6 – Net Assets

 
The Company has the authority to issue 100,000,000 shares of common stock at $0.01 per share par value.
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At December 31, 2016, the Company had total commitments of $209,901,500. The minimum capital commitment of an investor is $1,000,000.

Management, however, may waive the minimum capital commitment at its discretion.
 
Capital commitments may be drawn down by the Company on a pro rata basis, as needed, upon not less than ten (10) days’ prior written notice for

the purposes of funding the Company’s investments (including follow-on investments), paying the Company’s expenses, including fees under the Advisory
Agreement, and/or maintaining a reserve account for the payment of future expenses or liabilities.

 
Note 7 – Related Party Agreements and Transactions
 
Advisory Agreement

 
On November 29, 2016, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the Advisory Agreement with GSVGC under which GSVGC, subject to the

overall supervision of the Board of Directors, manages the day-to-day operations of and provides investment advisory services to the Company. Under the
terms of the Advisory Agreement, GSVGC will:

 
· determine the composition of the Company’s portfolio, the nature and timing of the changes to the portfolio and the manner of implementing such

changes;
 

· identify, evaluate and negotiate the structure of the investments the Company makes;
 

· execute, close, service and monitor the investments the Company makes;
 

· determine the securities and other assets that the Company will purchase, retain or sell;
 

· perform due diligence on prospective investments; and
 

· provide the Company with other such investment advisory, research and related services as the Company may, from time to time, reasonably require
for the investment of its funds.

 
Pursuant to the Advisory Agreement, the Company will pay GSVGC a fee for its investment advisory and management services consisting of two

components – a base management fee and an incentive fee. The cost of both the base management fee and incentive fee will ultimately be borne by the
Company’s stockholders.

 
Base Management Fee

 
The base management fee is payable on the first day of each calendar quarter, calculated based on the average of the amount of capital commitments

and assets purchased with borrowed funds or other forms of leverage (collectively, the “Gross Assets”) during the preceding calendar quarter. Until the earlier
of (1) the consummation of an initial public offering (“IPO”) of the Public Fund (defined below) in connection with a Spin-Off transaction (defined below)
and (2) the earliest date at which (a) all capital commitments have been called for investments or expenses and (b) the Company holds no more than 10.0% of
its total assets in cash, the base management fee will be the lesser of (i) an amount equal to 0.4375% (1.75% annualized) of the average amount of the
Company’s Gross Assets during the most recently completed calendar quarter and (ii) the actual operating expenses incurred by GSVGC during such calendar
quarter.
 

Following the earlier of (1) the consummation of an IPO of the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction and (2) the earliest date at
which (a) all capital commitments have been called for investments or expenses and (b) the Company holds no more than 10% of its total assets in cash, the
base management fee will be an amount equal to 0.4375% (1.75% annualized) of the average amount of the Company’s Gross Assets during the most recently
completed calendar quarter for so long as the aggregate amount of the Company’s Gross Assets as of the end of the most recently completed calendar quarter
is less than $500,000,000. If the aggregate amount of the Company’s Gross Assets as of the end of the most recently completed calendar quarter is equal to or
greater than $500,000,000, but less than $1,000,000,000, the base management fee will be an amount equal to 0.40% (1.60% annualized) of the average
amount of the Company’s Gross Assets for the most recently completed calendar quarter. If the aggregate amount of the Company’s Gross Assets as of the
end of the most recently completed calendar quarter is equal to or greater than $1,000,000,000, the base management fee will be an amount equal to 0.375%
(1.50% annualized) of the average amount of the Company’s Gross Assets for the most recently completed calendar quarter.
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The base management fee will be payable for the first partial quarter in which the initial closing of the Company’s private placement of shares of its

common stock occurs based on the aggregate amount of capital commitments as of the initial closing of the private placement, and will be appropriately
prorated for any partial month or quarter. GSVGC earned management fees of $169,684 and $0 for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period ended
December 31, 2015, respectively.

 
For purposes of the Advisory Agreement, a “Spin-Off transaction” includes a transaction whereby the Company offers its stockholders the option to

elect to either (i) retain their ownership of shares of the Company’s common stock; (ii) exchange their shares of the Company’s common stock for shares of
common stock in a newly formed entity (the “Public Fund”) that will elect to be regulated as a BDC under the 1940 Act and treated as a RIC under
Subchapter M of the Code, and will use its commercially reasonable best efforts to complete an IPO of shares of its common stock not later than three years
after the Company’s final closing of its private placement of shares of its common stock, which closing will occur no later than December 31, 2017; or (iii)
exchange their shares of the Company’s common stock for interests of one or more newly formed entities (each, a “Liquidating Fund”) that will each be
organized as a limited liability company, and which will, among other things, seek to complete an orderly wind down and/or liquidation of any such
Liquidating Fund.

 
Incentive Fee

 
The incentive fee, which provides GSVGC with a share of the income that GSVGC generates for the Company, will consist of an investment-income

component and a capital-gains component, which are largely independent of each other, with the result that one component may be payable even if the other
is not.

 
Under the investment-income component, the Company will pay GSVGC each quarter an incentive fee with respect to the Company’s pre-incentive

fee net investment income. The investment-income component will be calculated and payable quarterly in arrears based on the pre-incentive fee net
investment income for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. Payments based on pre-incentive fee net investment income will be based on the pre-
incentive fee net investment income earned for the quarter. For this purpose, “pre-incentive fee net investment income” means interest income, dividend
income and any other income (including any other fees, such as commitment, origination, structuring, diligence, managerial and consulting fees or other fees
that the Company receives from portfolio companies) the Company accrues during the fiscal quarter, minus the Company’s operating expenses for the quarter
(including the base management fee, expenses payable under the administration agreement (the “Administration Agreement”) with the Administrator, and any
dividends paid on any issued and outstanding preferred stock, but excluding the incentive fee); provided however, that pre-incentive fee net investment
income will be reduced by multiplying the pre-incentive fee net investment income earned for the quarter by a fraction, the numerator of which is the
Company’s total assets minus average daily borrowings for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, and the denominator of which is the Company’s total
assets for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter. Pre-incentive fee net investment income includes, in the case of investments with a deferred interest
feature (such as original issue discount, debt instruments with pay in kind interest and zero coupon securities), accrued income that the Company has not yet
received in cash; provided, however, that the portion of the investment-income component of the incentive fee attributable to deferred interest features will be
paid, only if and to the extent received in cash, and any accrual thereof will be reversed if and to the extent such interest is reversed in connection with any
write off or similar treatment of the investment giving rise to any deferred interest accrual, applied in each case in the order such interest was accrued. Such
subsequent payments in respect of previously accrued income will not reduce the amounts payable for any quarter pursuant to the calculation of the
investment-income component described above. Pre-incentive fee net investment income does not include any realized capital gains, realized capital losses or
unrealized capital appreciation or depreciation.
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Pre-incentive fee net investment income, expressed as a rate of return on the value of the Company’s net assets (defined as total assets less liabilities)

at the end of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, will be compared to a “hurdle rate” of 2.0% per quarter (8.0% annualized). The Company will pay
GSVGC an investment-income incentive fee with respect to the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income in each calendar quarter as follows: (1)
no investment-income incentive fee in any calendar quarter in which the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income does not exceed the hurdle rate
of 2.0%; (2) 80% of the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income with respect to that portion of such pre-incentive fee net investment income, if
any, that exceeds the hurdle rate but is less than 2.667% in any calendar quarter (10.668% annualized) (the portion of the Company’s pre-incentive fee net
investment income that exceeds the hurdle but is less than 2.667% is referred to as the “catch-up”; the “catch-up” is meant to provide GSVGC with 20.0% of
the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income as if a hurdle did not apply if the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income exceeds
2.667% in any calendar quarter (10.668% annualized)); and (3) 20.0% of the amount of the Company’s pre-incentive fee net investment income, if any, that
exceeds 2.667% in any calendar quarter (10.668% annualized) payable to GSVGC (once the hurdle is reached and the catch-up is achieved, 20.0% of all pre-
incentive fee net investment income thereafter is allocated to GSVGC).

 
Until the consummation of an IPO of the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, in the event that the sum of the Company’s

cumulative net realized losses since the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC exceeds 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate
investments made by the Company since the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC as of the end of the quarter, the investment-income
component of the incentive fee will not be payable for such quarter until the first subsequent quarter in which the sum of the Company’s cumulative net
realized losses since the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC is less than 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments made by
the Company since the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC as of the end of such subsequent quarter; provided, however, that in no event
will any investment-income component of the incentive fee be paid for any prior quarter after the three-year anniversary of the end of such quarter.

 
After the consummation of an IPO of the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, in the event that the sum of the Company’s

cumulative net realized losses for the previous four fiscal quarters or, if fewer than four fiscal quarters have passed since such IPO, that number of fiscal
quarters since such IPO (the “Look-Back Period”), exceeds 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments (i) made by the Company during the Look-
Back Period or (ii) transferred to the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction during the Look-Back Period, the investment-income component
of the incentive fee will not be payable for such quarter until the first subsequent quarter in which the sum of the Company’s cumulative net realized losses
for the Look-Back Period is less than 2.0% of the total non-control/non-affiliate investments (i) made by the Company during the Look-Back Period or (ii)
transferred to the Public Fund in connection with a Spin-Off transaction during the Look-Back Period; provided, however, that in no event will any
investment-income component of the incentive fee be paid for any prior quarter after the three-year anniversary of the end of such quarter.

 
Under the capital-gains component of the incentive fee, the Company will pay GSVGC as of the end of each calendar year 20.0% of the Company’s

aggregate cumulative realized capital gains from the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC through the end of that year, computed net of
the Company’s aggregate cumulative realized capital losses and aggregate cumulative unrealized depreciation through the end of such year, less the aggregate
amount of any previously paid capital-gains incentive fee; provided, however, that the Company will not pay the capital-gains component of the incentive fee
to GSVGC for any calendar year in which the sum of the Company’s (i) pre-incentive fee net investment income and (ii) realized gains less realized losses
and unrealized capital depreciation from the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC through the end of such calendar year, expressed as a
rate of return on the value of the Company’s net assets (defined as total assets less liabilities) at the end of such calendar year is less than 8.0% until the first
subsequent calendar quarter in which the sum of the Company’s (i) pre-incentive fee net investment income and (ii) realized gains less realized losses and
unrealized capital depreciation from the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC through, and including, the end of such subsequent calendar
quarter, expressed as a rate of return on the value of the Company’s net assets (defined as total assets less liabilities) at the end of such calendar quarter is
equal to or exceeds 8.0%; provided, further, that in no event will any capital-gains component of the incentive fee be paid for any prior year after the three-
year anniversary of the end of such year. For the foregoing purpose, the Company’s “aggregate cumulative realized capital gains” will not include any
unrealized appreciation.
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No incentive fees were earned for the year ended December 31, 2016 and the period ended December 31, 2015.

 
Spin-Off Incentive Fee

 
In connection with a Spin-Off transaction, the investment-income component of the incentive fee will be payable in respect of the exchanged shares

of the Company’s common stock (the “Spin-Off Income Incentive Fee”) and the capital-gains component of the incentive fee will be payable in respect of the
exchanged shares of the Company’s common stock (the “Spin-Off Capital Gains Incentive Fee,” and together with the Spin-Off Income Incentive Fee, the
“Spin-Off Incentive Fee”). The Company expects that the Spin-Off Capital Gains Incentive Fee would be calculated as of the date of the completion of a
Spin-Off transaction as if such date were a calendar year-end for purposes of calculating and paying the Spin-Off Capital Gains Incentive Fee. No Spin-Off
Incentive Fee will be payable unless, on the date of the completion of a Spin-Off transaction, the sum of the Company’s (i) pre-incentive fee net investment
income and (ii) realized capital gains less realized capital losses and unrealized capital depreciation from the date of the Company’s election to be regulated as
a BDC through, and including, the date of the completion of such Spin-Off transaction, is greater than 8% of the cumulative net investments made by the
Company since the Company’s election to be regulated as a BDC.
 
Administration Agreement

 
The Company will reimburse the Administrator for the allocable portion of overhead and other expenses incurred by the Administrator in performing

its obligations under the Administration Agreement, including furnishing the Company with office facilities, equipment and clerical, bookkeeping and
recordkeeping services at such facilities, as well as providing other administrative services. In addition, the Company will reimburse the Administrator for the
fees and expenses associated with performing compliance functions, and the Company’s allocable portion of the compensation of certain of its officers,
including the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, Chief Compliance Officer and any administrative support staff. Pursuant to the terms of the Administration
Agreement, the amounts payable to the Administrator by the Company in any fiscal year will not exceed the greater of (i) 0.75% of the aggregate capital
commitments as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal year and (ii) $1 million. The Company reimbursed the Administrator $527,843 and accrued a
payable of $648,805 due to the Administrator for the year ended December 31, 2016, which includes amounts reimbursable to the Administrator for
organizational and offering costs, professional fees and other expenses. The Company did not reimburse or accrue a payable due to the Administrator for the
year ended December 31, 2015.

 
License Agreement

 
The Company entered into a license agreement with GSV Asset Management, LLC (“GSV Asset Management”) pursuant to which GSV Asset

Management has agreed to grant the Company a non-exclusive, royalty-free license to use the name “GSV.” Under this agreement, the Company has the right
to use the GSV name for so long as GSVGC or one of its affiliates remains the Company’s investment adviser. Other than with respect to this limited license,
the Company has no legal right to the “GSV” name.

 
Oaktree Strategic Relationship
 

In December 2016, GSVGC entered into a strategic relationship with Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. (“Oaktree”). In connection with the
strategic relationship, OCM Growth Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“OCM”) managed by Oaktree, made a $125 million capital
commitment to the Company (the “OCM Commitment”). OCM has granted a proxy to the Company pursuant to which the shares held by OCM will be voted
in the same manner as the Company’s other stockholders vote their shares.
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In connection with the OCM Commitment, the Company entered into a stockholder agreement, dated December 15, 2016 (the “Stockholder

Agreement”), with OCM, pursuant to which OCM has a right to nominate a member of the Company’s Board of Directors for election. Brian Laibow was
appointed to the Company’s Board of Directors, effective January 25, 2017, as OCM’s representative. OCM also holds an interest in GSVGC and has the
right to appoint a member of GSVGC’s board of managers and a member of GSVGC’s investment committee. OCM’s initial appointee to GSVGC’s board of
managers and investment committee is Brian Laibow.

 
Note 8 – Financial Highlights
 

  
Year ended

December 31, 2016  

For the period
from August 31,

2015 (date of
inception) through
December 31, 2015 

Per Share Data (1):         
Net asset value at beginning of period  $ 15.00  $ - 
Net investment loss   (83.81)   - 
Change in unrealized depreciation   (0.01)   - 
Issuance of common shares   79.20   - 
Net asset value at end of period  $ 10.38  $ 15.00 

Total return based on net asset value (2)   (30.80)%  - 
Weighted average shares outstanding for period, basic   10,774   1,667 
Ratio/Supplemental Data:         
Net assets at end of period  $ 3,476,672  $ 25,000 
Average net assets   151,520   - 
Annualized ratio of net operating expenses to average net assets   595.90%   -
Annualized ratio of net investment loss to average net assets   (595.90)%  -
Annualized ratio of net operating expenses excluding management fees, incentive fees,

and interest expense to average net assets   484.00%   -
Annualized ratio of net decrease in net assets resulting from operations to average net

assets   (596.00)%  -
 
(1) Financial highlights are based on weighted average shares outstanding.
(2) Total return based on net asset value is based upon the change in net asset value per share between the opening and ending net asset values per share in

the period. The total returns are not annualized.
 
Note 9 – Subsequent Events
 

Robert Greifeld resigned as a member of the Company’s Board of Directors effective January 20, 2017. Mr. Greifeld did not resign because of any
disagreement with the Company on any matter relating to the Company’s operations, policies or practices. Subsequently, Mr. Greifeld has been appointed to
GSVGC’s Board of Managers.

 
On January 25, 2017, the Company’s Board of Directors, upon the recommendation of the nominating and corporate governance committee of the

Company’s Board of Directors, increased the number of directors that constitutes the full Board of Directors to five directors from three directors and
appointed the following individuals to serve as members of the Board of Directors: (1) Lewis W. Solimene, Jr., to fill the vacancy created by the resignation
of Robert Greifeld, and to serve until the Company’s 2018 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is duly elected and qualifies; (2) Julie
Persily, to serve until the Company’s 2018 annual meeting of stockholders and until her successor is duly elected and qualifies; and (3) Brian Laibow, to serve
until the Company’s 2019 annual meeting of stockholders and until his successor is duly elected and qualifies. The Board of Directors has determined that Mr.
Solimene and Ms. Persily are not “interested persons,” as such term is defined in Section 2(a)(19) of the 1940 Act, of the Company.

 
From January 1, 2017 through March 29, 2017, the Company closed on additional capital commitments of $8,400,000 bringing the total committed

capital to $218,301,500 as of March 29, 2017. There have been no additional subsequent events that require recognition or disclosure through March 29,
2017.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

 
None.

 
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

We evaluated, under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act), as
of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective and provided reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in our periodic SEC filings is
(1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and (2) is accumulated and communicated
to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. However, in evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives, and management necessarily was required to apply
its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of such possible controls and procedures.

 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

This annual report does not include a report or management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an attestation report of
the Company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by rules of the SEC for newly public companies.

 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting periods during the quarter ended December 31, 2016 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 
Item 9B.  Other Information

 
Not applicable.
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PART III

 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

 
Information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our 2017 Proxy Statement. The 2017 Proxy Statement will be filed with the

SEC within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Form 10-K pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.
 
We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics for our employees and directors, including, specifically, our Chief Executive Officer, our

Chief Financial Officer, and our other executive officers. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics satisfies the requirements for a “code of ethics” within the
meaning of SEC rules. A copy of the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our website at http://gsvgc.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/GSV-
GC-Fund-SOX-Code-of-Ethics.pdf. We intend to disclose any changes in, or waivers from, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such
information on the same website or by filing a Form 8-K, in each case to the extent such disclosure is required by rules of the SEC or NASDAQ.

 
Item 11. Executive Compensation.

 
Information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our 2017 Proxy Statement.

 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

 
Information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our 2017 Proxy Statement.

 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

 
Information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our 2017 Proxy Statement.
 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
 

Information in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our 2017 Proxy Statement.
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PART IV

 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

 
The following documents are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:
 

(a) Financial Statements
 

(1) The following financial statements are set forth in Item 8 of Part II:
 

  Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  63
Statements of Assets and Liabilities as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015  64
Statements of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2016 and for the period from August 31, 2015 (inception) to December 31, 2015  65
Statements of Changes in Net Assets for the year ended December 31, 2016 and for the period from August 31, 2015 (inception) to December 31,

2015  66
Statements of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2016 and for the period from August 31, 2015 (inception) to December 31, 2015  67
Schedule of Investments as of December 31, 2016  68
Notes to Financial Statements  69

 
(b) Exhibits required to be filed by Item 601 of Regulation S-K
 

Please note that the agreements included as exhibits to this Form 10-K are included to provide information regarding their terms and are not intended
to provide any other factual or disclosure information about us or the other parties to the agreements. The agreements contain representations and warranties
by each of the parties to the applicable agreement that have been made solely for the benefit of the other parties to the applicable agreement and may not
describe the actual state of affairs as of the date they were made or at any other time.
 

The following exhibits are filed as part of this report or hereby incorporated by reference to exhibits previously filed with the SEC:
 
3.1 Articles of Amendment and Restatement(1)

 
3.2 Bylaws(2)

 
4.1 Form of Subscription Agreement*
 
9.1 Voting Proxy of OCM Growth Holdings, LLC in favor of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.*
 
10.1 Investment Advisory Agreement between GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. and GSV Growth Credit LLC, as the investment adviser(1)

 
10.2 Administration Agreement between GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. and GSV Credit Service Company, LLC, as the administrator(1)

 
10.3 Stockholder Agreement between GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. and OCM Growth Holdings, LLC(1)

 
10.4 Custody Agreement between GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as the custodian(1)

 
10.5 Dividend Reinvestment Plan(3)

 
10.6 Form of Indemnification Agreement(3)

 
10.7 Trademark License Agreement by and between the Registrant and GSV Asset Management, LLC(3)

 
11.1 Computation of Per Share Earnings (Included in the notes to the financial statements contained in this report)*
 
21.1 List of Subsidiaries—None
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31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended*
 
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended*
 
32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
 
32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002*
 
 

* Filed herewith.
(1) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 19, 2016.
(2) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 000-55544) filed with the SEC on December 9, 2015.
(3) Previously filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (File No. 000-55544) filed with the SEC on February 12, 2016.
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SIGNATURES

 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on

its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 GSV GROWTH CREDIT FUND INC.
Date: March 29, 2017   
 By: /s/ R. David Spreng
  R. David Spreng
  President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of

Directors
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
 
Date: March 29, 2017 By: /s/ R. David Spreng
  R. David Spreng
  President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of

Directors
  (Principal Executive Officer)
   
Date: March 29, 2017 By: /s/ Thomas B. Raterman
  Thomas B. Raterman
  Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary
  (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
   
Date: March 29, 2017 By: /s/ Gary Kovacs
  Gary Kovacs
  Director
   
Date: March 29, 2017 By: /s/ Brian Laibow
  Brian Laibow
  Director
   
Date: March 29, 2017 By: /s/ Julie Persily
  Julie Persily
  Director
   
Date: March 29, 2017 By: /s/ Lewis W. Solimene, Jr.
  Lewis W. Solimene, Jr.
  Director
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Exhibit 4.1

 

 

Form of Subscription Documents for
 

GSV GROWTH CREDIT FUND INC.
 

Confidential
 

   



 

 
DIRECTIONS FOR THE COMPLETION
OF THE SUBSCRIPTION DOCUMENTS

 
Prospective investors must complete the Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”), the Investor Questionnaire (the “Investor

Questionnaire”) and any necessary attachments (the Subscription Agreement, the Investor Questionnaire and all such attachments collectively, the
“Subscription Documents”) contained in this package in the manner described below. Capitalized terms not defined herein are used as defined in the Private
Placement Memorandum of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc., a Maryland Corporation (as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time to time). For
purposes of these Subscription Documents, the “Investor” is the person or entity for whose account the common stock is being purchased and that can satisfy
the representations and warranties set forth in the Subscription Documents. Another person or entity with investment authority may execute the Subscription
Documents on behalf of the Investor, but should indicate the capacity in which it is doing so and the name of the Investor.

 
1. Subscription Agreement:
 

(a) Each Investor should fill in the amount of the Capital Commitment, date, print the name of the Investor and sign (and print name, capacity and
title of signatory, if applicable) on page 14.

 
2. Investor Questionnaire:
 

(a) In Section A, each Investor should fill in its name, type of entity, address, tax identification or social security number, contact person(s),
telephone and facsimile numbers, email address, and the other requested information.

 
(b) Each Investor should check the box or boxes in Section B which are next to the category or categories under which the Investor qualifies as an

“accredited investor”.
 
(c) Each Investor that is an individual should respond to the question in Section C.
 
(d) Each Investor that is an entity should provide the information and respond to the questions in Section D.
 
(e) Each Investor should respond to the questions in Section E.
 
(f) Each Investor should respond to the questions in Section F.
 
(g) Print the name of the Investor and sign (and print name, capacity and title of signatory, if applicable) on page 11 of the Investor Questionnaire.

 
3. Customer Identification Program — Documentation Requirements (if the documentation may have previously been submitted, please contact the

Company to confirm.)
 

(a) Formation:
 

Organized entities, including corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, and trusts: provide a certificate of formation and
formation agreement.

 
(b) Identification:

 
Investors who are natural persons: provide a current (i.e., non-expired) copy of a government issued photo identification.
 
Corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, and trusts: provide a current (i.e., non-expired) copy of a government issued photo
identification of natural persons who ultimately, directly or indirectly, benefit from 10% or more of the proceeds of the entity or hold 10% or
more of the control rights.

 
Upon review of the above documents, the Company may require additional documentation in order to satisfy its requirements for Know Your
Customer and Anti-Money Laundering.

 
4. Tax Forms:

 
Each U.S. Investor is required to fill in and sign and date the attached Form W-9 and each non-U.S. investor is required to fill in and date the
relevant Form(s) W-8 (W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY, W-8ECI or W-8EXP), as applicable, in accordance with the instructions to such Form, and
in the event that any applicable reduction or exemption from U.S. federal withholding tax is claimed, is required to provide all applicable
attachments or addendums as required to claim such exemption or reduction.
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5. Evidence of Authorization:

 
Each Investor must provide valid evidence of authorization, such as a list of authorized agents, and a current copy of a government issued photo
identification for the individual(s) authorized to sign the Subscription Documents.

 
(a) For Corporations:

 
Generally, Investors which are corporations must submit certified corporate resolutions authorizing the subscription and identifying the
corporate officer empowered to sign the Subscription Documents.

 
(b) For Partnerships:
 

Partnerships must submit a certified copy of the partnership certificate (in the case of limited partnerships) or partnership agreement
identifying the general partners.
 

(c) For Limited Liability Companies:
 

Limited liability companies must submit a certified copy of the limited liability operating agreement or certificate of formation identifying
the manager or managing member, as applicable, empowered to sign the Subscription Documents.
 

(d) For Trusts:
 

Trusts must submit a copy of the trust agreement.
 

(e) For Employee Benefit Plans:
 

Employee benefit plans must submit a certificate of an appropriate fiduciary certifying that the subscription has been authorized and
identifying the individual empowered to sign the Subscription Documents.

 
6. Delivery of Subscription Documents:
 
Two (2) original completed and executed copies of the Subscription Agreement and the Investor Questionnaire, together with the Form W-9 or W-8,
(W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY, W-8ECI or W-8EXP), as applicable, and any required evidence of authorization, should be delivered to the Company
at the following address:

 
GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.
Attn: David Spreng
2925 Woodside Road
Woodside, CA 94062
 

In addition, please send (i) the completed and executed Subscription Agreement, (ii) the completed and executed Investor Questionnaire, (iii) the
completed Form W-9 or W-8 (W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY, W-8ECI or W-8EXP), as applicable, and (iv) any required evidence of authorization to
GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc., by electronic mail to the attention of “David Spreng” at dspreng@gsvgc.com as soon as possible.
 
Inquiries regarding subscription procedures (including if the Investor Questionnaire indicates that any Investor’s response to a question requires further
information) should be directed to David Spreng at dspreng@gsvgc.com. If the Investor’s subscription is accepted (in whole or in part) by the
Company, a fully executed set of the Subscription Documents will be returned to the Investor.
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7. Wire Instructions:
 
In connection with an Investor’s investment, the Investor shall be required to contribute capital pursuant to Funding Notices (as defined below). Upon
receipt of a Funding Notice, payment shall be sent by wire transfer pursuant to the wire instructions set forth below. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
wire instructions may change in the sole discretion of the Company. Therefore, Investors should wire funds in accordance with the wire instructions set
forth in any Funding Notice issued by the Company. To the extent there is any discrepancy in the wire instructions set forth below and the wire
instructions set forth in a Funding Notice, the wire instructions in such Funding Notice shall prevail.
 
Please wire funds to:

Bank:  The PrivateBank
ABA #:  071006486
Account Name:  GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.
Account #:  2477424
Notation:  «Investor Name»

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT

 
GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.
2925 Woodside Road
Woodside, CA 94062
 
Ladies and Gentlemen:

 
1. Subscription.
 
(a) The undersigned (the “Investor”) subscribes for and agrees to purchase shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Shares”), in GSV

Growth Credit Fund Inc. (“GSV Growth Credit Fund” or the “Company”) with a capital commitment (“Capital Commitment”) in the amount set forth on the
signature page below. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that this subscription (i) is irrevocable on the part of the Investor, (ii) is conditioned upon
acceptance by or on behalf of the Company, and (iii) may be accepted or rejected in whole or in part by the Company in its sole discretion. The Investor
agrees to be bound by all the terms and provisions of the Company’s Private Placement Memorandum, as amended, restated and/or supplemented from time
to time (the “Memorandum”) related to the Company’s private offering of Shares (the “Offering”), the Company’s Bylaws, substantially in the form attached
hereto as Appendix A, as amended from time to time (the “Bylaws”), the Company’s Articles of Amendment and Restatement, substantially in the form
attached hereto as Appendix B, as amended from time to time (the “Charter”), the Investment Advisory Agreement with GSV Growth Credit LLC, our
investment adviser (the “Adviser”), substantially in the form attached hereto as Appendix C, as amended from time to time (the “Advisory Agreement”), the
Administration Agreement between the Company and GSV Credit Service Company, LLC, our administrator (the “Administrator”), substantially in the form
attached hereto as Appendix D, as amended from time to time (the “Administration Agreement,” and together with the Memorandum, the Bylaws, the Charter
and the Advisory Agreement, the “Operative Documents”), together with this Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”). Capitalized terms not
defined herein are used as defined in the Memorandum. The Company expects to enter into separate Subscription Agreements (the “Other Subscription
Agreements,” and, together with this Subscription Agreement, the “Subscription Agreements”) with other investors (the “Other Investors,” and together with
the Investor, the “Investors”), providing for the sale of Shares to the Other Investors. This Subscription Agreement and the Other Subscription Agreements are
separate agreements, and the sales of Shares to the undersigned and the Other Investors are separate sales.

 
(b) The Investor agrees to purchase Shares in this Offering for an aggregate purchase price equal to its Capital Commitment, payable at such times and

in such amounts as required by the Company, under the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein. On each Capital Drawdown Date (as defined
below), the Investor agrees to purchase from the Company, and the Company agrees to issue to the Investor, a number of Shares equal to the Drawdown
Share Amount (as defined below) at an aggregate price equal to the Drawdown Purchase Price (as defined below); provided, however, that in no circumstance
will an Investor be required to purchase Shares for an amount in excess of its Unused Capital Commitment (as defined below).

 
“Drawdown Purchase Price” shall mean, for each Capital Drawdown Date, an amount in U.S. dollars determined by multiplying (i) the aggregate amount of
Capital Commitments being drawn down by the Company from all Investors on that Capital Drawdown Date, by (ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the
Unused Capital Commitment of the Investor and the denominator of which is the aggregate Unused Capital Commitments of all Investors that are not
Defaulting Investors or Excluded Investors (as defined below).
 
“Drawdown Share Amount” shall mean, for each Capital Drawdown Date, a number of Shares determined by dividing (i) the Drawdown Purchase Price for
that Capital Drawdown Date by (ii) the applicable Per Share Price (as defined below), with the resulting quotient adjusted to the nearest whole number to
avoid the issuance of fractional shares.
 
“Per Share NAV” shall mean, for any Capital Drawdown Date or Catch-Up Date (as defined below), the net asset value per Share, as determined by the
Company’s Board of Directors (including any committee of the Board, the “Board”), as of the end of the most recent calendar quarter prior to the date of the
Funding Notice (as defined below).
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“Per Share Price” shall mean, for any Capital Drawdown Date or Catch-Up Date (as defined below), an amount in U.S. dollars equal to the greater of (i)
$15.00 or (ii) the Per Share NAV; provided, that the Per Share Price shall be subject to the limitations of Section 23 under the Investment Company Act of
1940, as amended (the “1940 Act”).
 
“Unused Capital Commitment” shall mean, with respect to an Investor, the amount of such Investor’s Capital Commitment as of any date reduced by the
aggregate amount of contributions made by that Investor at all previous Capital Drawdown Dates and any Catch-Up Date pursuant to Section 1(b) and
Section 2(c), respectively.

 
2. Closings.
 
(a) The initial closing of this Offering will take place as soon as practicable in the sole discretion of the Adviser upon the receipt of aggregate Capital

Commitments totaling at least $50 million (such date being the “Initial Closing Date,” and the date on which each subsequent closing occurs, a “Subsequent
Closing Date,” and each Subsequent Closing Date with the Initial Closing Date shall be referred to herein as the “Closing Date”). The Company may accept
additional Capital Commitments on one or more Subsequent Closing Dates until December 31, 2017 (the last of which Subsequent Closing Dates shall be
referred to herein as the “Final Closing”).

 
(b) The Investor agrees to provide any information reasonably requested by the Company to verify the accuracy of the representations contained herein,

including without limitation the investor questionnaire (the “Investor Questionnaire”). Promptly after the Closing Date, the Company will deliver to the
Investor or its representative, if the Investor’s subscription has been accepted, a countersigned copy of this Subscription Agreement and other documents and
instruments necessary to reflect the Investor’s status as an investor in the Company, including any documents and instruments to be delivered pursuant to this
Subscription Agreement.

 
(c) The Company may enter into Other Subscription Agreements with Other Investors on a Subsequent Closing Date and any Other Investor whose

subscription has been accepted at such Subsequent Closing Date referred to as a “Subsequent Investor.” Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 1(b) and
3, on one or more dates to be determined by the Company that occur on or following the Subsequent Closing Date but no later than the next succeeding
Capital Drawdown Date (each, a “Catch-Up Date”), each Subsequent Investor shall be required to purchase from the Company a number of Shares with an
aggregate purchase price necessary to ensure that, upon payment of the aggregate purchase price for such Shares by the Subsequent Investor in the aggregate
for all Catch-Up Dates, such Subsequent Investor’s Invested Percentage (as defined below) shall be equal to the Invested Percentage of all prior Investors
(other than any Defaulting Investors or Excluded Investors) (the “Catch-Up Purchase Price”). Upon payment of the Catch-Up Purchase Price by the Investor
on a Catch-Up Date and payment by Other Investors of the requisite amount, the Company shall issue to each such Subsequent Investor a number of Shares
determined by dividing (x) the Catch-Up Purchase Price for such Subsequent Investor by (y) the Per Share Price for such Subsequent Investor as of a Catch-
Up Date. For the avoidance of doubt, in the event that the Catch-Up Date and a Capital Drawdown Date occur on the same calendar day, such Catch-Up Date
(and the application of the provisions of this Section 2(c)) shall be deemed to have occurred immediately prior to the relevant Capital Drawdown Date.
 
“Invested Percentage” means, with respect to an Investor, the quotient determined by dividing (i) the aggregate amount of contributions made by such
Investor pursuant to Section 1(b) and this Section 2(c) by (ii) such Investor’s Capital Commitment.

 
(d) At each Capital Drawdown Date following any Subsequent Closing Date, all Investors, including Subsequent Investors, shall purchase Shares in

accordance with the provisions of Section 1(b); provided, however, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the definitions of Drawdown Share Amount and Per
Share Price and the provisions of Section 3(b), nothing in this Subscription Agreement shall prohibit the Company from issuing Shares to Subsequent
Investors whose subscriptions are accepted after the Closing Date at a Per Share Price greater than the Per Share NAV at the time of issuance.

 
(e) In the event that any Investor is permitted by the Company to make an additional capital commitment to purchase Shares on a date after its initial

subscription has been accepted, such Investor will be required to enter into a separate Subscription Agreement with the Company, it being understood and
agreed that such separate Subscription Agreement will be considered to be an Other Subscription Agreement for the purposes of this Subscription Agreement.
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3. Capital Drawdowns.
 
(a) Purchases of Shares will take place on dates selected by the Company in its sole discretion (each, a “Capital Drawdown Date”) and shall be made in

accordance with the provisions of Section 1(b).
 
(b) The Company shall deliver to the Investor by electronic mail, at least ten (10) Business Days prior to each Capital Drawdown Date, a notice (each, a

“Funding Notice”) setting forth (i) the Capital Drawdown Date, (ii) the aggregate number of Shares to be sold to all Investors on the Capital Drawdown Date
and the aggregate purchase price for such Shares, (iii) the applicable Drawdown Share Amount, Drawdown Purchase Price and Per Share Price and (iv) the
account to which the Drawdown Purchase Price should be wired. For the purposes of this Subscription Agreement, the term “Business Day” shall have the
meaning ascribed to it in Rule 14d-1(g)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “1934 Act”). Notwithstanding the 10 Business Day
notice requirement set forth in the previous sentence, the Investor agrees to satisfy the Funding Notice set forth in Appendix E for the initial Capital
Drawdown Date upon at least five (5) Business Days prior to the initial Capital Drawdown Date.

 
(c) The delivery of a Funding Notice to the Investor shall be the sole and exclusive condition to the Investor’s obligation to pay the Drawdown Share

Purchase Price identified in each Funding Notice, and shall represent the Company’s acceptance of the Investor’s irrevocable and ongoing offer to purchase
Shares.

 
(d) On each Capital Drawdown Date, the Investor shall pay the Drawdown Purchase Price to the Company by bank wire transfer in immediately

available funds in U.S. dollars to the account specified in the Funding Notice.
 

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Subscription Agreement, the Company shall have the right (a “Limited Exclusion Right”)
to exclude any Investor (such Investor, an “Excluded Investor”) from purchasing Shares from the Company on any Capital Drawdown Date or participating in
a Spin-Off transaction (as defined below) if, in the reasonable discretion of the Company, there is a substantial likelihood that such Investor’s purchase or
exchange of Shares at such time would (i)(A) result in a violation of, or noncompliance with, any law or regulation to which such Investor, the Company, the
Adviser, any Other Investor or a portfolio company would be subject or (B) cause the assets of the Company to be considered “plan assets” under the U.S.
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), or Section 4975 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), because investments of “Benefit Plan Investors” (within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA and certain Department of Labor regulations) are
deemed to be significant or (ii) cause any new fund formed in connection with a Spin-Off transaction to (A) be in violation of, or noncompliance with, any
law or regulation to which such fund would be subject or (B) be deemed to hold “plan assets” under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code because the
investments of Benefit Plan Investors are deemed to be significant.

 
For purposes of this Subscription Agreement, a “Spin-Off transaction” includes a transaction whereby the Company offers Investors the option to elect

to either (i) retain their ownership of Shares; (ii) exchange their Shares for shares of common stock in a newly formed entity (the “Public Fund”) that will
elect to be regulated as a business development company under the 1940 Act and treated as a regulated investment company under Subchapter M of the Code,
and which will use its commercially reasonable best efforts to complete an initial public offering of shares of its common stock not later than three years after
the Final Closing; or (iii) exchange their Shares for interests of one or more newly formed entities (each, a “Liquidating Fund”) that will each be organized as
a limited liability company, and which will, among other things, seek to complete an orderly wind down and/or liquidation of any such Liquidating Fund;
provided, however, that in no event will an Investor be obligated to exchange his, her or its Shares for shares of common stock in the Public Fund or interests
in a Liquidating Fund.

 
4. Pledging. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Investor specifically agrees and consents that the Company may, at any time, and

without further notice to or consent from the Investor (except to the extent otherwise provided in this Subscription Agreement), grant security over and, in
connection therewith, Transfer (as defined in Section 8(d)) its right to draw down capital from the Investor pursuant to Section 3, and the Company’s right to
receive the Drawdown Share Purchase Price (and any related rights of the Company), to lenders or other creditors of the Company, in connection with any
indebtedness, guarantee or surety of the Company; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, any such grantee’s right to draw down capital shall be subject to
the limitations on the Company’s right to draw down capital pursuant to Section 3.
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5. Dividends; Dividend Reinvestment Program.
 
(a) As described more fully in the Memorandum, the Company generally intends to distribute, out of assets legally available for distribution,

substantially all of its available earnings, on a quarterly basis, subject to the discretion of the Board. The Company has adopted a plan in which the Company
will reinvest all cash dividends declared by the Board on behalf of Investors who do not elect to receive their dividends in cash, crediting to each such
Investor a number of Shares equal to: the quotient determined by dividing the cash value of the dividend or distribution payable to such Investor by the net
asset value per Share determined as of the valuation date fixed by the Board for such dividend. The Investor may elect to receive any or all such dividends in
cash by notifying the Adviser, or, in the case of Investors whose shares are held by a broker or other financial intermediary, such broker or other financial
intermediary, in writing no later than ten (10) days prior to the record date for the first dividend that the Investor wishes to receive in that form. The Investor
and the Company agree and acknowledge that any dividends received by the Investor or reinvested by the Company on the Investor’s behalf shall have no
effect on the amount of the Investor’s Unused Capital Commitment.

 
(b) The Company represents and warrants that it shall not make any in-kind distributions consisting of securities that are not Marketable Securities or

common stock of the Company except in connection with liquidation distributions conducted in connection with the dissolution of the Company in
accordance with the Maryland General Corporation Law. “Marketable Securities” means securities which are traded or quoted on the New York Stock
Exchange, American Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq Global Market or on a comparable securities market or exchange now or in the future.

 
6. Remedies upon Investor Capital Drawdown Default.
 
(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Subscription Agreement, upon any failure by an Investor to pay all or any portion of the purchase price due

from such Investor on any Capital Drawdown Date (such amount, together with the full amount of such Investor’s remaining Capital Commitment, a
“Defaulted Commitment”), interest will accrue at the Default Rate (as defined below) on the outstanding unpaid balance of such purchase price, from and
including the date such purchase price was due until the earlier of the date of payment of such purchase price by such Investor (or a transferee) or the date on
which such Share is transferred. The Default Rate with respect to any period shall be the lesser of (a) a variable rate equal to the prime rate of interest in effect
(as reported in the Wall Street Journal) during such period plus 6% or (b) the highest interest rate for such period permitted by applicable law (the “Default
Rate”). The Company, in its discretion, may waive the requirement to pay interest, in whole or in part.

 
(b) In the event a Defaulted Commitment remains uncured for a period of ten (10) Business Days, the Company shall be permitted to declare such

Investor to be in default of its obligations under this Subscription Agreement (any such Investor, a “Defaulting Investor”) and shall be permitted to pursue one
or any combination of the following remedies:

 
(i) Cause the Defaulting Investor to forfeit, at each Capital Drawdown Date, such number of its Shares as is necessary to prevent any increase in

such Defaulting Investor’s Shares’ aggregate net asset value as a result of the contribution of capital by Other Investors with respect to their Shares,
which forfeited Shares may be cancelled on the Company’s books and records or may be transferred to the Other Investors (other than any defaulting
Other Investor), in each case without any action by the Defaulting Investor;

 
(ii) Impose a Default Charge upon the Defaulting Investor pursuant to Section 6(c);
 
(iii) Offer all of the Defaulting Investor’s Shares to the Other Investors (other than any defaulting Other Investor) or third parties for purchase at a

price equal to the lesser of the then net asset value of such Shares or the highest price reasonably obtainable by the Company, subject to such other terms
as the Company in its discretion shall determine, which offer(s) shall be binding upon the Defaulting Investor if the purchasing Other Investors or third
parties agree to assume the related Capital Commitment with respect to such Shares of the Defaulting Investor, including any portion then due and
unpaid, and the Company pursuant to its authority under Section 10 may execute on behalf of the Defaulting Investor any documents necessary to effect
the Transfer (as defined in Section 8(d)) of the Defaulting Investor’s Shares pursuant to this Section 6(b)(iii); provided, however, that notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained in this Subscription Agreement, no Shares shall be transferred to any Other Investor pursuant to this Section 6(b)(iii)
in the event that such Transfer (as defined in Section 8(d)) would (x) violate the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), 1940 Act or any
state (or other jurisdiction) securities or “Blue Sky” laws applicable to the Company or such Transfer (as defined in Section 8(d)), (y) constitute a non-
exempt “prohibited transaction” under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or (z) cause all or any portion of the assets of the Company to
constitute “plan assets” under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code (it being understood that this proviso shall operate only to extent necessary to avoid
the occurrence of the consequences contemplated herein);
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(iv) Assist the Defaulting Investor in selling its Shares (subject to applicable law), with the full assumption by the buyer of the Defaulting

Investor’s Capital Commitments thereto, including any portion then due and unpaid;
 
(v) Accept a late contribution from the Defaulting Investor, with interest (if any), in satisfaction of its then-outstanding obligation to contribute

hereunder; or
 
(vi) Pursue and enforce all of the Company’s other rights and remedies against the Defaulting Investor under this Subscription Agreement and

applicable law and/or at equity, including but not limited to the commencement of a lawsuit to collect the unpaid Capital Commitment, interest, costs,
and reimbursement (with interest at the Default Rate) for any other damages suffered by the Company.

 
If a Defaulting Investor’s Shares are sold pursuant to Sections 6(b)(iii) or 6(b)(iv) above, or if the Company exercises its discretion to accept a late

contribution pursuant to Section 6(b)(v) above, the Company shall not impose a Default Charge pursuant to Section 6(c) below. Otherwise, to the maximum
extent permitted by law, the remedies set forth above shall be cumulative, and the use by the Company of one or more of them against a Defaulting Investor
shall not preclude the use of any other such remedy. The Company may pursue and enforce all rights and remedies it may have against a Defaulting Investor.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Subscription Agreement, the Company will hold the Defaulting Investor responsible for all fees and
expenses, including without limitation, attorneys’ fees or sales commissions, incurred as a result of the default. The Investor agrees that this Section 6 is
solely for the benefit of the Company and shall be interpreted by the Company against a Defaulting Investor in the discretion of the Company. The Investor
further agrees that the Investor cannot and will not seek to enforce this Section 6 against the Company or any other investor in the Company.

 
(c) The Investors agree that the damages suffered by the Company as the result of a Defaulted Commitment will be substantial and that such damages

cannot be estimated with reasonable accuracy. To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, as a penalty, and subject to Section 6(b) above, the
Company may cause a Defaulting Investor to forfeit up to an additional amount of Shares equal to 50% of the Shares such Defaulting Investor subscribed for,
respectively (the “Default Charge”) after application of Section 6(b)(i), which forfeited Shares may be cancelled on the Company’s books and records without
any action by the Defaulting Member.

 
(d) Subject to any Default Charge imposed pursuant to Section 6(c), the Company may withhold any distributions that otherwise would be made to a

Defaulting Investor until such time as the Company makes its final liquidating distribution, or until such earlier time as the Company may determine. Any
distributions so withheld, or the proceeds thereof, shall be placed in a separate escrow account and may only be used by the Company to offset obligations of
such Defaulting Investor. Upon the final liquidating distribution or such earlier time as the Company determines, if there are funds remaining in the escrow
account after paying or reserving for all possible current and future obligations of such Defaulting Investor, such funds shall be distributed to such Defaulting
Investor. If the Company has withheld in-kind distributions from an Investor pursuant to this Section 6(d) and subsequently determines to pay the withheld
distributions to such Investor, it may elect to (i) pay cash to such Investor in lieu of any distributions which were made to non-defaulting Investors in kind and
withheld from such Investor, but the Company shall not, in such event, be liable to such Investor for any subsequent increase in the value of any securities
that would have been distributed to such Investor had such Investor not defaulted, or (ii) deliver to such Investor the securities or other assets (or substantially
identical securities or assets) such Investor would have received had the distribution to such Investor not been withheld, but the Company shall not, in such
event, be liable for any diminution in the value of such securities or other assets subsequent to the date such securities would have been distributed. Any
losses incurred by the Company upon the disposition of the securities or other assets that would otherwise have been distributed to the Defaulting Investor in
kind shall be for the account of the Defaulting Investor.
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(e)(i) The Company, in its sole discretion, may determine that no additional capital contribution shall be accepted from a Defaulting Investor, in which

case the Company shall so notify the Defaulting Investor and, following the date that such notice is given to the Defaulting Investor, the Company shall not
call for additional capital contributions from such Defaulting Investor.

 
(ii) If the Company has given the notice described in Section 6(e)(i) and such Defaulting Investor’s aggregate amount of contributions with respect to

its Shares has been reduced to zero (by application of the Default Charge or otherwise), then the Defaulting Investor’s Shares shall be forfeited without
compensation and the Defaulting Investor shall no longer be a stockholder of the Company, and the Company shall have no further obligation to the
Defaulting Investor.

 
(iii) If a portion or all of the Shares of a Defaulting Investor are forfeited, then for purposes of the Advisory Agreement, the Defaulting Investor’s

Capital Commitment shall be correspondingly reduced; provided, however, that for purposes of determining the management fee payable by the Company
under the Advisory Agreement (the “Management Fee”), such adjustment to the Defaulting Investor’s original Capital Commitment shall take effect only as
of the end of the fiscal year in which such unpaid Capital Commitment is reduced to zero or its Shares are extinguished. For purposes of any other provision
of the Operative Documents for which the Defaulting Investor’s Capital Commitment with respect to each of its Shares is relevant, the Company shall
determine the amount of such Capital Commitment, in its reasonable discretion, so as to carry out the purposes of such provision.

 
7. Key Person Event. If, at any time prior to the consummation of the initial Spin-Off transaction (the period ending on such date being the

“Commitment Period”), David Spreng, the Company’s President and CEO (the “Key Person”), fails to provide duties to the Company consistent with the
standards set forth in the Advisory Agreement for any consecutive period exceeding 60 days, the Company’s stockholders will be promptly notified and the
Commitment Period for each stockholder shall be suspended unless and until a plan of operations is agreed upon by the Board and approved by the
affirmative vote of the Company’s stockholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter.

 
8. Representations and Warranties of the Investor. To induce the Company to accept this subscription, the Investor represents and warrants as follows:
 
(a) This Subscription Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Investor and, upon due authorization, execution and delivery

by the Company, will constitute the valid and legally binding agreement of the Investor enforceable in accordance with its terms against the Investor, except
as such enforceability may be limited by (i) bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium or other laws of general application
relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights and remedies, as from time to time in effect; (ii) application of equitable principles (regardless of
whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law); and (iii) considerations of public policy or the effect of applicable law relating
to fiduciary duties.

 
(b) The Shares to be acquired hereunder are being acquired by the Investor for the Investor’s own account for investment purposes only and not with a

view to resale or distribution.
 
(c) The Investor understands that the Company intends to file elections to be: (i) regulated as a business development company under the 1940 Act and

(ii) treated as a regulated investment company within the meaning of Section 851 of the Code, for U.S. federal income tax purposes; pursuant to those
elections, the Investor will be required to furnish certain information to the Company as required under Treasury Regulations § 1.852-6(a) and other
regulations. If the Investor is unable or refuses to provide such information directly to the Company, the Investor understands that it will be required to
include additional information on its income tax return as provided in Treasury Regulation § 1.852-7. The Company has filed a registration statement on
Form 10 (the “Form 10 Registration Statement”) related to its common stock with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) under the 1934
Act. The Form 10 Registration Statement is not the offering document pursuant to which the Company is conducting this Offering and may not include all
information regarding the Company contained in the Memorandum; accordingly, Investors should rely exclusively on information contained in the Operative
Documents in making their investment decisions.
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(d)(i) The Investor understands that the offering and sale of the Shares in this Offering are intended to be exempt from registration under the 1933 Act,

applicable U.S. state securities laws and the laws of any non-U.S. jurisdictions by virtue of the private placement exemption from registration provided in
Section 4(2) of the 1933 Act, exemptions under applicable U.S. state securities laws and exemptions under the laws of any non-U.S. jurisdictions, and it
agrees that any Shares acquired by the Investor may not be sold, offered for sale, exchanged, transferred, assigned, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise
disposed of (each, a “Transfer”) in any manner that would require the Company to register the Shares under the 1933 Act, under any U.S. state securities laws
or under the laws of any non-U.S. jurisdictions. The Investor understands that the Company requires each investor in the Company to be an “accredited
investor” as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regulation D of the 1933 Act (“Accredited Investor”) and the Investor represents and warrants that it is an Accredited
Investor.

 
(ii) The Investor understands that the offering and sale of the Shares in this Offering in non-U.S. jurisdictions may be subject to additional

restrictions and limitations, and represents and warrants that it is acquiring its Shares in compliance with all applicable laws, rules, regulations and other legal
requirements applicable to the Investor including, without limitation, the legal requirements of jurisdictions in which the Investor is resident and in which
such acquisition is being consummated. Furthermore, the Investor understands that all offerings and sales made outside of the United States will be made
pursuant to Regulation S under the 1933 Act.

 
(e)(i) The Investor may not Transfer its Capital Commitment or, other than in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, any of its Shares unless (a) the

Company provides its prior written consent, (b) the Transfer is made in accordance with applicable securities laws and (c) the Transfer is otherwise in
compliance with the transfer restrictions set forth in Appendix F. No Transfer will be effectuated except by registration of the Transfer on the Company
books. Each transferee must agree to be bound by these restrictions and all other obligations as an investor in the Company.

 
(ii) The Investor acknowledges that the Investor is aware and understands that there are other substantial restrictions on the transferability of Shares

or Capital Commitment under this Subscription Agreement, the Operative Documents and under applicable law including, but not limited to, the fact that (a)
there is no established market for the Shares and it is possible that no public market for the Shares will develop; (b) the Shares are not currently, and Investors
have no rights to require that the Shares be, registered under the 1933 Act or the securities laws of the various states or any non-U.S. jurisdiction and therefore
cannot be Transferred unless subsequently registered or unless an exemption from such registration is available; and (c) the Investor may have to hold the
Shares herein subscribed for and bear the economic risk of this investment indefinitely, and it may not be possible for the Investor to liquidate its investment
in the Company.

 
(f) The Investor has been furnished and has carefully read this Subscription Agreement, each Operative Document, in each case as amended, restated

and/or supplemented through the closing date of the Investor’s subscription for Shares, a current copy of the Proxy Voting Policies and Procedures of the
Adviser and, to the extent the Investor is a natural person, a current copy of the GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. Privacy Notice. The Investor has such
knowledge and experience in financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Shares, is able to bear
the risks of an investment in the Shares and understands the risks of, and other considerations relating to, a purchase of Shares, including the matters set forth
under the caption “Risk Factors” in the Memorandum.

 
(g) To the full satisfaction of the Investor, the Investor has been furnished any materials the Investor has requested relating to the Company, the

Offering of Shares or any statement made in the Memorandum, and the Investor has been afforded the opportunity to ask questions of representatives of the
Company concerning the terms and conditions of the Offering and to obtain any additional information necessary to verify the accuracy of any
representations or information set forth in the Memorandum.

 
(h) Other than as set forth in this Subscription Agreement, the Operative Documents and any separate agreement in writing with the Company executed

in conjunction with the Investor’s subscription for Shares, the Investor is not relying upon any other information (including, without limitation, any
advertisement, article, notice or other communication published in any newspaper, magazine, website or similar media or broadcast over television or radio,
and any seminars or meetings whose attendees have been invited by any general solicitation or advertising), representation or warranty by the Company, its
Adviser or any affiliate of the foregoing or any agent of them, written or otherwise, in determining to invest in the Company and the Investor understands that
the Memorandum is not intended to convey tax or legal advice. The Investor has consulted to the extent deemed appropriate by the Investor with the
Investor’s own advisers as to the financial, tax, legal, accounting, regulatory and related matters concerning an investment in Shares and on that basis
understands the financial, tax, legal, accounting, regulatory and related consequences of an investment in Shares, and believes that an investment in the Shares
is suitable and appropriate for the Investor. The Investor has not received, nor has the Investor relied upon, any recommendation (as defined under 29 C.F.R.
2510.3-21(b)) from the Adviser, the Administrator, or the Company regarding the advisability of acquiring, holding, disposing or exchanging securities or
other investment property including, but not limited to, the Shares.
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(i) If the Investor is not a natural person, (i) the Investor was not formed or recapitalized for the specific purpose of acquiring any Shares in the

Company, (ii) the Investor has the power and authority to enter into this Subscription Agreement and each other document required to be executed and
delivered by the Investor in connection with this subscription for Shares, and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder and consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby and (iii) the person signing this Subscription Agreement on behalf of the Investor has been duly authorized to
execute and deliver this Subscription Agreement and each other document required to be executed and delivered by the Investor in connection with this
subscription for Shares. If the Investor is a natural person, the Investor has all requisite legal capacity to acquire and hold the Shares and to execute, deliver
and comply with the terms of each of the documents required to be executed and delivered by the Investor in connection with this subscription for Shares. The
execution and delivery by the Investor of, and compliance by the Investor with, this Subscription Agreement and each other document required to be executed
and delivered by the Investor in connection with this subscription for Shares does not violate, represent a breach of, or constitute a default under, any
instruments governing the Investor, any law, regulation or order, or any agreement to which the Investor is a party or by which the Investor is bound.

 
(j) The Investor: (i) is not registered or required to be registered as an investment company under the 1940 Act; (ii) has not elected to be regulated as a

business development company under the 1940 Act; and (iii) either (A) is not relying on the exception from the definition of “investment company” under the
1940 Act set forth in Section 3(c)(1) or 3(c)(7) thereunder or (B) is otherwise permitted to acquire and hold more than 3% of the outstanding voting securities
of a business development company.

 
(k) Representations for Non-U.S. Persons.
 

(i) If the Investor is not a “United States Person,” as defined below (a “non-U.S. Person”), the Investor has heretofore notified the Company in
writing of such status. For this purpose, “United States Person” means a citizen or resident of the United States, a corporation, partnership or other
entity created or organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political subdivision thereof, an estate the income of which is subject to
United States federal income taxation regardless of its source, or any trust (i) the administration of which may be subject to the primary supervision of a
U.S. court and (ii) the authority to control all of the substantial decisions of which is held by one or more U.S. persons.

 
(ii) The Investor will notify the Company immediately if the Investor becomes a United States Person.
 
(iii) The Investor is acquiring the Shares for its own account for investment purposes only and is not subscribing on behalf of or funding its

commitment with funds obtained from a United States Person.
 
(iv) Except for offers and sales to discretionary or similar accounts held for the benefit or account of a non-U.S. Person by a U.S. dealer or other

professional fiduciary, all offers to sell and offers to buy the Interest were made to or by the Investor while the Investor was outside the United States
and at the time the Investor’s order to buy the Shares originated (and at the time this Subscription Agreement was executed by the Investor) the Investor
was outside the United States.
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(l) If the Investor is, or is acting (directly or indirectly) on behalf of, a “Plan” (defined below) which is subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of

the Code, or any provisions of any other federal, state, local, non-U.S. or other laws or regulations that are similar to those provisions contained in such
portions of ERISA or the Code (collectively, “Other Plan Laws”): (1) the decision to invest in the Company was made by a fiduciary (within the meaning of
Section 3(21) of ERISA and the regulations thereunder, or as defined under applicable Other Plan Laws) (a “Fiduciary”) of the Plan which is unrelated to the
Adviser or any of its employees, representatives or affiliates and which is duly authorized to make such an investment decision on behalf of the Plan (the
“Plan Fiduciary”); (2) the Plan Fiduciary has taken into consideration its fiduciary duties under ERISA or any applicable Other Plan Law, including the
diversification requirements of Section 404(a)(1)(C) of ERISA (if applicable), in authorizing the Plan’s investment in the Company, and has concluded that
such investment is prudent; (3) the Plan’s subscription to invest in the Company and the purchase of Shares contemplated hereby is in accordance with the
terms of the Plan’s governing instruments and complies with all applicable requirements of ERISA, the Code and all applicable Other Plan Laws and does not
constitute a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or a similar violation under any applicable Other Plan Laws; and (4)
the Plan Fiduciary acknowledges and agrees that neither the Adviser nor any of its employees, representatives or affiliates will be a fiduciary with respect to
the Plan as a result of the Plan’s investment in the Company, pursuant to the provisions of ERISA or any applicable Other Plan Laws, or otherwise, and the
Plan Fiduciary has not relied on, and is not relying on, the investment advice of any such person with respect to the Plan’s investment in the Company. “Plan”
includes (i) an employee benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA), whether or not such plan is subject to Title I of ERISA, (ii) a plan,
individual retirement account or other arrangement that is described in Section 4975 of the Code, whether or not such plan, individual retirement account or
other arrangement is subject to Section 4975 of the Code, (iii) an insurance company using general account assets, if such general account assets are deemed
to include the assets of any of the foregoing types of plans, accounts or arrangements for purposes of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code under
Section 401(c)(1)(A) of ERISA or the regulations promulgated thereunder and (iv) an entity which is deemed to hold the assets of any of the foregoing types
of plans, accounts or arrangements, pursuant to ERISA or otherwise.

 
(m) The Investor agrees to notify the Company in writing in the event (i) the Investor either becomes or ceases to be a “benefit plan investor” within the

meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA, as modified by 29 C.F.R. 2510.3-101(f)(2) or under any Other Plan Law (a “Benefit Plan Investor”), (ii) the Investor
reasonably expects that the Investor will become or cease to be a Benefit Plan Investor, or (iii) if the Investor is an entity that is deemed to hold the assets of
any of Plan pursuant to ERISA or any Other Plan Law, the percentage of such Investor’s assets attributable to Plans either increases or decreases. The
Investor also agrees to, within 15 business days of the receipt of a written request from the Company, provide a written update to the Company with regard to
any of the foregoing. If the Company, in its sole discretion, determines that so doing would be useful in ensuring that equity participation in the Company is
not significant within the meaning of 29 C.F.R. 2510.3-101(f), the Company may require any Benefit Plan Investor to transfer some or all of its common
stock for fair market value (as determined by the Company in its sole discretion) to an Investor other than a Benefit Plan Investor (whether an existing
Investor or a new Investor). The Investor shall have no claim against the Company, the Adviser, the Administrator or any of their respective affiliates for any
form of damages or liability as a result of any such transfer.

 
(n) If the investment in the Shares is being made on behalf of an employee benefit plan maintained outside of the United States primarily for the benefit

of persons substantially all of whom are nonresident aliens (as described in Section 4(b)(4) of ERISA), (i) there is no provision in the instruments governing
such plan or any federal, state or local or foreign law, rule, regulation or constitutional provision applicable to the plan that could in any respect affect the
operation of the Company, including operations of the Adviser as contemplated by the Advisory Agreement, or prohibit any action contemplated by the
Operative Documents and related disclosure of the Company, including, without limitation, the investments which may be made pursuant to the Company’s
investment strategies, the concentration of investments for the Company and the payment by the plan of incentive or other fees, and (ii) the plan’s investment
in the Company will not conflict with or violate the instruments governing such plan or any federal, state or local or foreign law, rule, regulation or
constitutional provision applicable to the plan.

 
(o) The Investor was offered the Shares through private negotiations, not through any general solicitation or general advertising, and in the state listed

in the Investor’s permanent address set forth in the Investor Questionnaire.
 
(p)(i) Neither the Investor, nor any of its affiliates, nor any beneficial owner(s) of the Investor or the Investor’s affiliates, (A) appears on the Specially

Designated Nationals and Blocked Persons List of the Office of Foreign Assets Control (“OFAC”) of the U.S. Department of the Treasury, nor are they
otherwise a party with which any entity is prohibited to deal under the laws of the United States, or (B) is a person identified as, or affiliated with, a terrorist
organization on any other relevant lists maintained by governmental authorities. The Investor further represents and warrants that the monies used to fund the
investment in the Shares are not derived from, invested for the benefit of, or related in any way to, the governments of, or persons within, any country (1)
under a U.S. embargo enforced by OFAC, (2) that has been designated as a “non-cooperative country or territory” by the Financial Action Task Force on
Money Laundering or (3) that has been designated by the U.S. Secretary of the Treasury as a “primary money laundering concern.” The Investor further
represents and warrants that the Investor: (I) has conducted thorough due diligence with respect to all of its beneficial owners, (II) has established the
identities of all beneficial owners and the source of each of the beneficial owner’s funds and (III) will retain evidence of any such identities and status of any
such source of funds and any such due diligence and will maintain such information for at least five years from the date of complete withdrawal from the
Company. Pursuant to anti-money laundering laws and regulations, including rules issued by the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network (“FinCEN”) under
authority granted it by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, the Company may be required to collect documentation verifying the Investor’s identity and the
source of funds used to acquire an Interest before, and from time to time after, acceptance by the Company of this Subscription Agreement. The Investor
further represents and warrants that the Investor does not know or have any reason to suspect that (x) the monies used to fund the Investor’s investment in the
Shares have been or will be derived from or related to any illegal activities, including, but not limited to, money laundering activities, and (y) the proceeds
from the Investor’s investment in the Shares will be used to finance any illegal activities.
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(ii) The Investor will provide to the Company at any time such information as the Company determines to be necessary or appropriate (A) to

comply with the anti-money laundering laws, rules and regulations issued by FinCEN, any other governmental authority, self-regulatory organization,
or applicable jurisdiction and (B) to respond to requests for information concerning the identity of Investors from any governmental authority, self-
regulatory organization or financial institution in connection with its anti-money laundering compliance procedures, or to update such information.

 
(iii) To comply with applicable U.S. anti-money laundering laws and regulations, all payments and contributions by the Investor to the Company

and all payments and distributions to the Investor from the Company will only be made in the Investor’s name and to and from a bank account of a
bank based or incorporated in or formed under the laws of the United States or that is regulated in and either based or incorporated in or formed under
the laws of the United States and that is not a “foreign shell bank” within the meaning of 31 U.S.C. § 5318(j)(1) under the U.S. Bank Secrecy Act, as
amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Department of the Treasury, as such regulations may be amended from time to time.

 
(iv) The representations and warranties set forth in this Section 8(p) shall be deemed repeated and reaffirmed by the Investor to the Company as

of each date that the Investor is required to make a capital contribution to, or receives a distribution from, the Company. If at any time during the term
of the Company, the representations and warranties set forth in this Section 8(p) cease to be true, the Investor shall promptly so notify the Company in
writing.

 
(v) The Investor understands and agrees that the Company may not accept any amounts from a prospective Investor if such prospective Investor

cannot make the representations set forth in this Section 8(p).
 
(q) The Investor acknowledges that, in order to comply with the provisions of the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (“FATCA”) and avoid the

imposition of U.S. federal withholding tax, the Company may, from time to time, require further information and/or documentation from the Investor and, if
and to the extent required under FATCA, the Investor’s direct and indirect beneficial owners (if any), relating to or establishing any such owner’s identity,
residence (or jurisdiction of formation), income tax status, and other required information and may provide or disclose such information and documentation to
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service. The Investor agrees that it shall provide such information and documentation concerning itself and its beneficial owners, if
any, as and when requested by the Company sufficient for the Company to comply with its obligations under FATCA. The Investor acknowledges that, if the
Investor does not provide the requested information and documentation, the Company may, at its sole option and in addition to all other remedies available at
law or in equity, prohibit additional investments, decline or delay any redemption requests by the Investor and/or deduct from such Investor’s account and
retain amounts sufficient to indemnify and hold harmless the Company from any and all withholding taxes, interest, penalties and other losses or liabilities
suffered by the Company on account of the Investor’s not providing all requested information and documentation in a timely manner. The Investor shall have
no claim against the Company, the Administrator, the Adviser or any of their respective affiliates for any form of damages or liability as a result of any of the
aforementioned actions.

 
(r) The Investor acknowledges that the Company intends to enter into one or more credit facilities with one or more syndicates of banks or to incur

indebtedness in lieu of or in advance of capital contributions. In connection therewith, each Investor hereby agrees to cooperate with the Company and
provide financial information and other documentation reasonably and customarily required to obtain such facilities.

 
(s) None of the information concerning the Investor nor any statement, certification, representation or warranty made by the Investor in this

Subscription Agreement or in any document required to be provided under this Subscription Agreement (including, without limitation, the Investor
Questionnaire and any forms W-9 or W-8 (W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY, W-8ECI or W-8EXP), as applicable, contains any untrue statement of a material
fact or omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements contained therein or herein not misleading.

 

 10  



 

 
(t) The Investor agrees that the foregoing certifications, representations, warranties, covenants and agreements shall survive the acceptance of this

Subscription Agreement, each Capital Drawdown Date and the dissolution of the Company, without limitation as to time. Without limiting the foregoing, the
Investor agrees to give the Company prompt written notice in the event that any statement, certification, representation or warranty of the Investor contained
in this Section 8 or any information provided by the Investor herein or in any document required to be provided under this Subscription Agreement
(including, without limitation, the Investor Questionnaire and any forms W-9 or W-8 (W-8BEN, W-8BEN-E, W-8IMY, W-8ECI or W-8EXP), as applicable,
ceases to be true at any time following the date hereof.

 
(u) The Investor agrees to provide such information and execute and deliver such documents as the Company may reasonably request to verify the

accuracy of the Investor’s representations and warranties herein or to comply with any law or regulation to which the Company, the Adviser, the
Administrator or a portfolio company may be subject.

 
(v) The execution, delivery and performance of this Subscription Agreement by the Investor do not and will not result in a breach of any of the terms,

conditions or provisions of, or constitute a default under, any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, credit agreement, note or other evidence of indebtedness, or
any lease or other agreement, or any license, permit, franchise or certificate, to which the Investor is a party or by which it is bound or to which any of its
properties are subject, or require any authorization or approval under or pursuant to any of the foregoing, violate the organizational documents of the Investor,
or violate any statute, regulation, law, order, writ, injunction or decree to which the Investor is subject. The Investor has obtained all authorizations, consents,
approvals and clearances of all courts, governmental agencies and authorities and such other persons, if any, required to permit the Investor to enter into this
Subscription Agreement and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.

 
9. Further Advice and Assurances. All information which the Investor has provided to the Company, including the information in the Investor

Questionnaire, is true, correct and complete as of the date hereof, and the Investor agrees to notify the Company immediately if any representation, warranty
or information contained in this Subscription Agreement or any of the information in the Investor Questionnaire, becomes untrue at any time. The Investor
agrees to provide such information and execute and deliver such documents with respect to itself and its direct and indirect beneficial owners as the Company
may from time to time reasonably request to verify the accuracy of the Investor’s representations and warranties herein, establish the identity of the Investor
and the direct and indirect participants in its investment in Shares, to the extent applicable, to effect any transfer and admission and/or to comply with any
law, rule or regulation to which the Company may be subject, including, without limitation, compliance with anti-money laundering laws and regulations or
for any other reasonable purpose.

 
10. Power of Attorney. (a) The Investor, by its execution hereof, hereby irrevocably makes, constitutes and appoints the Company as its true and lawful

agent and attorney-in-fact, with full power of substitution and full power and authority in its name, place and stead, to make, execute, sign, acknowledge,
swear to, record and file:

 
(i) any and all filings required to be made by the Investor under the 1934 Act with respect to any of the Company’s securities which may be

deemed to be beneficially owned by the Investor under the 1934 Act;
 
(ii) all certificates and other instruments deemed advisable by the Company in order for the Company to enter into any borrowing or pledging

arrangement;
 
(iii) all certificates and other instruments deemed advisable by the Company to comply with the provisions of this Subscription Agreement and

applicable law or to permit the Company to become or to continue as a business development corporation; and
 
(iv) all other instruments or papers not inconsistent with the terms of this Subscription Agreement which may be required by law to be filed on

behalf of the Company.
 
(b) With respect to the Investor and the Company, the foregoing power of attorney:

 
(i) is coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable;
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(ii) may be exercised by the Company either by signing separately as attorney-in-fact for the Investor or, after listing all of the Investors
executing an instrument, by a single signature of the Company acting as attorney-in-fact for all of them;

(iii) shall survive the assignment by the Investor of the whole or any fraction of its Shares;
(iv) shall be suspended concurrently with any suspension of the Commitment Period; and
(v) may not be used by the Company in any manner that is inconsistent with the terms of this Subscription Agreement and any other written

agreement between the Company and the Investor.
 
11. Indemnity. The Investor understands that the information provided herein (including the Investor Questionnaire) will be relied upon by the Company

for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the Investor to purchase Shares in the Company. The Investor agrees to provide, if requested, any additional
information that may reasonably be required to determine the eligibility of the Investor to purchase Shares in the Company. To the fullest extent permitted
under applicable law, the Investor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Company, the Adviser, the Administrator, and their affiliates and each partner,
member, officer, director, employee, and agent thereof, from and against any loss, damage or liability due to or arising out of a breach of any representation,
warranty or agreement of the Investor contained in this Subscription Agreement (including the Investor Questionnaire) or in any other document provided by
the Investor to the Company or in any agreement executed by the Investor in connection with the Investor’s investment in Shares.

 
12. Miscellaneous. This Subscription Agreement is not transferable or assignable by the Investor. Any purported assignment of this Subscription

Agreement will be null and void. The representations and warranties made by the Investor in this Subscription Agreement (including the Investor
Questionnaire) shall survive the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby and any investigation made by the Company. The Investor Questionnaire,
including without limitation the representations and warranties contained therein, is an integral part of this Subscription Agreement and shall be deemed
incorporated by reference herein. This Subscription Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, all of which together shall constitute one
instrument. Notwithstanding the place where this Subscription Agreement may be executed by any of the parties hereto, the parties expressly agree
that this Subscription Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to
the choice of law principles thereof. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the sole and exclusive forum for any action, suit or proceeding with
respect to this Subscription Agreement shall be a federal or state court located in the state of Delaware, provided that to the extent the appropriate
court located in the state of Delaware determines that it does not have jurisdiction over such action, then the sole and exclusive forum shall be any
federal or state court located in the state of Maryland, and each party hereto, to the fullest extent permitted by law, hereby irrevocably waives any
objection that it may have, whether now or in the future, to the laying of venue in, or to the jurisdiction of, any and each of such courts for the
purposes of any such action, suit or proceeding and further waives any claim that any such action, suit or proceeding has been brought in an
inconvenient forum, and each party hereto hereby submits to such jurisdiction and consents to process being served in any such action, suit or
proceeding, without limitation, by United States mail addressed to the party at the parties address specified herein or in the Investor Questionnaire.
EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL
PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS SUBSCRIPTION AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED
HEREBY, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW.

 
13. Confidentiality. The Investor acknowledges that the Memorandum and other information relating to the Company have been submitted to the

Investor on a confidential basis for use solely in connection with the Investor’s consideration of the purchase of Shares. The Investor agrees that, without the
prior written consent of the Company (which consent may be withheld at the sole discretion of the Company), the Investor shall not (a) reproduce the
Memorandum or any other information relating to the Company, in whole or in part, or (b) disclose the Memorandum or any other information relating to the
Company to any person who is not an officer or employee of the Investor who is involved in its investments, or partner (general or limited) or affiliate of the
Investor (it being understood and agreed that if the Investor is a pooled investment fund, it shall only be permitted to disclose the Memorandum or other
information related to the Company if the Investor has required its investors to enter into confidentiality undertakings no less onerous than the provisions of
this Section 13), except to the extent (1) such information is in the public domain (other than as a result of any action or omission of Investor or any person to
whom the Investor has disclosed such information) or (2) such information is required by applicable law or regulation to be disclosed. The Investor further
agrees to return the Memorandum and any other information relating to the Company if no purchase of Shares is made or upon the Company’s request
therefore. The Investor acknowledges and agrees that monetary damages would not be sufficient remedy for any breach of this section by it, and that in
addition to any other remedies available to the Company in respect of any such breach, the Company shall be entitled to specific performance and injunctive
or other equitable relief as a remedy for any such breach.
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14. Necessary Acts, Further Assurances. The parties shall at their own cost and expense execute and deliver such further documents and instruments

and shall take such other actions as may be reasonably required or appropriate to evidence or carry out the intent and purposes of this Subscription Agreement
or to show the ability to carry out the intent and purposes of this Subscription Agreement.

 
15. No Joint Liability Among the Company, the Adviser, and the Administrator. The Company shall not be liable for the fulfillment of any obligation or

the accuracy of any representation of the Adviser or the Administrator under or in connection with this Subscription Agreement. The Adviser shall not be
liable for the fulfillment of any obligation or the accuracy of any representation of the Company or the Administrator under or in connection with this
Subscription Agreement. The Administrator shall not be liable for the fulfillment of any obligation or the accuracy of any representation of the Company or
the Adviser under or in connection with this Subscription Agreement. There shall be no joint and several liability of the Company, the Adviser, and the
Administrator for any obligation under or in connection with this Subscription Agreement.

 
16. Independent Nature of Investors’ Obligations and Rights. Third-Party Beneficiaries. The obligations of the Investor hereunder are several and not

joint with the obligations of any Other Investor. Nothing contained herein or in any other agreement or document delivered at any closing, and no action taken
by the Investor pursuant hereto or thereto, shall be deemed to constitute the Investors as a partnership, an association, a joint venture or any other kind of
entity, or create a presumption that the Investors are in any way acting in concert with respect to such obligations or the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. This Agreement is not intended to confer upon any person, other than the parties hereto, except as provided in Sections 4 and 11, any rights or
remedies hereunder.

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Subscription Agreement as a deed on the date set forth below.
 

Date:   Amount of Capital Commitment
    
   $   
    
   INDIVIDUAL INVESTOR:
    
      
   (Print Name)
    
      
   (Signature)
    
   PARTNERSHIP, CORPORATION, LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, TRUST,

CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT, OTHER INVESTOR:
    
      
   (Print Name of Entity)
     
   By:   
    (Signature)
    
      
   (Print Name and Title)

 
Agreed and accepted as of the date set forth below:
 
GSV GROWTH CREDIT FUND INC.    
     
By:    Date:  
Name:     
Title:     
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INVESTOR QUESTIONNAIRE

 
Note: Questions regarding this questionnaire should be directed to David Spreng at dspreng@gsvgc.com.
 
A. General Information
 
1. Print Full Name of Investor Individual:
  
 First Middle Last
  
 Entity Name
  
 Entity: To assist the Company in preparing the its tax filings, please check the

category into which you fall:
  
 Partnership ☐

 C-Corporation ☐

 S-Corporation ☐

 Estate ☐

 Grantor Trust ☐

 Trust-EIN (a trust with an  
 EIN in this format: 12-3456789) ☐

 Trust-SSN (a trust with an  
 EIN in this format: 123-45-6789) ☐

 IRA-EIN ☐

 IRA-SSN ☐

 Exempt Organization ☐

 LLP ☐

 LLC ☐

 Nominee-EIN ☐

 Nominee-SSN ☐

 Other ☐

 
2. U.S. Taxpayer Identification or  

Social Security Number:  
  
3. Date of Birth:  
 
4. Primary Contact Person For This Account and for General Notices:  
 

Name:  ________________________
 

Address: _______________________
 
_______________________________

 
E-mail: _________________________
 
Telephone: ______________________

 
Fax: ___________________________
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5. Contact Person(s) For This Account for Financial Information and Reporting (including quarterly and annual financial reports and capital account

statements):
 
Name:  ________________________   Name:  ________________________
   
Address: ________________________   Address: ________________________
   
_______________________________  ________________________________
    
Telephone: ______________________   Telephone: ______________________
   
Fax: ____________________________   Fax: ____________________________
   
E-mail: ___________________________   E-mail: __________________________
 
6. Contact Person(s) For This Account for Capital Call and Distribution Notices:
 
Name:  ________________________   Name:  ________________________
   
Address: ________________________   Address: ________________________
 
_______________________________

  
________________________________

    
Telephone: ______________________   Telephone: ______________________
   
Fax: ____________________________   Fax: ____________________________
   
E-mail: ___________________________   E-mail: ___________________________
 
7. Contact Person For This Account for Legal Documentation (please limit to one contact):
 
Name:  ________________________    
   
Address: ________________________    
   
_______________________________   
    
Telephone: ______________________    
   
Fax: ____________________________    
   
E-mail: ___________________________    
 
8. Contact Person For This Account for Tax Matters (including Form 1099 distribution) (please limit to one contact):
  
Name:  ________________________   
  
Address: ________________________   
  
_______________________________  
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Telephone: ______________________   
  
Fax: ____________________________   
  
E-mail: ___________________________   
 
9. For distributions of cash, please wire funds to the following bank account:
 

Bank Name: ___________________________
 

Bank Location: ___________________________
 

Account Number: ___________________________
 

Account Name: ___________________________
 

Bank’s Routing No.: ___________________________
 

For further credit to (if any): __________________________
 

Reference: __________________________
 

SWIFT Code: __________________________
 
10. For distributions in-kind, please:
 

Credit securities to my brokerage account at the following firm: __________________________
 

Firm Name: __________________________
 

Address: __________________________
 

Account Name: __________________________
 

Account Number: __________________________
 

DTC Number: __________________________
 
11. Permanent Address of Investor:

(if different from address
for Notices above) __________________________
 
_________________________________________
 
_________________________________________
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B. Accredited Investor Status
 
The Investor represents and warrants that the Investor is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act of
1933, as amended (the “1933 Act”), and has checked the box or boxes below which are next to the category or categories under which the Investor qualifies
as an accredited investor:
 
FOR INDIVIDUALS:
 
☐ (A) A natural person with individual net worth (or joint net worth with spouse) in excess of $1 million. For

purposes of this item, “net worth” means the excess of total assets at fair market value, including
automobiles and other personal property and property owned by a spouse, but excluding the value of the
primary residence of such natural person, over total liabilities. For this purpose, the amount of any mortgage
or other indebtedness secured by an Investor’s primary residence should not be included as a “liability”,
except to the extent the fair market value of the residence is less than the amount of such mortgage or other
indebtedness.

   
☐ (B) A natural person with individual income (without including any income of the Investor’s spouse) in excess

of $200,000, or joint income with spouse in excess of $300,000, in each of the two most recent years and
who reasonably expects to reach the same income level in the current year.

 
FOR ENTITIES:
 
☐ (A) An entity, including a grantor trust, in which all of the equity owners are accredited investors (for this

purpose, a beneficiary of a trust is not an equity owner, but the grantor of a grantor trust may be an equity
owner).

   
☐ (B) A bank as defined in Section 3(a)(2) of the 1933 Act, or any savings and loan association or other institution

as defined in Section 3(a)(5)(A) of the 1933 Act whether acting in its individual or fiduciary capacity.
 
☐ (C) An insurance company as defined in Section 2(a)(13) of the 1933 Act.
   
☐ (D) A broker-dealer registered pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the

“1934 Act”).
   
☐ (E) An investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “1940

Act”).
   
☐ (F) A business development company as defined in Section 2(a)(48) of the 1940 Act.
   
☐ (G) A Small Business Investment Company licensed by the Small Business Administration under Section 301(c)

or (d) of the Small Business Investment Act of 1958, as amended.
   
☐ (H) A private business development company as defined in Section 202(a)(22) of the Investment Advisers Act of

1940, as amended (the “Advisers Act”).
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☐ (I) A corporation, an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the United States Internal Revenue Code of

1986, as amended, Massachusetts or similar business trust, or partnership, in each case not formed for the
specific purpose of acquiring Shares, with total assets in excess of $5 million.

   
☐ (J) A trust with total assets in excess of $5 million not formed for the specific purpose of acquiring Shares,

whose purchase is directed by a person with such knowledge and experience in financial and business
matters as to be capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Shares.

   
☐ (K) An employee benefit plan within the meaning of the United States Employee Retirement Income Security

Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) if the decision to invest in the Shares is made by a plan fiduciary, as
defined in Section 3(21) of ERISA, which is either a bank, savings and loan association, insurance company,
or registered investment adviser, or if the employee benefit plan has total assets in excess of $5 million or, if
a self-directed plan, with investment decisions made solely by persons that are accredited investors.

   
☐ (L) A plan established and maintained by a state, its political subdivisions, or any agency or instrumentality of a

state or its political subdivisions for the benefit of its employees, if the plan has total assets in excess of $5
million.

 
C. Supplemental Data for Individuals
 
1. Please indicate whether you are investing the assets of any retirement plan, employee benefit plan or other similar agreement (such as an IRA or “Keogh”

plan).
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 
If the above question was answered “Yes,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
 

2. Please indicate whether you are investing assets that have been distributed or transferred from an employee benefit plan or other similar agreement (such as
an IRA or “Keogh” plan)

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
If the above question was answered “Yes,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
 

3. If the above questions were answered “No,” are you a person who has discretionary authority or control with respect to the Company’s assets or provides
investment advice for a fee (direct or indirect) with respect to such assets, or a person directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controlling
any such person?

 
☐ Yes ☐ No
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D. Supplemental Data for Entities
 
1. If the Investor is not a natural person, the Investor must furnish the following supplemental data (Natural persons may skip this Section of the Investor

Questionnaire):
 

Legal form of entity (trust, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, etc.):
 
_______________________________________________________________________________
 
Jurisdiction of organization and location of domicile: ____________________________________

 
Is the Investor (a) a trust any portion of which is treated (under subpart E of part I of subchapter J of chapter 1 of subtitle A of the Code) as owned by
a natural person (e.g., a grantor trust), (b) an entity disregarded for U.S. federal income tax purposes and owned (or treated as owned) by a natural
person or a trust described in clause (a) of this sentence (e.g., a limited liability company with a single member), (c) an organization described in
Sections 401(a) or 501 of the Code or (d) a trust permanently set aside or to be used for a charitable purpose?
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 
Is the Investor acting on behalf of an unrelated third party (e.g., nominee arrangement)?
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

If “Yes,” please describe the arrangement: ___________________________________________
 
Does the Investor have one or more ultimate beneficiaries who (a) are entitled to 10% or more of the proceeds from this investment or (b) hold 10% or
more of the control rights of the Investor?

 
☐ Yes1 ☐ No

 
Is the Investor or any of the ultimate beneficiaries publicly traded?

 
☐ Yes* ☐ No

 
Is the Investor or any of the ultimate beneficiaries a regulated entity?

 
☐ Yes* ☐ No

 
If the response to any of the above questions is “yes,” please complete the below chart.

 
  If the Investor or Any of   
  the 10% Beneficial  If the Investor or Any of the
  Owners Is Publicly  10% Beneficial Owners Is a
  Traded, Please Identify  Regulated Entity, Please
Name of Investor and Each  the Exchange for the  Identify Regulator
10% Beneficial Owner  Public Trading.  and Jurisdiction.
     
     
     
     

 
 

1 If yes, please provide further information in the chart above or, if there is insufficient space in the chart, please include additional sheets of paper with the
relevant information.
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2. Was the Investor organized for the specific purpose of acquiring Shares?

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
If the above question was answered “Yes,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
  

3.a. Is the Investor a grantor trust, a partnership or an S-Corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes?
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

3.b. If the question above was answered “Yes,” please indicate whether or not:
(i) more than 50 percent of the value of the ownership interest of any beneficial owner in the Investor is (or may at any time during the term of the
Entities be) attributable to the Investor’s (direct or indirect) interest in the Entities; or

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
(ii) it is a principal purpose of the Investor’s participation in the Company to permit any Entity to satisfy the 100 partner limitation contained in U.S.
Treasury Regulation Section 1.7704-l(h)(3).

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
If either question above was answered “Yes,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
 

4. Are shareholders, partners or other holders of equity or beneficial interests in the Investor able to decide individually whether to participate, or the extent of
their participation, in the Investor’s investment in the Company (i.e., can shareholders, partners or other holders of equity or beneficial interests in the
Investor determine whether their capital will form part of the capital invested by the Investor in the Company)?

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
If the above question was answered “Yes,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
 

5.a. Please indicate whether or not the Investor is, or is acting (directly or indirectly) on behalf of, (i) an employee benefit plan (within the meaning of Section
3(3) of ERISA), whether or not such plan is subject to Title I of ERISA, (ii) a plan, individual retirement account or other arrangement that is described in
Section 4975 of the Code, whether or not such plan, account or arrangement is subject to Section 4975 of the Code, (iii) an insurance company using general
account assets, if such general account assets are deemed to include the assets of any of the foregoing types of plans, accounts or arrangements for purposes
of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code under Section 401(c)(1)(A) of ERISA or the regulations promulgated thereunder, or (iv) an entity which is
deemed to hold the assets of any of the foregoing types of plans, accounts or arrangements (each of the foregoing described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv)
being referred to as a “Plan Investor”).

 
☐ Yes ☐ No
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5.b. If the Investor is, or is acting (directly or indirectly) on behalf of, such a Plan Investor, please indicate whether or not the Plan Investor is subject to Title I
of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
5.c. If the answer to question 5.b. above is “Yes”, please indicate what percentage of the Plan Investor’s assets invested in the Entities are the assets of
“benefit plan investors” within the meaning of Section 3(42) of ERISA as modified by 29 C.F.R. 2510.3-101(f):

 
Percentage: __________

 
5.d. If the Investor is investing the assets of an insurance company general account, please indicate what percentage of the insurance company general
account’s assets invested in the Entities are the assets of “benefit plan investors” within the meaning of Section 401(c)(1)(A) of ERISA or the regulations
promulgated thereunder:

 
Percentage: __________

 
5.e. If the Plan Investor is not subject to Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, please indicate whether or not such Plan Investor is subject to any
other federal, state, local, non-U.S. or other laws or regulations that could cause the underlying assets of the Company to be treated as assets of the Plan
Investor by virtue of its investment in the Company and thereby subject the Company and the Adviser (or other persons responsible for the investment and
operation of the Company’s assets) to laws or regulations that are similar to the fiduciary responsibility or prohibited transaction provisions contained in Title
I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code.

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
5.f. If the answer to question 5.a. above is “No,” please indicate whether the Investor is a person who has discretionary authority or control with respect to the
Company’s assets or provides investment advice for a fee (direct or indirect) with respect to such assets, or an affiliate of any such person. For this purpose,
an “affiliate” of a person includes any person, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controlling, controlled by, or under common control
with, such person. “Control” with respect to a person other than an individual means the power to exercise a controlling influence over the management or
policies of such person.

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
6.a. Is the Investor a private investment company which is not registered under the 1940 Act in reliance on:

 
Section 3(c)(1) thereof? ☐ Yes ☐ No
 
Section 3(c)(7) thereof? ☐ Yes ☐ No
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6.b. Does the amount of the Investor’s subscription for Shares in the Company exceed 40% of the total assets (on a consolidated basis with its subsidiaries) of
the Investor?

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
6.c. If either part of question 6.a. was answered “Yes,” please indicate whether or not the Investor was formed on or before April 30, 1996.
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

6.d. If question 6.c. was answered “Yes,” please indicate whether or not the Investor has obtained the consent of its direct and indirect beneficial owners to be
treated as a “qualified purchaser” as provided in Section 2(a)(51)(C) of the 1940 Act and the rules and regulations thereunder.
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

If question 6.d. was answered “No,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
 

7. Is the Investor an “investment company” registered or required to be registered under the 1940 Act, as amended?
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 
8. If the Investor’s tax year ends on a date other than December 31, please indicate such date below:
 

________________________________
 

9. Is the Investor subject to the U.S. Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C. § 552, (“FOIA”), any state public records access laws, any state or other
jurisdiction’s laws similar in intent or effect to FOIA, or any other similar statutory or regulatory requirement that might result in the disclosure of
confidential information relating to the Company?
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

If the question above was answered “Yes,” please indicate the relevant laws to which the Investor is subject and provide any additional explanatory
information in the space below:
 
_____________________________________________________________________________
 
_____________________________________________________________________________
 
_____________________________________________________________________________
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E. Related Parties/Other Beneficial Parties:
 
1. To the best of the Investor’s knowledge, does the Investor control, or is the Investor controlled by or under common control with, any other investor or
prospective investor in the Company?
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

If the question above was answered “Yes,” please indicate the name of such other investor in the space below:
 
______________________________

 
2. Will any other person or persons have a beneficial interest in the Shares to be acquired hereunder (other than as a shareholder, partner, policy owner or
other beneficial owner of equity interests in the Investor)? (By way of example, and not limitation, “nominee” Investors or Investors who have entered into
swap or other synthetic or derivative instruments or arrangements with regard to the Shares to be acquired herein would check “Yes”)
 

☐ Yes ☐ No
 

If either question above was answered “Yes,” please contact the Company for additional information that will be required.
 

F. BHC Investor Status:
 
Is the Investor a “BHC Investor”?2

 
☐ Yes ☐ No

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]

 
 
 

2 A “BHC Investor” is defined as an Investor that is a bank holding company, as defined in Section 2(a) of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as
amended (the “BHC Act”), a non-bank subsidiary (for purposes of the BHC Act) of a bank holding company, a foreign banking organization, as defined in
Regulation K of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. § 211.23) or any successor regulation, or a non-bank subsidiary (for
purposes of the BHC Act) of a foreign banking organization which subsidiary is engaged, directly or indirectly in business in the United States and which in
any case holds Shares for its own account.
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The Investor understands that the foregoing information will be relied upon by the Company for the purpose of determining the eligibility of the

Investor to purchase and own Shares in the Company. The Investor agrees to notify the Company immediately if any representation or warranty contained in
this Subscription Agreement or any of the information in the Investor Questionnaire becomes untrue at any time. The Investor agrees to provide, if requested,
any additional information that may reasonably be required to substantiate the Investor’s status as an accredited investor or to otherwise determine the
eligibility of the Investor to purchase Shares in the Company. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Investor agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
Company, the Adviser and the Administrator and each partner or member thereof, from and against any loss, damage or liability due to or arising out of a
breach of any representation, warranty or agreement of the Investor contained herein.
 
 Signatures:
  
 INDIVIDUAL:
  
  
 (Signature)
  
  
 (Print Name)
  
 PARTNERSHIP, CORPORATION, LIMITED

LIABILITY COMPANY, TRUST, CUSTODIAL
ACCOUNT, OTHER:

  
  
 (Name of Entity)
  
 By:  
 (Signature)
  
  
 (Print Name and Title)
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APPENDIX E

 
FORM OF FUNDING NOTICE

 

GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.
2925 Woodside Road, Woodside, CA
TEL (650) 206-4604
E-MAIL dspreng@gsvgc.com

 
TO: «Investor Name»
FROM: [ ]
RE: Notice of Capital Call — Due [ ], 201[ ]
DATE: [ ], 201[ ]
 
In accordance with Section 3(b) of the Subscription Agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. (the “Company”), you are
hereby given notice of a call for capital contribution. The purpose of this capital contribution is to fund your share of proposed investments to be made by the
Company.
 
The total amount due from you is $<<Drawdown Purchase Price>>. Details of this capital call and your portion thereof are as follows:
 
Aggregate number of Shares to be sold to all Investors:  [•]
Aggregate purchase price for such Shares:  [•]
Drawdown Share Amount:  [•]
Drawdown Purchase Price:  [•]
Per Share Price  [•]
 
We request that you wire your total amount due on or before the due date in accordance with the following instructions:
 
Bank:  The PrivateBank
ABA #:  071006486
Account Name:  GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.
Account #:  2477424
Notation:  «Investor Name»
 
If you have any questions, please contact David Spreng at dspreng@gsvgc.com or by phone at (650) 206-4604.
 

 



 

 
APPENDIX F

 
TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

 
No Transfer of the Investor’s Capital Commitment or, other than in connection with a Spin-Off transaction, all or any fraction of the Investor’s Shares may be
made without (i) registration of the Transfer on the Company books and (ii) the prior written consent of the Company. In any event, the consent of the
Company may be withheld (x) if the creditworthiness of the proposed transferee, as determined by the Company in its sole discretion, is not sufficient to
satisfy all obligations under the Subscription Agreement or (y) unless, in the opinion of counsel (who may be counsel for the Company or the Investor)
satisfactory in form and substance to the Company:
 

 •  such Transfer would not violate the 1933 Act, the 1940 Act or any state (or other jurisdiction) securities or “Blue Sky” laws applicable to the
Company or the Shares to be Transferred; and

 

 
•  such Transfer would not be a “prohibited transaction” under ERISA or the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder or cause all or any

portion of the assets of the Company to constitute “plan assets” under ERISA, certain Department of Labor regulations or Section 4975 of the
Code.

 
The Investor agrees that it will pay all reasonable expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by the Company in connection with any Transfer of its Capital
Commitment or all or any fraction of its Shares, prior to the consummation of such Transfer.
 
Any person that acquires all or any fraction of the Shares of the Investor in a Transfer permitted under this Appendix F shall be obligated to pay to the
Company the appropriate portion of any amounts thereafter becoming due in respect of the Capital Commitment committed to be made by its predecessor in
interest. The Investor agrees that, notwithstanding the Transfer of all or any fraction of its Shares, as between it and the Company, it will remain liable for its
Capital Commitment and for all payments of any Drawdown Purchase Price required to be made by it (without taking into account the Transfer of all or a
fraction of such Shares) prior to the time, if any, when the purchaser, assignee or transferee of such Shares, or fraction thereof, becomes a holder of such
Shares.
 
The Company shall not recognize for any purpose any purported Transfer of all or any fraction of the Shares and shall be entitled to treat the transferor of
Shares as the absolute owner thereof in all respects, and shall incur no liability for distributions or dividends made in good faith to it, unless the Company
shall have given its prior written consent thereto and there shall have been filed with the Company a dated notice of such Transfer, in form satisfactory to the
Company, executed and acknowledged by both the seller, assignor or transferor and the purchaser, assignee or transferee, and such notice (i) contains the
acceptance by the purchaser, assignee or transferee of all of the terms and provisions of this Subscription Agreement and its agreement to be bound thereby,
and (ii) represents that such Transfer was made in accordance with this Subscription Agreement, the provisions of the Memorandum and all applicable laws
and regulations applicable to the transferee and the transferor.
 

 
 



Exhibit 9.1 
 

PROXY
 

The undersigned stockholder ("Stockholder") of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc., a Maryland corporation (the "Company"), hereby (i) grants to,
and appoints, the Company, and any person designated in writing by the Company, and each of them individually, Stockholder's proxy and attorney-in-fact
(with full power of substitution), for and in the name, place and stead of Stockholder, to vote all of the shares (the "Covered Shares") of common stock, par
value $0.01 per share (the "Common Stock") of the Company held by Stockholder, or grant a consent or approval in respect of the Covered Shares, in
accordance with the terms of this Proxy and (ii) revokes any and all proxies heretofore given in respect of the Covered Shares.

 
The attorneys-in-fact and proxies named above are hereby authorized and empowered by the undersigned at any time after the date hereof to act

as the undersigned's attorney-in-fact and proxy to vote the Covered Shares in the same proportion as the vote of all other holders of the Common Stock and to
exercise all voting, consent and similar rights of the undersigned with respect to the Covered Shares (including, without limitation, the power to execute and
deliver written consents), at every annual, special, adjourned or postponed meeting of the stockholders of the Company and in every written consent in lieu of
such a meeting (such authorization and empowerment, the "Proxy"). The Stockholder shall not commit or agree to take any action inconsistent with the
foregoing.

 
Any obligation of the undersigned hereunder shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the undersigned.

 
Dated: December 15, 2016
 
STOCKHOLDER:  
  
OCM GROWTH HOLDINGS, LLC  
By:  Oaktree Fund GP, LLC  
Its:   Manager  
  
By:  Oaktree Fund GP I, L.P.  
Its:   Manager  
   
By: /s/ Emily Stephens  
Name: Emily Stephens  
Title: Authorized Signatory  
   
By: /s/ Brian Laibow  
Name: Brian Laibow  
Title: Authorized Signatory  
  

   



 
Exhibit 31.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, R. David Spreng, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Dated this 29th day of March, 2017
 
By: /s/ R. David Spreng  
 R. David Spreng  
 Chief Executive Officer  
 

 



 
Exhibit 31.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.

pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) under the Exchange Act,
as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 
I, Thomas B. Raterman, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc.;
 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 
a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,

to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b. evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c. disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
a. all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are

reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b. any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal

control over financial reporting.
 

Dated this 29th day of March, 2017
 
By:  /s/ Thomas B. Raterman  
 Thomas B. Raterman  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 

 



 
Exhibit 32.1

 
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)

 
In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the “Report”) of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. (the

“Registrant”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, R. David Spreng, the Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant,
hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, that:

 
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

 
 /s/ R. David Spreng
 Name: R. David Spreng
 Date: March 29, 2017
 

 



 
Exhibit 32.2

 
Certification of Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. 1350)

 
In connection with the annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 (the “Report”) of GSV Growth Credit Fund Inc. (the

“Registrant”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof, I, Thomas B. Raterman, the Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant,
hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, that:

 
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Registrant.

 
 /s/ Thomas B. Raterman
 Name: Thomas B. Raterman
 Date: March 29, 2017
 

 


